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Lorl A, Weaver

Interim CommUsioner

Patricia M. Tilley
Director

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

DIVISON OF PUBLIC HEALTH SER VICES

29 HAZEN DRIVE, CONCORD, NH 03301-3857
603-271-4501 1-800-852-3345 Ext. 4501

Fax:603-271-4827 TDD Access: 1-800-735-2964 www.dhhs.nli,gov

March 30, 2023

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Public Health
Services, to enter into a Sole Source amendment to an existing contract with Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (collectively doing
business as "Dartmouth-Hitchcock"). (VC #177160), Lebanon. NH to continue to provide Alliance
on Innovation In Maternal Health patient safety bundles to reduce maternal mortality, by
Increasing the price limitation by $434,556 from $325,226 to $759,782 and by extending the
completion date from June 30, 2023 to June 30. 2025, effective upon Governor and Council
approval. 100% Federal Funds.

The original contract was approved by Governor and Council on June 10,2020, item #12,
and amended on June,16, 2021, item #34, and most recently amended on March 9, 2022. item
#17.

Funds are available in the following accounts for State Fiscal Year 2023, and are
anticipated to be available In State Fiscal Years 2024 and 2025, upon the availability and
continued appropriation of funds in the future operating budget, with the authority to adjust budget
line Items within the price limitation and encumbrances between state fiscal years through the
Budget Office, if needed and justified.

05-95-90-902010-34870000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SVS, HHS: PUBLIC HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF COMM & HEALTH SERV,
MATERNAL MORTALITY -100% FEDERAL FUNDS

State

Fiscal

Year

Class /
Account

Class Title
Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised
Budget

2020 102-500731

Contracts for
Program
Services

90080478 $68,278 $0 $68,278

2021 102-500731

Contracts for
Program
Services

90080478 $68,278 $0 $68,278

2022 102-500731

Contracts for

Program
Services

90080478 $68,278 $0 $68,278
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2023 102-50.0731
Contracts for
Program
Services

90080478 $68,278 $0 $68,278

2024 102-500731

Contracts for

Program
Services

90080478 $0 $66,278 $66,278

2025 102-500731

. Contracts for
Program
Services

90080478 $0 $68,278 $68,278

Subtotal $273,112 $134,556 $407,668

05r95-90-902010-45260000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SVS, HHS: PUBLIC HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF COMM & HEALTH SERV, MCH DATA
LINKAGE - 100%FEDERAL FUNDS

State

Fiscal
Year

Class /

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Budget

2022 074-500589

Grants for

Pub Asst

and Re!

90080125 $52,114 $0 $52,114

2023 074-500589

Grants for

Pub Asst

andRel ■

90080125 $0 $0 $0

2024; 074-500589

Grants for

Pub Asst

and Re!

90080125 $0 $0 $0

2025 074-500589

Grants for

Pub Asst

and Rel

90080125 $0 $0 $0

Subtotal $52,114 $0 $52,114

05-96-90-902010-51900000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SVS. HHS; PUBLIC HEATLH DIV, BUREAU OF COMM & HEALTH SERV,
MATERNAL - CHILD HEALTH 100% FEDERAL FUNDS

State

Fiscal

Year

Class /

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increasied
(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Budget

2023 074-500589
Grants for Pub

Asst and Rel
90004009 $0 $100,000 $100,000

2024 074-500589
Grants for Pub

Asst and Rel
90004009 $0 $100,000 $100,000

2025 074-500589
Grants for Pub

Asst and Rel
90004009 $0 $100,000 $100,000

Subtotal $0 $300,000 $300,000

Total $325,226 $434,556 $759,782
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EXPLANATION

This request is Sole Source because MOP 150 requires all amendments to agreements
previously approved as sole source to be identified as sole source. Additionally, the Department
is seeking to extend the agreement beyond the completion date and there are no renewal options
available. RSA 132:30 stipulates that the Northem New England Perinatal Quality Improvement
Network at Dartmouth Health work with the Department on both reducing maternal mortality and

.morbidity and abstracting/co-facilitatihg the Maternal Mortality Review Committee. The Contractor
is therefore the only vendor able to provide the necessary services.

The purpose of this request is for the Contractor to continue collaboration with the Alliance
on Innovation in Maternal Health (AIM) to implement a minimum of two (2) AIM evidence-based
patient safety bundles, which Is a structured way of delivering health care, to provide a
standardized approach to improve the quality of health care provided to pregnant woman
impacted by opioid use and other substances. Opioid overdose is a leading cause of pregnancy-
associated deaths in New Hampshire. Each patient safety bundle includes a set of straightfonvard
evidence-based clinical practices that when performed collectively and consistently has been
proven to reduce matemal mortality and pregnancy associated deaths. These patient safety
bundles help pregnant woman and their families access support for behavioral health, mental
health, and other community resources, which help prevent substance misuse associated illness
and death during pregnancy, and will also result in cost savings to the Department.

The Contractor will also continue to support the Department's Matemal Mortality Review
Committee, which includes, but is not limited to collecting maternal death information, abstracting
medical and non-medical records on matemal death cases, and participating in reviews of
maternal death cases.

The Department yyill monitor services to ensure:

•  100% attendance at, and successful completion of, the national AIM Data Community
of Learning to address data quality and share best practices in addressing needs of
the New Hampshire birthing facilities in implementing these bundles.

• Completion of at least one AIM data training session with the Department for all of the
participating birthing locations to identify barriers to reporting AIM bundle-specific
outcome measures, including the percent of pregnant and postpartum people
screened for substance misuse and validated screening tools and resources shared
with prehatal care sites.

•  Timely submission of quarterly aggregate data reports to the Department regarding
AIM program progress, which include outcome measures associated with the patient
safety bundles being Implemented.

Should the Governor and Council not authorize this, request, the Department will not be
able to effectively address opioid related disorders in pregnant women in New Hampshire, which
may result in ah increase in matemal mortality related to opioid misuse.

Area served: Statewide

Source of Federal Funds: Assistance Listing Number (ALN) 93.478, Federal Award
Identification-Number (FAIN) NU5aDP006693: ALN 93.991, FAIN B04MC45230.
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In the event that the Federal Funds become no longer available, General Funds will not
be requested to support this program.

Respectfully submitted,

Lori A. Weaver

Interim Commissioner

The Depariment of Health and Human Struiees'Mission is tSJoin communiUes and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence.
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State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Amendment #3

This Amendment to the Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality contract is
by and between the State of New Hampshire. Department of Health and Human Services ("State" or
"Department") and. Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock
Clinic (collectively doing business as "Dartmouth-Hitchcock") ("the Contractor").

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council
on June 10, 2020 (ltem.#12), as amended on June 16, 2021 (Item #34). and rnost recently amended on
March 9, 2022 (Item #17), the Contractor agreed to perform certain services based upon the terms and
conditions specified in the Contract as amended and in consideration of certain sums specified: and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37, General Provisions. Paragraph 18, the Contract may be amended
upon written agreement of the parties and approval from the Governor and Executive Council; and

WHEREAS, the parties agree to extend the term of the agreement, increase the price limitation, and
modify the scope of services to support continued delivery of these services; and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained ̂
in-the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows:

1. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.6, Account Number, to read:

05-95-90-902010-34870000
05-95-90-902010-45260000

05-95-90-902010-51900000

2. Form P-37 General Provisions. Block 1.7, Completion Date, to read:

June 30. 2025 .

3. Form P-37. General Provisions, Block 1.8, Price Limitation, to read:

$759,782

4. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.9, Contracting Officer for State Agency, to read: ,

Robert W. Moore, Director

5. Modify Exhibit A-Amendment #1, Scope of Services, by adding Subsections 2.19 through 2.21,,
to read:

2.19 The Contractor shall establish a patient safety bundle learning collaborative comprised of
perinatal care providers.

2.20 The Contractor shall facilitate collaborative monthly webinars on AIM and Maternal
Mortality (in addition to learning collaborative).

2.21 . The Contractor shall provide the following AIM data quality activities:

2.21.1 Provision of 1:1 data quality assessment/support to participating birth hospitals
and birth centers;

2.21.2 Inclusion of content on data quality in monthly webinars; and

2.21.3 In collaboration with the Department, develop a hospital-level disparities
dashboard to track statewide and institution-specific metrics disaggregated by ■
race, ethnicity, and payor.

I  £JH

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital A-S-1.3 Contractor Initials

SS-2020-DPHS-11 -MAtERN-01 -AOS Page 1 of 4 Date
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6. Modify Exhibit B, Methods and Conditions Precedent to Payment. Section 2, to read:

2. This agreement is funded by 100% Federal Funds:

2.1. 54% Federal Funds from the Preventing Maternal Deaths: Supporting Maternal
Mortality Review Committees Grant, as awarded on June 30, 2021, by the U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control &
Prevention, Assistance Listing Number (ALN) 93.478, Federal Award Identification

■ Number (FAIN) NU58DP006693.

2.2. 7% Federal Funds from the New Hampshire MCH Data Linkage Project, as awarded
on August 18, 2021 by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health
Resources and Services Administration, Maternal and Child Health Federal
Consolidated Programs, ALN 93.110, FAIN H1800033.

2.3. 39% Federal Funds from the Maternal and Child Health Federal Consolidated
Programs, as awarded on October 19, 2021 by the U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration, ALN #93.991,
FAIN B04MC45230.

7.. Modify Exhibit B, Methods and Conditions Precedent to Payment, Section 4, Subsection 4.1, to
read:

4.1 Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures incurred in the
fulfillment of this Agreement, and shall be in accordance with the approved line-items as
specified in Exhibit B-1, Budget through Exhibit B-7 Budget - Amendment #3.

8. Modify Exhibit B-4, Budget - Amendment #1 by replacing it in its entirety with Exhibit B-4 Budget -
Amendnient #3, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

9. Add Exhibit B-6 Budget - Amendment #3. which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference
herein.

10. Add Exhitjit B-7 Budget-Amendment #3, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference
herein.'

— OS

£JH

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital A-S-1.3 Contractor Initials
SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERN-01-A03 Page2of4 Date
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All terms and conditions of the Contract and prior amendments not modified by this Amendment remain
in full force and effect, this Amendment shall be effective upon Governor and Council approval.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below,

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

5/2/2023

Date

C—DocuSigned by;
"TiUty

-6.I86818CMC0.1C8

Name: Patricia M. Tilley

Title: Director

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (collectively doing business as .
"Dartmouth-Hitchcock")

5/2/2023

Date

—OoeuSigntd by:

am 8ACA3C6CA0CC438-.

Name* Merrens
Title: chief clinical officer

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

SS-2020-DPHS-11 -MATERN-01-A03

A-S-1.2

Page 3 of 4
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The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form, substance, and
execution.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

-Oo^Stgnvd by:

S/4/2023

Date

Title: Attorney

I hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: (date of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:
Title:

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital A-S-1.2

SS-2020-DPHS-11 -MATERN-01-A03 Page 4 of 4
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Exhibit B-4 Budget - Amendment #3
New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Complete one budget form for each budget period.
Contractor Name: Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf df baHmoulh-Hitchcock Clinic

Budget Reques't for:\Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Elimirtate Maternal Morlality .. — .
Budget PeTiod-7/1/2022-6/30/2023 "

Indirect Cost Rate {If apptlcable) ■15.50%

-  • .1 : •

Lino Item ' ,
■  . 1

'Prdgram^Cost r
Funded b'y DHHS;

-!• . 'I*.* '. .wr; .» ■ l7- vr

Program Cost-Contractor Share/Jiflatch-..^' . v

i. Salarv&Waoes . ... S1.00;227 , ,$.6

2. Frihae Beneflts $26,435 $0

— -—.
. —— .. . . -

3. Consultants $9,750 $0

. . .

4: Equipment
Indirect cost rate cannot t}e applied to
equipment costs per 2 CFR 200.1 and
Appendix IV to 2 CFR 200.

'$0 so

$0 so

so so

5.(c1 SuDoties - Pharmacv $0 - — • ^ - 50

5.(d) Suonlies - Medical so .  ... ...so

5^(e) Supplies Office $5,634 $0

6. Travel

$3,149 $0

>

7. Software $0 •  $0

8. fa) Other • Markelino/ Comrriunicatlons
$0 so

8. fb) Other • Education and Trainind $500 •  $0

n (f.) Other • Other fsoecifv below) -

Other (olease soecifv) SO so

Other (olease soeciM so $0

Other (olease soecifv) SO •  - so

' Other fn/ease sooc/M - so $0
^ . . . . . . . . . . -

9. Subrecipient Contracts $0 . . . . - so
*

Total Direct Costs $145,695 $0

•

.. Total Indirect Costs $22,583 $0

—  - -

TOTAL $168,278 $0

Page 1 of 1

Contractor Initials

bate
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Exhibit B-6 Budget - Amendment #3
New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Co/np/efe one bt/dgef form for.eac/i budget period.

Contractor Name: Mary HUchcock Memorial Hospital for llself and on behalf of Darimouth-Hilchcock Clinic
Budget Request for:^gnh8nc«ng Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Malemal Moilality .

Budget Period 7/1/2023-.6^0/2024 "
Indirect Cost Rate (if applicable) -1 S.SOfT

'  ' Une.itern
r  •

t,Progr^in|C6stj;
'Puhtle?by;DHHSr

V  '• • ... V .. , ' ' 'V-'"" ;
'  iplfogram Cost-rContractor}'Share/ Ma'tch'jl-;;'\

1. Salary &Waqes , $92,984 •  . . $0
-  - -

-

2. Frinae Benefits
$25;846 $0

• •' -•

3. Consultants
$20,150 -' $0

A. Equipment
indirect cost rate cannot be ap^jed to
^uipm^nt costs per 2.CFR 200.1 and
Appendix iV to 2 CFR 200. I

$0

1

$0
1

S.fai SuDDlies - Educational -  - $0 .  . . .. . . _ $0

-  • $0 •  - 50

fi.fci Suoniies - Pharmacy ■- ..-$0 :  _ ; $0

Slftrt SuoDBes - Medical
- _ - - 50 - -• - • so

5.fei SuDolies Office $245 ^  so

6: Travel

$4,239 $6

-

7, Software $0 _ . $0

fi (a) Other - Maricetino/ Communications $0 .  . • $0

8; (bl Other - Education and Traininq $500 $0

fl . (ci Other - Other (specify beiow>
Other (oiease soeciM $0 •  . • $0

Other fotease soecifv) $0 .  $0

Other fpfease specifv) .  ■ $0 •  ' • $0

: Other (Diease speclM $0 .  .. $0
• - • •

9. SubreciDient Contracts . . •-. SO $0
— , — .

Total Direct Costs $143,964 $0
• -

1 .. .

Total Indirect Costs $22,314 :  'so

TOTAL $166,278 -  - ' ~ $0

Pagel of 1 /i
Contractor initial;

Date
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Exhibit B-7 Budget - Amendment #3
New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Co'mpleto one budget form for each budget pe'rioil.
Contractor Name: Mary.HHchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic^

Budget Request for: £nhanc/ng Rev/ews and Surve/Wance <0 £//m/na/e Malerna/Morfa/(/y. ' _

Budget Period 7/1/2024 • 6/30/2025
Indirect Cost Rate (if applicable) IS.SOye .

•  r';'-. '• -"-r ' -V '''J " ^
jr* 1. ^ I"!

•  Line!ltem. --'(N;'.
j- ■ • /, i;

- ■ ' ''j ■ ' ■

' Program.Cpst • -

Funded by DHHS
r •. i"

' . -'V-V '
<' • -T . Pro'gram'Cbst-CofitractorjShare/Match-1 •?

' ' ' \ '• . ' V --J- ■ •• ivj■"
f  -.'.c. '. ■ •.: •'A;.,., ,'-

1. Salary & Wages. " $947867

2. Fringe Benefits .$26,370 •  . _ . ; . . . - 50

3. Consultants $20,150 $0

4. Equipment
Indirect cost rate cannot be applied to'
equipment costs per 2 CFR 200.1 and
Aooendix IV to 2 CFR 200.

$0 $0

.

5.fa) Suoolies - Educatk>rial ' ' •  "SO $0

S.tb) Suoolies-Lab .  .. $0 _  . ... - -$0

5.(61 Suoolies - Pharmacy $0 $0

5:(dl Suoolies ■ Medical $0 ..... . . $0

5.{e) SuppliM'Office $15 $0

6, Travel $3,793 . . . $0

7. Software - . $0 ■■ -$0
-  - -

1

8. (a) Other • Maritetino/ Communications
$0 $0

8. (b) Other • Education and Training .-$500
8. (cl Other -Other (soecifv belowl ■

- Other Co/ease soecifv). $0 $0

' Other fo/ea'se soec/M -  - $0 --- -- • $0

Other folease specify) $0 •  ■ : $0

Other folease soecifv) •" '  $0 $0

9. Subrecioient Contracts $0 $0

Total Direct Costs $145,695 $0
-

Total Indirect Costs $22,583 $0

.  . - ■ - ■ '
TOTAL $168,278 $0

Page 1 of 1

Contractor Initlalt^ »

Date_



DocuSign Envelope ID: E81614D6-5766-4332-B2CE-36A5A1A99A3E

State of New Hampshire

Department of State

. CERTIFICATE

1. David M. Scanlan, Secretar>' of State of the Slate of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that MARY HITCHCOCK MEMORIAL

HOSPITAL is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in New Hampshire on August 07, 1889.1

further certify that all fees and documents required by the Secretary of Stale's office have been received and is in good standing as

far as this office is concerned.

Business ID: 68517

Certificate Number: 0006201297

(1:2

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

1 hereto set my hand and cause to be afilxcd

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this 10th day of April A.D. 2023.

David M. Scanlan

Sccretar>' of State
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Dartmoutji
- Health rtmouth-Hitchcftck i Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

lUI I

CERTIFICATE OF VOTE/AUTHORITY

I, Roberta L.- Mines. MD. of Dartmbiith^Hitchcock Clinic and Marv Hitchcock Memorial HdsbitaK do
'hereby certify that; •

1. I am the dLilv elected Chair of the Board of Trustees ofDartmouth-Hitchcock Glihic and Mary
Hitchcock Memorial Hospital;

2.- The following is a true and accurate exccipt from the June 23"', 2017 Bylaws of Dartmouth-
Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital:

article I - Scctlbh A. Fiduciary Diity. Stewardship over Corporate Assets
"In exercising this [fiduciary] duty, the Board .may, consistent with the Corporation's. Aiticles of
Agreement and these Bylaws, delegate-authority to the Board of Gbverhors, Board Committees
and various officers the right, to give input with respect to issues and stratcgies,"incur
indebtedness, make expenditures, enter into contracts and agreements and take such other binding
actions on behalf of the Corporation as! may be necessary or desirable in furtherance of its
charitable purposes,"

'3. Article .) - Section A, as fcfcrchccd aboyc, provides authority for the chief officers, including the
Chief Executive Officer, the Chjef Cli.nical Officer, and other officers,, of pailmquth-Hitchcpc
Giinic and ;Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital to sign and deliver, either individually or
collectively, on behalfof Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital.

4. Edward J. Merrens, MD, is the Chief Ciinical Officer of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mai-y
HitchcockMemofial Hospital and therefore has the authority to enter into contracts and agreements
on behalf of Darfmouth-Hitchcock Cj.inic and Mary .Hitchcock •Memorial Hospital. •

5. Theforegoing authority shall remain in .fuU force and effect as of the date of the
agreement executed or action taken in reliance upon this Certificate. This authority shall
rernain valid for thirty (3 0) days from the date of this Certificate and. the. State of New
.Hampshire shall be entitled to rely upon same, until written notice of modification,
rescission or revocation of same, in whole or in part, has been received by the State of

. New Hampshire.

IN WITNESS WHERE.OF, 1 hay.e h'ereuhto set.my hand «-■; the Ghairofthe Board ofTrustees of Dartmouth-^
Hitchcock Ciinic and Marv Hitchcock Memorial Hospiial.this day of

Roberta.L. Hines, MD, Board Chair

STATE OF NH

COUNTY ,
The^i^cdggjjJlj^um'd/^^s acknowledged befoi-e me this day of by Roberta

L.Hines,M6. ; : 1
v«*.Ov .O:' Cr

Nbtaiy Public ^ , ,
My Commission Expires: ^
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DATE: November 16,
2022

COMPANY AFFORDING COVERAGE

Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.
P.O. Box 1687

30 Main Street, Suite 330
Burlington. VT 05401
INSURED

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
One Medical Center Drive Lebanon,

NH 03756

(603)653-6850

This certificate is issued as a matter of information only
and confers no rights upon the Certificate Holder. This
Certificate does not amend, extend or alter the coverage
afforded by the policies below.

COVERAGES

The Policy listed below has been issued to the Named Insured above for the Policy Period notwithstanding any
requirement, term or condition of any contract or other document with respect to which this certificate may be issued. The
insurance afforded by the policy is subject to all the terms, exclusions and conditions of the policy. Limits shown may
have been reduced by paid claims.

TYPE OF

INSURANCE
POLICY NUMBER

GENERAL

LIABILITY

0002022-A

CLAIMS M/VDE

OCCURRENCE

OTHER

0002022-A
PROFESSIONAL

LIABILITY

CLAIMS MADE

OCCURENCE

POLICY

EFFECTIVE

DATE

7/1/2022

7/1/2022

POLICY

EXPIRATION

DATE

7/1/2023

7/1/2023

LIMITS

EACH

OCCURRENCE

DAMAGE TO

RENTED

PREMISES

MEDICAL

EXPENSES

PERSONAL &

ADV INJURY

GENERAL

AGGREGATE

PRODUCTS-

COMP/OP AGG

EACH CLAIM

ANNUAL

AGGREGATE

$2,000,000

$1,000,000

N/A

$1,000,000

$2,000,000

$1,000,000

$2,000,000

$3,000,000

OTHER

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/ LOCATIONS/ VEHICLES/SPECIAL ITEMS (LIMITS MAY BESUBJECI TO RETENTIONS)
Certificate is issued as evidence of insurance.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

NH Department of Health & Human Services
129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301

CANCELLATION

Should any of the above described policies be cancelled before the expiration date
Ihercof, the issuing company wiil endeavor lo mail 30 DAYS wriUcn notice to the
certificate holder named below, but failure to mail such notice shall impose no
obligation or liability' of any kind upon the company, its agents or representatives.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
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ACORD- CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE DATE (MIyUDO/YYYYj

6/8/2022

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S). AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER. AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder Is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the pollcy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement A statement on
this certificate does not confer rlqhts to the certificate holder In lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER License #1780862
HUB International New England
100 Central Street
Suite 201
Holllston, MA 01746

cjNTACT Lauren Stiles
PHONE FAX
(Arc, No, Ext): (A/C.Nol;

Lauren.Stiles@hubinternational.coni

INRtlRFR(S) AFFORDINR COVERAGE NAICA

INSURER A Safety National Casualty Corooration 15105

INSURED

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

1 Medical Center Dr.

Lebanon, NH 03756

INSURER a

INSURER C

INSURER 0

INSURER E

INSURER F

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT. TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN. THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

INSR
TYPE OF INSURANCE

AOOL
INAn

SUBR
WYP

POUCY NUMBER
POLICY EFF
IMM/ntWYYYYl

• POUCY EXP
IMM/nn/YYYY» UMITS

COMMERCIAL GEI^RAL LUBIUTY

E  OCCUR

EACH OCCURRENCE S

CLAIMS-MAC
DAMAGE TO RENTED

MED EXP fAnv one oersoni S

PERSONAL & AOV INJURY

GENERAL AGGREGATE

POLICY [_| 1 1 LOG
OTHER;

PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG
/.

s

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY
COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

s

ANY AUTO RODILV INJURY (Per oersonl

OVWED
AUTOS ONLY

aIS^s only

SCHEOULED
TOS

mm

BODILY INJURY (Perecddenll s

s

-■ •

s

UMBRELLA UAB

EXCESS UAB

OCCUR

claims-maoe

EACH OCCURRENCE

AGGRFGATE S

OED RETENTIONS

A WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS-LIABILITY

ANY PR0PRICT0RA»ARTNER/EXECUT1VE ( j
1—1

If yes. descfitx inder
OFSCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

N/A

AGC4066562 7/1/2022 7/1/2023

y PER OTH.
^ RTATUTF FR

E.L EACH ACaOENT
J  1,000,000

E.L DISEASE - EA EMPLOYES
^  1,000,000

E.L DISEASE . POI ICY I IMIT
5  1,000,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/LOCATKWS/VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Addltloiul Rtmark* Sch«dul«. maytx ■ttaclMd IT mort apaealt raqulrad)
Evidence of Workers Compensation coverage for

Cheshire Medicaj Center
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital
New London Hospital Association
ML Ascutney Hospital and Health Center

NH DHHS
129 Pleasant Street
Concord, NH 03301

1

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25(2016/03) (S> 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All ri ghts reserved.
The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD
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About Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Dartmouth

HitchcockClinics

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Clinics—members of Dartmouth Health

{https;//www.dartmouth-heaith.org}-include Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center, the state's

only academic medical center, and Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics, which provide primary
and specialty care throughout New Hampshire and Vermont.

Our physicians and researchers collaborate with'Geisel School of Medicine scientists and

faculty as well as other leading health care organizations to develop new treatments at the

cutting edge of medical practice bringing the latest medical discoveries to the patient.

Who are Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Dartmouth Hitchcock

Clinics?

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center

tJ

'"^"mnmTTmrmTmimwn

i_L

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center is the state's only academic medical center, and the

only Level I Adult and Level II Pediatric Trauma Center in New Hampshire. The Dartmouth

Hitchcock Advanced Response Team (DHART), based in Lebanon and Manchester, provides

ground and air medical transportation to communities throughout northern New England.

In 2022, Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center was named the #1 hospital in New

Hampshire by U.S. News b World Report (https://health.usnews.com/best-hospitals/area/nh), and

recognized as high performing in 2 adult specialties. Cancer ar}d Neurology/Neurosurgery.

as well as in 12 common adult procedures and conditions.

Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics
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Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics provide primary and specialty care throughout New

Hampshire and Vermont, with major community group practices in Lebanon, Concord,

Manchester, Nashua, and Keene. New Hampshire, and Bennington. Vermont.

Children's Hospital at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center

Children's Hospital at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center is New Hampshire's only

children's hospital and a member of the Children's Hospital Association, providing

advanced pediatric inpatient, outpatient and surgical services at Dartmouth Hitchcock

Medical Center.

r.

Norris Cotton Cancer Care Pavilion Lebanon

Norris Cotton Cancer Care Pavilion Lebanon (https://cancer.dartmouth.edu/), one of only 53

NCI-designated Comprehensive Cancer Centers in the nation, is one of the premier

facilities for cancer treatment, research, prevention, and education.

Our mission, vision, and values,

Our mission

We advance health through research, education, clinical practice and community

partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the right time, every

time.
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Our Vision

Achieve the healthiest population possible, leading the transformation of health care in our

region and setting.the standard for our nation. •

Our values

• Respect

•  Integrity

• Commitment

• Transparency

• Trust

• Teamwork

• Stewardship

• Community

About Dartmouth Health (https://www.dartmouth-health.org/)

Copyright'© 2023 Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Clinics. All rights resen/ed.



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and

Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2022 and 2021



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidianes
Index

June 30, 2022 and.2021 •

Page(s)

Report of Independent Auditors 1-2

Consolidated Financial Statements

Balance Sheets ...1.' 3

Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets 4--5

Statements of Cash Flows. : 6

Notes to Financial Statements

Consolidating Supplemental Information

Balance Sheets ........51-54

Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions 55-58

Note to the Supplemental Consolidating Information ...;.,59



pwc.
Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and subsidiaries

Opinion

-We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
and its subsidiaries (the "Health System"), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30,
2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets and of
cash flows for the years then ended, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the
"consolidated financial statements"). . -

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Health System as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its
operations, changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance v^th
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basisfor OpmioTi

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (US GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors'
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Fmancial Statements section of our report. We are
required to be independent of the Health System and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit e\adence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

RespQnsibilitiespf Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance wth accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or. error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Health Systern's
ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date*the consolidated financial statements are
issued.

Auditors'Responsibilitiesfor the Audit ofthe Consolidated Financial Statements

.  Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud; or error, and to issue an auditors'
report that inchides our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forger}',

• intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated finaricial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
. T.-(6j7) 530 5000, F; (6j7) 530 50OJ, \NWv.p\vc.com/us
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In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we:

•  Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.'
•  Identif)' and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial

statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Health System's internal control. Accordingly, no such
opinion is expressed.

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

■ • Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
- aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Health System's ability to continue as a
going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.

Supplemental Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements ,
taken as a whole. The accompan}ing consolidating information as of and for the years ended June 30,
2022 and 2021 is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The
consolidating information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated
financial statements or to the consolidated fiiiancial'statements therhselves and other additional

procedures,, in accordance w^th auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In
our opinion, the consolidating information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The consolidating information is presented for
purposes of additional analyris of the consolidated financial statements rather than to present the
financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the individual companies and is not a required
part of the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion oh the financial
sposition, results of operations and cash flows of the indhndual companies.

Boston, Massachusetts
November 16, 2022



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets

June 30, 2022 and 2021

(in1t)ousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Patient accounts receivable, net {Note 4).

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

• —

$  191,929 $  374.

Assets limited as to use {Notes 5 and 7)

Other investments for restricted activities {Notes 5 and 7)

Property, plant, and equipment, net {Note 6)
Right-of-use assets, net {Note 16)

Other assets-

Total assets

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities , '

Current portion of long-term debt {Note 10)

Current portion of right-6f-use obligations {Note 16)
Current portion of liability for pension and other postretirement

"plan benefits {Note 11)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Accrued compensation and related benefits

Estimated third-party settlements {Note 3 and 4)

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, excluding current portion {Note 10)'

Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion {Note 16)

Insurance-deposits and related liabilities {Note 12)

Liability for pension and other postretirerrient plan benefits,
excluding current portion {Note 11)

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies {Notes 3, 4, 6, 7,10,.13. and 16)

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions {Note 9)

Net assets with donor restrictions {Notes 8 and 9)

Total net-assets

Total liabilities and net assets

928.

251,250 232,161

169,133 157,318

612,312 764,407

1,181,094 1,378,479

175,116 '168,035

764:840 680,433

58,925. 58,410

172,163 177,098

$  2.964,450 $  3,226,862

$  6,596 $  9,407

11,319 ■  11,289

3,500 .. . 3,468
156,572 131,224

190,560 182,070.

134,898 252,543

503,445 ,590,001

1,117,288 1,126,357

.  '48,824 ' 48,167

.  78,391 . 79,974

' 228,606. .224,752

•  154,096 214,714

2,130,650 ' 2,283,965

634,297 758,627

199;503 - :  184,270

833,800 942,897

$  . 2,964,450. $  3,226,862

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating revenue and other support
Net patient.service revenue (Note 4)
Contracted revenue

Other operating revenue (Note 4)
Net assets released from restrictions

Total operating revenue and other, support

Operating expenses

Salaries

Employee benefits
Medications arid medical supplies
Purchased services and other

Medicaid enhancement tax (Note 4)
Depreciation.and amortization

Interest (Note 10)

Total operating expenses

Operating (loss) income

Non-operating (losses) gains
Investment (loss) income, net (Note 5)
Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income (Note 11 and 14)

Other losses, net (Note 10)

Total non-operating (losses) gains, net .

(Deficieincy) excess of revenue over expenses

2022 2021

$  2,243,237 $ 2,138,287

77,666 85,263

534,031 424,958

15,894 15,201

,  2,870,628 . . 2,663,709

1,315,407 1,185,910 .

322,570 302,142

. 649,272 545,523 ■

403,862 383,949

82,725 72,941 ,

86,958 88,921

32,113 . -  30,787

'2,-892,907- 2,610,173.

.  (22,079) 53,536

(78,744) 203,776

13,910 13,559 .

(6,658) .  (4,233)

(71,492) 213,102

$  (93.571) $ , 266,638

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets - continues on next page

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes In Net Assets - Continued
Years Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 .

"(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Net assets without donor restrictions

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses

Net assets released from restrictions for capital
Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement
benefits (Note 11) ' •
Other changes in net assets

(Decrease) increase in net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions

Gifts, bequests, sponsored activities
Investment (loss) income, net
Net assets released from restrictions

Increase in net assets with donor restrictions

Change innet assets

Net assets

Beginning of year

End of year

$  . (93,571) $ 266,638

1,573 2,017

(32,309) 59,132"

(23) (186)

(124,330) 327,601

39,710 30,107

(7,010) 19,153

(17.467) (17,218)

15,233 . 32,042

(109,097) . 359,643

942,897 583,254'

.$ 833,800 $ 942,897

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021

(iri thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets $  (109,097) $ 359,643

Adjustments to reconcile change In net assets to .  V

net cash provided by operating and non-operaUng activities
Depreciation and amortization . ^ - 67,006 '  88,904

Amortization of tjond premium, discount,'and issuance cost, net '  (2,764) (2,820)

Amortization of right-of-use asset 9,270 •  10,034

Payments on right-of-use lease obfigations - operating (9,190) (9,844)

Change In funded status of pension and other postretlrement benefits 32,309 (59,132)

(Gain) loss on disposal of fixed assets •• (523) 592

Net realized gains and change In net unrealized gains on Investments 86,652 (228,489)

Restricted contributions and investment earnings (20,151) (3,445)

Proceeds from sales of donated securities . 10,665 -

Changes-in assets and liabilities
Patient accounts receivable, net (19,089) (48,342)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (9,915) 4,588

Other assets, net' 2,517 (39,760)

'  Accounts payable and accrued expenses 17,104 •1,223

- Accrued compensation and related benefits 8,490 39.079

Estimated third-party settlements (120,117) 9,787

insurance deposits and related liabilities '  (1,583) 2,828

Liability for pension and other postretirement benefits ' -. , (28,422) (40,373)

Other liabilities (56,687) , 11,267

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (123,525) 95,740

Cash flows from Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment (160,855) (122,347)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment 613 316

Purchases of investments (65,286)' (95,943)

Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments . . 137,781 75,071

Net cash used in investing activities (87,747) , (142.903)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from line of aedit 30,000

Payments on line of credit, (30,000) -

Repayment of long-term debt '  (9,116) • (9,183)

Repayment of finance leases (3,253) (3,117)

Payment of debt issuance costs " (230)

Restricted contributions and Investment earnings- 20,151 3,445

Net cash provided by (used In) financing activities •- 7,782 (9,085)

Decrease, in cash and cash equivalents ' (203,490) (56,248)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year •' 396,975 , 453,223 '
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year S- 193,485 $ 396,975

Supplemental cash flow information
Interest paid S  42,867 $ 41,819.

Construction in progress Included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses 9,407 •16,192

Donated securities 10,665 -

The following tatrie reconciles cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets to cash, cash equivalents and
restricted cash on the consolidated statements of cash flows.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents Included In assets.jimited as to use
Restricted cash and cash equivalents Included In other investments for restricted activities

Total of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown -
in the consolidated statements of cash flows

-2022

191,929

■  ' 1,350
206

2021-

374,928

18,500

3,547

$  193.485 $ 396,975

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2022 and 2021

1. Organization and Community Benefit Commitments

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH), its Members, and their Subsidiaries (the Health System) is a
system of hospitals, clinics, and other healthcare service providers across New Hampshire and
Verrriont. The Health System's mission is to advance health through research, education, clinical
practice, and community partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at

.  the right time, every time. The Health System seeks to achieve the healthiest population possible,
leading the transformation of health care in the region and setting the standard for the nation. The
Health Systern's expanding network of services are the fabric of its commitment to serve the region
with exceptional medical care.

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH) serves as the sole corporate member of.the following entities;
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (DHC) and Subsidiaries, Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (MHMH)
and Subsidiaries, (DHC and MHMH together are referred to as D-H), The New London Hospital
Association, Inc; (NLH), Windsor Hospital Corporation (d/b/a Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Health
Center) (MAHHC) and Subsidiaries. The Cheshire Medical Center (Cheshire) and Subsidiaries,
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital (APD) and Subsidiary,, and Visiting Nurse and Hospice for
Vermont and New Hampshire (VNH) and Subsidiaries.

The Health System currently operates one tertiary, one community, and three acute care (critical
.. access) hospitals in New Hampshire (NH) and Vermont (VT). One facility provides inpatient and

outpatient rehabilitation medicine and long-term care. The Health System also operates multiple
physician practices, a continuing care retirement community, and a home health and hospice
service. The Health System operates a graduate level program for health professions and is the
principal teaching affiliate of the Geisel School of Medicine (Geisel), a component of Dartmouth
College. -

.  D-HH. DHC, MHMH, NLH, Cheshire, and APD are NH not-for-profit corporations exempt frorn
federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC). MAHHC and
VNH are VT not-for-profit corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501 (c)(3)
of the IRC.

On September 30, 2019, D-HH and GraniteOne Health (GOH) entered into an agreement (The
Combination Agreement) to combine their respective healthcare systems. The parties submitted
filings with the Federal Trade Commission and the New Hampshire Attorney General's Office,
seeking regulatory clearance of the proposed transaction. On May 13, 2022, D-HH and GOH
ended their pursuit of regulatory approval of the transaction and terminated the Combination
Agreement.

Community Benefits
Consistent with its mission, the Health System provides high quality, cost effective, comprehensive,
and integrated healthcare to individuals, families, and the communities it serves regardless of a
patient's ability to pay. The Health Systern actively supports corhmunity-based healthcare and
promotes the coordination of services among healthcare providers and social services
organizations. In addition, the Health System seeks to work collaboratively with other area
healthcare providers to improve the health status of the region. As a component of an integrated



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2022 and 2021

academic medical center, the Health System provides significant support for academic and
research programs.

Certain member hospitals of the Health System file annual Community Benefits Reports with the
State of NH, which outline the community and charitable benefits each provides. VT hospitals are
not required by law to file a state Community Benefit Report. The categories used in the
Community Benefit Reports to summarize these benefits are as follows:

•  Community Health Improvement Services include activities carried out to improve community
health, and could include community health education (such as classes, programs, support
groups, and materials that promote wellness and prevent illness), community-based clinical

.  services (such as free clinics and health screenings), and healthcare support services
(enrollment assistance in public prograrns, assistance in obtaining free or reduced costs
medications, telephone information services, or transportation programs to enhance access to
care, etc.).

•  Health Professions Education includes uncompensated costs of training medical students,
residents, nurses, and other health care professionals

'• Subsidized Health Services are services provided by the Health System, resulting in financial
losses that meet the needs of the community and would not otherwise be available unless the
responsibility was assumed by the government.

•  Research includes costs, in excess pf awards, for numerous health research and service

initiatives within the Health System.

•  Cash and In-Kind Contributions occur .outside of the System through various financial
contributions of cash, in-kind donations, and grants to local organizations.

•  Community-Building Activities \nc\\j6e expenses incurred to support the development of
programs and partnerships intended to address public health challenges, as well as social and
economic determinants of health. Examples include physical improvements and housing,

. economic development, support. system . enhancements, environmental improvements,
leadership development and training for community members, community health improvement
advocacy, and workforce enhancement.

•  Charity Care includes losses," at-cost, incurred, by providirig health care services to persons
qualifying for hospital financial assistance programs.

•  The Uncompensated Cost of Care for Medicaid patients reported in the unaudited Community
Benefits Reports for 2021 was approximately $198,859,000. The 2022 Community Benefits
Reports are expected to be filed in February 2023.



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2022 and 2021

The following table summarizes the value of the community benefit initiatives outlined in the Health
System's most recently filed.Community Benefit Reports for the year ended June 30, 2021:

(in thousands of dollars) • .

Uncompensated cost of care for Medicaid $  198,859

Health professional education .41,554

Subsidized health services 16,785

Charity care '  12.,678
Community health improvement services .  13.,589'
Research 4,839

Cash and In-Kind Contributions 4.,741

Community building activities 2,885

Total community benefit value $  295,,930

In fiscal years 2022 and 2021; funds received to offset or subsidize charity care costs provided
were $452,000 and $848,000, respectively;

For fiscal year 2022, Medicare costs exceeding reimbursement totaled $105,460,000.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
•  accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
have beeri prepared consistent with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 954, Healthcare Entities, which addresses the accounting for
healthcare entities. The net assets, revenue, expenses, gaihs, and losses of healthcare entities
are classified based on'the existence or absence of donor-imposed,restrictions. Accordingly, net
assets without donor restrictions are amounts not subject to donor-imposed stipulations and are
available for operations. Net assets with donor restrictions are those vyhose use has been limited

by donors to a specific time period or purpose, or whose use has been restricted by donors to be
maintained, in perpetuity. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated upon

. consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant areas that are
affected by the use of estimates include implicit and explicit pricing concessions, valuation of
certain investments, estimated third-party settlements, insurance reserves, and pension
obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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(Deficiency) Excess of Revenue over Expenses
The Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets include the (deficiency)
excess of revenue over expenses. Operating revenues consist of those iterris attributable to the
care of patients, including contributions and investment (loss) income on investments of net assets
without donor restrictions, which .are utilized to provide, charity and other operational support.
Peripheral activities, including realized gains/losses on sales of investment securities and changes
in unrealized gains/losses on investments are reported as non-operating (losses) gains.

Changes in net assets without donor restrictions which are excluded from the (deficiency) excess
of revenue over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions of long-lived
assets (including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for
the purpose of -acquiring, such assets), and change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefit plans.

Charity Care
•jhe Health System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under their financial
assistance policies without charge, or at amounts less than their established rates. Because the
Health System does not anticipate collection of amounts qualifying as charity care, they are not
reported as revenue.

The Health System grants credit, without collateral, to patients. Most are local residents and are
insured under third-party arrangements. The amount of charges for implicit phce concessions is
based upon management's assessment of historical and expected net collections, business and
economic conditions, trends in federal and stale governmental healthcare coverage, and other
collection indicators (Notes 1 and 4). • . '

Patient Service Revenue

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (ASC 606). Patient service revenue is reported at the amount of consideration to \vhich
the Health System expects to be entitled from patients, third party payors, and others, for services
rendered, including estimated retroactive adjustments'under.reimbursement agreements with third-
party payors and implicit pricing concessions. Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an
estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as
estimates change or final settlements are determined (Note 4).

Contracted Revenue ^
The Health System has" various Professional Service Agreements. (PSAs), pursuant to which
certain organizations purchase services of personnel employed by the Health System and also
lease space and equipment. Revenue pursuant to these PSAs, and certain facility and equipment
leases and other professional service contracts, have been classified as contracted revenue in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets.

Other Revenue

The Health System recognizes other revenue, which is not related to patient medical care but is
central to the day-to-day operations of the Health System. Other revenue, which consists primarily-
of revenue from retail pharmacy, specialty pharmacy, and contract pharmacy, is recorded in the
amounts to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the prescriptions. Other revenue also
includes Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Securities Act (CARES Act Provider Relief Funds)
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from the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), operating agreements, grant revenue,
cafeteria sales, and other support service revenue {Note 3 and 4).

Cash Equivialents
Cash and cash equivalents include amounts on deposit with financial institutioris, short-term
investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase, and other highly liquid
investments (primarily cash managerhent funds), which would be considered level 1 investments
under the fair value hierarchy. AH short-term, highly liquid, investments included within the Health

System's endowment and similar investment pools, otherwise qualifying as cash equivalents, are
classified as investments at fair, value and, therefore, are excluded from cash and cash equivalents
in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Investments and Investment (Loss) Income
Investrnents in equity securities with readily determinable fair values, mutual funds, governmental
securities, debt securities, and pooled/commingled funds are reported at fair value with changes in
fair value included in the (deficiency) excess of,revenues over expenses.' Fair value is the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants-at the measurement date (Note 7).

Investments in' pooled/commingled investment funds, private equity funds, and hedge funds that
represent investments where the Health System owns shares or units of funds rather than the
underlying securities in that fund are valued using the equity method of accounting with changes in
value recorded,in the (deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses, '

Certain members of the Health System are partners in a NH general partnership established for the
purpose of operating a master investment program of pooled investment accounts. Substantially
all of the Health System's board-designated and assets with donor restrictions, such as endowment
funds, were invested in these pooled funds, by purchasing uriits based on the market value of the
pooled funds at the end of the month prior to receipt of any new additions to the funds.' Interest,
dividends, and realized and unrealized gains and losses earned on pooled .funds are allocated
monthly based on the weighted average units outstanding at the prior month-end.

Investment income or losses (including change in unrealized and realized gains and losses on
investrrients, change in value of equity method investments, interest, and dividends) are included in
the (deficiency) excess of revenue, over expenses and classified as non-operating gains and
losses, unless the income or loss is restricted by donor or law (Note 9).

Fair Value Measurement of Financjal lnstruments
The Health System estimates fair value based on a valuation .framework that uses a fair value
hierarchy, that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The
hierarchy gives, the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurements). The three levels of fair value hierarchy, as defined by ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, are described below:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement
date for assets or liabilities.
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Level 2 Prices other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the date of measurement.

Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.

The carrying amounts of patient accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.

Property, plant, and equipment
Property, plant, and equipment, and other real estate are stated at cost at the time of purchase or
fair value at the time of donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Health System's policy is to
capitalize expenditures for major improvements and to. charge expense for maintenance and repair
expenditures which do not e>dend the lives of the related assets. The provision for depreciation
has been determined using the straight-line method at rates which are intended to anriortize the
cost of assets over their estimated useful lives which range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and
improvements, 2 to 20 years for equipment, and the shorter of the lease term, or 5 to 12 years, for
leasehold improvements. Certain software development costs are amortized using the straight-line
method over a period of up to 10 years. Net interest cost incurred on borrowed funds during the
period of construction of capital assets is capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those
assets.

The fair value of a liability for legal obligations associated with asset retirements is recognized in
the'period in which it'is incurred; if a reasonable estimate of the fair value of the obligation'can be
made. When a liability is initially recorded, the cost of the asset retirement obligation is capitalized
by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, the liability is accreted
to its present value each period and the capitalized cost associated with the retirement is
depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the obligation, ariy
difference between the actual cost to settle the asset retirement obligation and the liability recorded
is recognized as a gain or loss in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets.

Gifts of capital assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are reported as support, and excluded
from the (deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses, unless explicit dorior stipulations specify
how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of capital assets with explicit restrictions that specify
how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire capital
assets are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those
capital assets must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the donated
or acquired capital assets are placed in service.

Bond Issuance Costs

Bond issuance costs, classified oh the consolidated balance sheets within long-term debt, are
amortized over the term, of the related bonds. Amortization is recorded within interest expense in
the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets using the straight-line method
which approximates the effective interest method.
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Intangible Assets and Goodwill
The Health System records within other assets on the consolidated balance sheets,goodwill and
intangible assets such as trade names and leases-in-place. The Health System considers trade
names and gpodwill to be indefinite-lived assets, assesses them at least annually for impairment or
more frequently if certain events or circumstances warrant and, recognizes irripairment charges for
amounts by which the carrying values exceed their fair values. The Health System has recorded
$8,885,000 and $9,403,000 as Intangible assets as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Gitts

Gifts without donor restrictions are recorded net of related expenses as non-operating gains.
Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give to the Health System are reported
at fair value at.the date'the gift is received. Gifts are reported with donor restrictions.if they are
received with donor stipulations that lirnit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction
expires, that-is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplishedi net
assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions and reported,
in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as net assets released
from restrictions.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In March 2020, January 2021, and April 2022, the FASB issued standard updates on Reference
Rate Reform in response to the planned discontinuation of the Loridon Inter-Bank Offered Rate
(LIBGR), a key interbank reference rate. The standard provides accounting relief to contract
modifications and optional expedients for applying U.S. GAAP to contracts and other transactions
that reference LIBGR or other reference rates that are expected to be discontinued because of rate
reform. The Health System is currently in the.process of evaluating the impact of adoption of these
standards on the financial statements.

3. The COVID-19 Pandemic

Gn March 11, 2020, the World Health Grganization designated CGVID-19 as a global pandemic
resulting in an extraordinary disruption to our nation's healthcare system. In response to CGVID-
19, the Coronavirus Aid Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act was enacted which provided
different types of economic support to a wide, variety of organizations and individuals. The Health
System employed several CARES Act provisions, with the most significant impacts summarized
below.

Health and Human Services Provider Relief Funds

The Health System received $100,346,000 and $65,600,000 in CARES Act Provider Relief Funds
for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The Health System will continue to

.  pursue Provider Relief Funds as available, and as needed, to support the Health System.

In July 2020, HHS issued reporting requirements for CARES Act Provider Relief Funds, requiring
. recipients to identify healthcare-related expenses that remain unreimbursed by another source,
attributable to the CGVID-19 pandemic. If those expenses do not exceed the funding received,
recipients will need to demonstrate that the remaining funds were used to compensate for a
riegative variance in patient service revenue. HHS is entitled to recoup Provider Relief Funds
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awarded in excess of expenses attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic that were not reimbursed
by another source plus losses incurred due to the decline in patient care revenue. There have been
no recoupments through June 2022.

Medicare and Medlcaid Services (CMS) Accelerated and Advance Payment Program

The Health System received CMS prepayment advances,' related to the CARES Act, totaling
$245,200,000. In addition, the Health System accumulated payroll tax deferrals of $33,100,000.

Repayment.of funds commenced in April 2021. The balances of CMS prepayment advances and
accumulated payroll tax deferrals * at June 30, 2022 were $54,890,000 and $16,550,000,

. respectively, and are included in estimated third party settlements and accrued compensation and
related benefits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Health System continues to address the challenges and impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic
(including protecting the health and safety of employees and patients as well as assessing the
availability of personal protective equipment and other needed supplies to be better positioned for
potential surges^ Additionally, the Health System continues to evaluate the impact of new or .
changes to laws and regulations at the federal, state, and local levels and the potential effect on
Health System staffing and operations. At this time, the Health .System cannot accurately predict
the full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will affect the Health System's future finances and
operations,

4. Net Patient Service Revenue and Accounts Receivable

The Health System reports net patient service revenue at amounts that reflect the consideration to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care. These amounts are due from
patients, third-party .payers (including' managed care payers and government programs), and
others; and they include variable consideration for retroactive" revenue adjustments due to
settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the Health System bills patients and
third-party payers several days after the services were performed or shortly after discharge.
Revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied under contracts by providing
healthcare services to patients.

The Health System determines performance obligations' based on the nature of the services
provided. . Revenues for performance obligations satisfied over time are recognized, based on
actual charges incurred in relation to total expected charges as this method provides a reasonable
estimate of the transfer of services over the term of performance obligations based on inputs
needed to satisfy the obligations. Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to
patients receiving inpatient acute care services. For inpatient services, performance obligations
are measured from admission to the point when there are no further services required for the
patient, which is generally the time of discharge. For outpatient services and physician services,
performance obligations are recognized at a point in. time when the services are provided and no
further patient services are deemed necessary.

Generally, the Health System's patient service performance obligations relate to contracts with a
duration of less than one year, therefore the Health System has. elected to apply the optional
exemption provided in ASC 606-10-50-14a. and, therefore, we are not required to disclose the
aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied
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or partially unsatisfied at the end. of the reporting period. This generally refers to inpatient services,
at the end of the reporting period. The performance obligations for these contracts are generally
completed when the patients are discharged, which generally occurs within days or weeks of the
end of the reporting period.

•Established charges represent gross charges. They are not the same as actual pricing, and they
generally do not reflect what a hospital is ultimately entitled to for services it provides. Therefore,
they are not displayed in the Health System's consolidated statements of operations and changes
in net assets. .

Hospitals are paid amounts negotiated with insurance companies or set by government entities,
which are typically less than established or standard charges. Gross charges are used to calculate
Medicare outlier payments and to determine certain elements of payment under managed care
contracts. Gross charges are what hospitals charge all patients prior to the application of
contractual adjustments and implicit price concessions.

Expltcit Pricing Concessions ^
Revenues for the Health System under the traditional fee-for service. Medicare and Medicaid
programs are based on prospectively determined rates per discharge or visit, reasonable
(allowable) cost, or prospective rates per episodic period, depending on the type of provider.

Inpatient acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid using the
prospective payment system (PPS) to determine rates-per-discharge. These rates vary
according to a patient classification system (DRG), based on diagnostic, clinical, and other
factors. In addition, inpatient capital costs (depreciation and Interest) are reimbursed by
Medicare on the basis of a. prospectively determined rate per discharge. Medicare
outpatient services are paid on a prospective payment system, based on a pre-determined
amount for each outpatient procedure (APC), subject to various mandated modifications.
Retrospectively determined cost-based revenues under these programs, such as indirect
medical education, direct graduate medical education, disproportionate share hospital,,
transplant services, and bad debt reimbursement are based on the hospital's cost reports
and are estimated using historical trends and current factors. The Health System's
payments for inpatient services rendered to NH and VT Medicaid beneficiaries are based on
PPS, while outpatient services are reimbursed on a retrospective cost basis, or fee
schedules, for NH beneficiaries. VT outpatient beneficiaries are paid on .a prospective basis
per outpatient procedure.

Inpatient acute, swing," and outpatient services furnished by Critical Access Hospitals (CAH)
are reimbursed by Medicare at 101% of reasonable costs, subject to 2% sequestration,
excluding ambulance services and inpatient hospice care.

Providers of home health services to pat|ents eligible for Medicare home health benefits are
paid on a. prospective basis, with no retrospective settlement. The prospective payment is
based on the scoring attributed to. the acuity level of the patient at a rate determined by"
federal guidelines.

15



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2022 and 2021

Hospice services to patients eligible for Medicare hospice benefits are paid on a per diem
basis, with no retrospective settlement, provided the aggregate annual Medicare
reimbursement is below a predetermined aggregate capitated rate.

The Health System's cost based services to Medicare and Medicaid are reimbursed during
the year based on varying interim payment methodologies. Final settlement is determined
after the submission, of an annual cost report and subject to audit of this report by Medicare
and Medicaid auditors, as well as administrative and judicial review. Because the laws,
regulations, and rule interpretations,, governing Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement are
complex and change frequently, the estimates recorded could change over time by material
amounts.

Revenues under Managed Care Plans (MCPs) consist primarily of payment terms involving
mutually agreed upon rates per diagnosis, discounted fee-for service rates, or similar
contractual arrangements. These revenues are also, subject to review and possible audit.
The MCPs are billed for patient services on an individual patient basis. An individual
patient's bill is subject to adjustments in accordance with contractual terms in place with' the
MCPs following their review and adjudication of each bill.

The Health System is not aware of any claims,, disputes, or unsettled matters with any payer that
would materially affect its revenues for which it has not adequately provided In the accompanying
Health System's consolidated financial statements.

The Health System provides charity care to patients who are unable to pay for healthcare services
they receive as determined by financial conditions. Patients who qualify receive partial or full
adjustments to charges for services rendered. The Health System's policy is to treat amounts
qualified as charity care as explicit price concessions and, as such, are not reported in net patient
service revenue.

Verrnont imposes a provider tax on home health agencies in the amount of 4.25% of Vermont
annual net patient revenue. In fiscal years 2022 and 2021, horne .health provider taxes paid were
$627,000 and $623,000, respectively.

Implicit Price Concessions

Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payer contracts are responsible for related co-
pays, co-insurance, and deductibles, which vary depending on the contractual obligations of
patients. The Health System also provides services to uninsured patients and offers those patients
a discount from standard charges. The Health System estimates the transaction price for patients
with co-pays, co-insurance,.and deductibles, and for those who are uninsured based on historical
collection experience and current market conditions. The discount offered to uninsured patients
reduces the transaction price at the time of billing. The uninsured and patient responsible accounts,
net of'discounts recorded, are further reduced through implicit price concessions based on
historical collection trends for similar accounts and other known factors that impact the estimation
process. Subsequent changes to the estimate of transaction price are generally recorded as
adjustments to net patient services revenue in the period of change.

The implicit price concessions included in estimating the transaction price represent the difference
between amounts billed to patients and the amounts the Health System expects to collect based on
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collection history with similar patients. Although outcomes vary, the Health System's policy is to
attempt to collect amounts due from patients, including co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles due
from insurance at the time of ..service while complying with all federal and state statutes and
regulations, including but not limited'to, the Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act
(EMTALA). Through various systems and processes the Health System estimates Medicare and
Medicaid net patient service revenue and cost report settlements and accrues final expected
settlements. For filed cost reports, the accrual is recorded based on those filings, subsequent
activity, and on historical trends and other relevant evidence. For periods in which a cost report is
yet to. be filed, accruals are based on estimates of what is expected to be reported, and any trends
and relevant evidence. Cost reports generally must,be filed within five months of the closing
period. - ' .

Settlemerits with third-party payers for retroactive revenue adjustments due to audits, reviews or
investigations are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the
estimated transaction price for providing patient care. using the most likely amount. These
settlements are estimated based on the terms of the payment agreement with the payer,
correspondence from the payer, and historical settlement activity, including assessments to ensure
that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved.
Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known, or as years
are settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews or investigations. As of June 30, 2022
and 2021, the Health System had reserves of $134,898,000 and $252,543,000, respectively,,
recorded in estimated third-party settlements. As of June 30, 2022 and 2021, estimated third-party
settlements includes $54,880,000 and $179,382,000 respectively, of Medicare accelerated arid
advanced payments, received as working capital support during the novel coronavirus ("CQVID-
19") outbreak. '

For the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, additional increases in revenue of $19,743,000 and
$4,287,000, respectively, were recognized due to changes in , estimates of implicit price
concessions for performance obligations satisfied in prior years.

Net operating revenues consist primarily of patient service revenues, principally for patients
covered by Medicare, Medicaid, managed care'and other health plans as well as patients covered
under the Health System's uninsured discount and charity care.programs.
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The table below shows the Health System's sources of total operating revenue and other support
presented at the net transaction price for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.

2022

(in thousands of dollars) PPS CAH Total

Hospital -  •

Medicare $ 542,292 . $  99,976 $  642,268

• Medicaid ' ' ' ' 158,121 15,739 173,860

Commercial 809,736 81,395 891,131

Self-pay 7,027 , 902 7,929

Subtotal 1,517,176 198,012 .1,715,188

Professional 470,559 40,186 .  510,745

Subtotal 1,987,735. 238,198 2,225,933

-  Home based care 17,304

Subtotal 2,243,237

Other revenue 528,762

Provider Relief Funds 98,829

Total operating revenue and other support $  2,870,828

2021

(in thousands of dollars) PPS ■ CAH Total

Hospital
Medicare $ 526,114 ■ $  81,979 J;  608,093

Medicaid ;• 144,434' 11,278 155,712

Commercial 793,274 73,388 866,662 .

Self-oav 4,419 (721) 3,698

Subtotal 1,468,241 165,924 1,634,165

Professional 446.181 37,935 484,116 .

Subtotal 1,914,422 203,859 2,118,281

Home based care 20,006

Subtotal 2,138,287

Other revenue 462,517

Provider Relief Funds 62,905

Total operating revenue and other support 3;  2,663,709

Medicald Enhancement Tax & Disproportionate Share Hospital
On May 22, 2018, the State of New Hampshire and all New Hampshire hospitals (Hospitals)
agreed to resolve disputed issues and enter into a seven-year agreement to stabilize
Disproportionate Share Hospital (DSH) payments, with provisions for alternative payments in the"
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event of legislative changes to the DSH program. Under the agreement, the State committed to
make DSH payments to the Hospitals in an amount no less than 86% of the Medicaid
Enhancement Tax (MET) proceeds collected in each fiscal year, in addition to providing for directed
payments or increased rates for Hospitals in an amount equal to 5% of MET proceeds collected
from state fiscal year (SFY) 2021 through SFY 2024. The agreement prioritizes DSH payments to
critical access hospitals in an amount equal to 75% of allowable uncompensated care {UCC), with
the remainder distributed to Hospitals without critical access designation in proportion to their
allowable UCC amounts.

During the years ended June 30, 2022 and .2021, the Health System received DSH payments of
approximately, $77,488,000 and $67,940,000, respectively. DSH payments are subject to audit
and, therefore, for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Health System recognized as
revenue DSH receipts of approximately $75,988,000 and approximately $61,602,000, respectively.

During the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Health.System recorded $82,725,000 and
$72,941,000, respectively, of State of NH MET and State of VT provider taxes. The taxes are
calculated at 5.4% for NH.and 6% for VT of certain patient service revenues. The Provider taxes
are included in operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in
Net Assets. , .

Accounts Receivable

The following table categorizes payors into four groups based on their respective percentages of
patient accounts receivable as of June 30, 2022 and 2021:

2022 2021

Medicare 38% 34%

Medicaid , 12% . 13% ' .
Commercial 38% 41%

Self Pay . ■ 12V

Total 100% 100%
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5. Investments

The composition of investments at June 30, 2022 and 2021 is set forth iri the following table;

(in thousands of dollars) . 2022 2021

Assets limited as to use

Internally designated by board

Cash and short-term investments $  31,130 $  24,692

U.S. government securities 126,222 157,373

Domestic corporate debt securities 234,490 322.616

Global debt securities 68,610 74,292

Domestic equities 198,742 247,486

International equities 63,634 81,060

Emerging markets equities 34,636 52,636

Global equities 73,035 79,296

Real Estate Investment Trust 2 422

Private equity funds 138,605 110,968

Hedge funds 55,069 -

Subtotal 1,024,175 1,150,841

Investments held by captive Insurance companies (Note 12)
U.S. government securities . ' - . 27,242 26,759

Domestic corporate debt securities 7,902 5,979

Global debt securities 7,595 6,617

Domestic equities 10,091 11,396

International equities 4,692 6,488

Subtotal 57,522 57,239

Held by trustee under Indenture agreement (Note 9).
Cash and short-term investments 99,397 170,399

Total assets limited as to use 1,181,094 1,378,479

Other Investments for restricted activities

Cash and.short-term investments 8,463 13,400

U.S. government securities 27,600 28,330

Domestic corporate debt securities 37,343 40,676

Global debt securities 10.059 8,953

Domestic equities 34,142 33,634

International equities ,  10,698 9,497

Emerging markets equities, 5,587 5,917

Global equities 11,153 8,755

Real Estate Investment Trust 19 . 21

Private equity funds 21,166 - 12,251

Hedge funds 8,852 6,557

Other 34 44

Total other investments for restricted activities 175,116 .  168,035

Total investments $ 1,356,210 $ 1,546,514
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Investments are accounted for using either the fair value method or equity method of accounting;'
as appropriate on a case by case basis. The fair value method is used for all debt securities and
equity securities that are traded on'active markets and are valued at prices that are readily
available in those markets. The equity method is used when investments are made in

pooled/commingled investment funds that represent investments where shares or units are owned
of pooled funds rather than the underlying securities in that fund. These pooled/commingled funds
make underlying.investments in securities from the asset classes listed above.

The following tables summarize the investrrients by the accounting method utilized as of June 30,
•2022 and 2021. . Accounting standards require disclosure of additional information for those
securities accounted for using the fair value method, as shown in Note 7.

2022

(in thousands .of dollars) Fair Value Eauitv Total

Cash and short-term investments $  138,990 $ <P  138,990

U.S. government securities 181,064 181,064

Domestic corporate debt securities. 118,642 16i;093 , .  279,735

Global debt securities 57,558 28,706 86,264

Domestic equities 191,767 51,208 242,975 •

international equities 47,631 31,393 79,024

Emerging markets equities 298 39,926 40,224

Global equities - 84,187 , 84,187

Real Estate Investment Trust 21 21

Private equity funds 159,771 ■ 159,771

Hedge funds 443 ,  63,478 63,921

Other 34 - 34

Total investments $  . 736,448 $ 619,762 :E  1,356,210

2021

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Eauitv Total

Cash and short-term investments $ ■ 208,491 $ $ 208,491

U.S. government securities 212,462 - 212,462

Domestic corporate debt securities 191,112 078,159 369,271

Global debt securities 55'.472 34,390 89,862

Domestic equities .  ■ 225,523 66,993 292,516
International equities 55,389 41,656 97,045
Emerging markets equities 1,888 56,665 58,553

Global equities ' - 88,051 88,051

Real Estate Investment Trust 443 - 443

. Private equity funds 123,219 123,219

Hedge funds 446 6,111 6,557
Other 44 44.

Total investments $  951,270 $ 595,244 $ 1,546,514
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For the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, investment (loss) income is reflected in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets as other
operating revenue of approximately $857,000 and $930,000, respectively," and as non-operating
(losses) gains of approximately ($78,744,000) arid $203,776,000, respectively.

Private equity limited partnership shares are not_eJigible for redemption from the fund or general
partner. It is the intent of the Health System to hold these investments until the fund has fully
distributed all proceeds to the limited partners and the term of the partnership agreements expire.
Under the terms of these agreements, the Health System has committed to contribute a specified
level of capital over a defined period of time. Through June 30. 2022 and 2021, the Health System
has outstanding commitments of $75,070,000 and $47,419,000, respectively.

6. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment consists of the following at June 30, 2022 and 2021;

(in thousands of dollars) . 2022 2021

Land

Construction in progress

Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Equipment

Subtotal property, plant, and equipment

Less accumulated depreciation

Total property, plant, and equipment, net

$  40,749 ■;$  40,749
163,145 80,231
44,834 43,927

■  984,743 955,094
1,042,582 993,899

2,276,053 2,113,900

1,511,213 1,433,467

$  764,840 ;$  680,433

As of June 30. 2022, construction in progress primarily consists of three projects; an in-patient
tower, an emergency department (ED) expansion, and a central pharmacy/supply chain facility
renovation. The estimated cost to complete the in-patient tower is $52,400,000 with an anticipated
completion date occurring in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2023. The estimated cost to complete the ED
expansion is $2,000,000 with an expected completion date occurring in the first quarter of fiscal
2023. The estimated cost to complete the central pharmacy/supply chain facility is $1,600,000 with
an expected completion date occurritig in the first quarter of fiscar2023.

The construction in progress as of June 30, 2021, included the Manchester Ambulatory Surgical
Center (ASC) and.the in-patient tower in Lebanon, NH. The ASC was fully operational in October
2021.

Capitalized interest of $6,853,000 and $5,127,000 is included in construction in progress as of June!
30, 2022 and 2021; respectively.

Depreciation expense included in operating and non-operating activities was $83,661,000 and
$86,011,000 for 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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7. Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies for assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis;

Cash and Short-Term Investments

Consists-of money market funds and are valued at net asset value (NAV) reported by the financial
institution and cash which will be used for future investment opportunities.

Domestic, Emerging Markets and International Equities
Consists of actively traded equity securities and mutual funds which are valued at the closing price
reported on an active market on which the individual securities are traded (Level 1 measurements).

U.S. Government Securities, Domestic Corporate and Global Debt Securities
•Consists of U.S. government securities, domestic corporate and global debt securities, mutual
funds and pooled/commingled funds that invest in U.S. government securities, domestic corporate
and global debt securities. Securities are valued based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes ,
where available (Level 1 measurement). If quoted market prices are not available, fair values.are
based on quoted market prices of comparable instrurnents or, if necessary, matrix pricing from a
third party pricing vendor to determine fair value (Level 2 measurements). Matrix prices are based

' on quoted prices for securities with similar coupons, ratings and niaturities, rather than on specific
bid's and offers for a designated security. Investments in mutual funds are.measured based on the
quoted NAV as of the close of business in the respective active market (Level 1 measurements).
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Investments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. The follov/ing tables set forth the consolidated financial assets and
liabilities that were accounted.for at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2022 and 2021:

2022

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets.

Investments "

Cash and short term investments :$  138,990 3i  ■ - ■ 3J  ■ - $ 138,990

U.S. government securities 181,064. - •  - 181,064

Domestic corporate debt securities 1,768 116,874 •• 118,642

Global debt securities 24,745 32,813, - 57,558

Domestic equities 187,063 4,704 - 191,767

International equities 47,631 - - 47:631

Emerging market equities 298 - - 298

Real estate investment trust 21 . - - 21

Hedge funds 443 - -  . - 443

Other -  • 34 - 34

Total fair value investments 582,023 154,425 _ 736,448

Deferred compensation plan assets
Cash and short-term investments 8,053 ■ - 8,053

U.S. government securities 36 ■ 36

Domestic corporate debt securities ■  10,874 .  - - 10,874

Global debt securities 964 .

- .  964

Domestic equities 33,742 - - 33,742

International equities 4,911 •  ■ - - , 4,911

Emerging market equities 19 - 19

Real estate 12 - - 12

Multi strategy fund 57,964 - - 57,964

Total deferred compensation
plan assets 116,575' - - 116,575

Beneficial interest in trusts - 16,051 16,051

Total assets iS  698,598 3;  154,425. 3;  16,051 $;  869,074
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2021

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total .

Assets

Investments
208,491,Cash and short term investments tp  208,491 $;  ■- 5;  - $

U.S. government securities 212,462 • - 212,462
Domestic corporate debt securities 36,163 .154,949 - 191,112

Global debt securities '27,410 28,062 - 55,472-
Domestic equities • 220,434 5,089 - .  225,523

International equities 55,389 55,389

Emerging market equities 1,888 • 1,888

Real estate investment trust 443 - 443

Hedge funds' -446 - - ' 446

Other 9" 35 - 44

Total fair value investments ■763,135 188,135 ■ 951,270

Deferred compensation plan-assets
6,099Cash and short-term investments 6,099 -

U.S.,government securities 48 .  - • 48

Domestic corporate debt securities 10,589 - - 10,589

Global debt securities 1,234 -
- 1,234

Domestic equities 37,362 -
- 37,362-

International equities 5,592 - -
5,592

Emerging market equities 39 - -
39

Real estate 15 - .  - 15

Multi strategy fund 65,257 - -
65,257

Guaranteed contract - - - -

Total deferred compensation
plan assets - - 126,235 - - 126,235

Beneficial interest in trusts
(

- 10,796 10,796

Total assets $- 889,370 :p  188,135 . :$  10,796 3)  1,088,301

The following tables set forth the financial instruments classified by the Health System within Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy defined above as of June 30, 2022 and 2021.

2022

Beneficial
Interestin
Perpetual

(in thousands of dollars) Trust
Beginning of year balance $ 10,796
Net realized/unrealized gains 5,255
End of year balance $ 16,051
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2021

(in thousands of dollars)

Beginning of year balance
Net realized/unrealized gains (losses)

End of year balance

Beneficial

Interest in

Perpetual Guaranteed

Trust Contract Total

$  9,202. $  92 S  9.294

.  1,594 (92) 1,502

$  ■ 10,796 $ $. , 10,796.

There were no transfers into and put of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.

8. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

fsiet assets with donor restrictions are ayailable for the following purposes at June 30, 2022 and
2021:

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Investments held in perpetuity $ 84,117 $ 64,498
Healthcare services 36,123 38,869

Health education 27,164 26,934

Research 27,477 ,24,464

Charity care 12,155 15,377
Other 8,639 7,215

Purchase of equipment . 3,828 6,913
Total net assets with donor restrictions $ 199,503 $ 184,270

.  Income earned on donor restricted net assets held in perpetuity is available for these purposes.

9. Board Designated and Endowment Funds

. -.Net assets include funds established for a variety of purposes including both donor-restricted
endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as endowments. Net
assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of Trustees to
function as endowments, are classified and reported based oh the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions.

The Health: System has interpreted the NH and VT Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Acts (UPMIFA or Act) for donor-restricted endowment funds as requiring the preservation of
the original value of gifts, as of the gift date, to donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit
donor stipulations to the contrary. The Health System's net assets with donor restrictions, which
are to be held in perpetuity, consist of (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent
endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to be held in perpetuity, and (c)
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accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the
applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund, if any.
Collectively these amounts are referred to as.the historic dollar value of the fund.

Net assets without donor restrictions include funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function
as endowments, the income from certain donor-restricted endowment funds, and any accumulated
investment return thereon, which pursuant to donor intent may be expended based on trustee or
management designation. Net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature, .either
restricted by time or purpose, include funds appropriated for expenditure pursuant to endowment
and investment spending policies, certain expendable endowment gifts from donors, and any
retained income and appreciation on donor-restricted endowment funds, which are restricted by the
donor to a specific purpose or by law. When the restrictions on these funds have been met, the
funds are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions.

In accordance with the Act, the Health System considers the following factors in making a
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: the duration and
preservation of the fund; the purposes of the donor-restricted endowment fund; general economic
conditions; the possible effect of inflation and deflation; the expected total return from income and
the appreciation of investments; other resources available; and investment policies.

The Health System has endowment investment and spending policies that attempt to provide a
predictable stream of funding for programs supported by its endowment while ensuring that the
purchasing power does not decline over time: The Health System targets a diversified asset
allocation that places emphasis on investments in domestic and international equities, fixed
incorne, private equity,' and hedge fund strategies to achieve its long-terrn return' objectives within
prudent risk constraints. The Health System's Investment Committee reviews the policy portfolio
asset allocations, exposures, and risk profile on an ongoing basis.

The Health System, as a policy, may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an
endowment fund as the institution determines is prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and
duration for which the endowment is established, subject to donor intent expressed in the gift
instrument and the standard of prudence prescribed by the Act.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment

funds may fall below their original contributed value. Such market losses were not material as of
June 30, 2022 and 2021.
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Endowment net asset composition by type' of fund consists of the following at June 30, 2022 and
2021:

2022

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $  ' 107,590 :£  107,590

Board-designated endowment funds 41,344 •  - • 41,344

Total endowed net assets $  41,344 $  107,590 ■ :£  148,934

2021

Without With

• Donor Donor

(in thousands of.dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $  108,213 :£  108,213

Board-designated endowment funds -  41,728 41,728

Total endowed net assets $  41,728 S  108,213 J£  149,941

Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 are as fpllc

2022

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Beginning of year balances $  41,728 $. 108,213 3;  149,941

Net investment return (1,065) (3,998) (5,063)
Contributions - 12,950 12,950

Transfers 795 (7,105) (6.310)
Release of appropriated funds, (114) (2,470) (2,584)

End of year balances $  41,344 $  107,590 3;  148,934

End of year balances 107,590

Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 14,903

Net assets with donor restrictions $  122,493
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2021

Without With

Donor Donor;
(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Beginning of year balances $  33,714 $  80,039 3,  113,753

Net investment return 7,192 17,288 24,480.

Contributions 894 13,279 14,173

Transfers - 418 418

Release of appropriated funds (72) (2,811) (2,883)

End of year balances $  41,728 $. 1,08,213 3;  149,941

End of year balances 108,213

Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 9,721

Net assets with donor restrictipns $  117,934
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10. Long-Term Debt

A summary of obligated group debt at June 30, 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Variable rate Issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority (NHHEFA) Revenue Bonds
Series 2018A, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2037 (1) 3i  83,,355 35  83,355

Fixed rate issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority Revenue Bonds

Series 2018B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2048 (1). 303,,102 303,102

Series 2020A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2059 (2) 125,,000 125i000

Series 2017A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2040 (3) 122,,435 122,435

Series 2017B, principal rhaturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2031 (3) 109,,800 109,800

Series 2019A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2043 (4) 99,,165 '  99,165

Series 20180, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2030 (5) 23,950 24,425

Series 2012, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through July 2039 (6) 22,605 23,470

Series 20148, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2033 (7) 14,530 14,530

Series 2016B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2045 {8) ■10 ,970 10,970
Series 2014A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2022 (7) 4 ,810 12,385

Note payable
Note payable to a financial institution due in monthly interest
only payments through May 2035 (9) 125 .000 125,000

Total obligated group debt 3;■ 1,044 ,722 :1  1,053,637
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A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Other

Mortgage note payable to the US Dept of Agriculture;
monthly payments of $10,892 include interest of 2.375% ••
through November 2046 $ 2,417 $ 2,489
Note payable to a financial institution with entire
principal due June 2034; collateralized by land
and building. The note payable is interest free
Note payable to a financial institution payable in interest free
monthly installments through December 2024;
collateralized by associated equipment

Total nonobligated group debt

Total obligated group debt

Total long-term debt

Add: Original issue premium and discounts, net

Less: Current portion
Debt issuance costs, net

. Total long-term debt, net

.247 273

55 147.'

2,719 2,909

1,044,722 1,053,637

1,047,441 1,056,546

83,249 ,  86,399

6,596 9,407

6,806 7,181

$  .1,117,288 ;$  1,126,357

Aggregate annual principal payments for the next five years ending June 30 and thereafter are as
follows:

.  (in thousands of dollars) 2022

.  2023 $ 6,596

2024 15,207

2025 19,362

2026 20,209

2027 20,915

. Thereafter 965,152 .

Total ' $ 1,047,441

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Obligated Group (DHOG) Debt
MHMH established the DHOG for the purpose of issuing bonds financed through NHHEFA or.the
"Authority". The members of the obligated group consist of D-HH, MHMH, DHC, Cheshire, NLH,
MAHHC, and, APD. D-HH is designated as the obligated group.agent.

Revenue bonds, issued by members of the DHOG, are administered through notes registered in
the name of the Bond Trustee and"in accordance with the terms of a Master Trust Indenture. The
Master Trust Indenture contains provisions permitting the addition, withdrawal, or consolidation of
members of the DHOG under, certain conditions. The notes constitute a joint and several obligation
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of the members of the DHOG (and any other future members of the DHOG) and are equally and
ratably coliateralized by a pledge of the members' gross receipts. The DHOG is also subject to
certain annual covenants under the Master Trust Indenture, the most restrictive is the Annual Debt
Service Coverage Ratio (1.1 Ox).

(1) Series 2018A and Series 2018B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2Q18A and Series 20188, in February
2018. The Series 2018A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2037 and were
used primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and Series 2016A revenue bonds. -The
Series 2018B revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2048, and were used
primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and Series 2016A revenue bonds, revolving line of
credit. Series 2012 bank loan, and the Series 2015A and Series 2016A swap terminations. The
interest on the Series 2018A revenue bonds is variable, with a current interest rate of 5.00%.
The interest on the Series 20188 revenue bonds is fixed, with.an interest rate of 4.18%, and
matures in variable amounts through 2048.

(2) Series 2020A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, .Series 2020A, iri February 2020. The Series
2020A revenue bonds mature in variabl^ amounts through 2059 and the proceeds are being
used primarily to fund the construction of a 212,000 square foot .inpatient pavilion in Lebanon,
NH, as well as various equipment. The interest on the Series 2020A revenue bonds is fixed,
with an interest rate of 5.00%.

(3) Series 2017A and Series 2017B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A and Series 20178, in Decerhber,
2017. The Series 2017A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2040 and were
used primarily to refund Series 2009 arid Series 2010 revenue bonds. The Series 20178
revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2031 and were used to refund Series
2012A and Series 20128 revenue, bonds. The interest on the Series 2017A revenue bonds is
fixed, with an interest rate of 5.00%. The interest on the Series 20178 revenue bonds is fixed,
with an interest rate of 2.54%.

(4) Series 2019A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2019A, in October 2019. .The Series
.2019A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2043 and were used primarily to
fund the construction of a 91,000 square foot expansion of facilities in Manchester, NH, to
include an Ambulatory . Surgical Center as well as various equipment.. The interest on the

• Series 2019A revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.00%.

(5) Series 2018C Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018C, in August 2018. The Series 201BC
revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2030 and were used primarily to refinance
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the Series 2010 revenue bonds. The interest on the Series is fixed, with an interest rate of
3.22%. •

(6) Series 2012 Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2012,' in November 2012. The Series
2012 revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2039 and were used to refund 1998
and 2009 Series revenue bonds,, finance the settlement cost of the interest rate swap, and

finance the purchase of certain equipment and renovations. The revenue bonds have fixed
interest coupon rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0% (a net interest cost of 3.96%).

(7) Series 2614A and Series 2014B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds. Series 2014A and Series 2014B, in August 2014.
The Series 2014A revenue bonds mature in 2022. The Series 2014B revenue bonds mature at

various dates through 2033. The-proceeds from the Series 2014A and 2014B revenue bonds
were used partially to refund the Series 2009 revenue bonds and to cover cost of issuance.
Interest on the 2014A revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 2.63%. Interest on-the

Series 2014B revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.00%.

(8) Series 2016B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2016B, in July 2016, through a private
•  placement with a financial institution. The Series 20168 revenue bonds mature at various
'  dates through 2045 and were.used to finance certain 2016 projects. The Series 20168 is fixed,

with an interest rate.of 1;78%.

(9) Note payable to flnanclal lnstitutlon

The DHOG issued a note payable to TD Bank in May 2020; Issued in response to the COVID-
19 pandemic, the proceeds from the note will be used to fund working capital, as needs require.
The note matures at various dates through 2035 and is fixed, with an interest rate of 2.56%. .

Outstanding joint and several indebtedness of the DHOG at June 30, 2022 and 2021 is $1.044,722
and $1,053,637, respectively.

The Health System indenture agreements require establishment and maintenance of debt service
reserves and other trustee held funds. Trustee" held funds of $99,397,000 and $170,399,000.at
June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, are classified as assets limited as to use in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets (Note 5). In addition, debt service reserves of
approximately $6,674,000 and $8,035,000 at June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, are classified
as other current assets in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The debt service
reserves are mainly comprised of escrowed construction funds at June 30, 2022 and'2021.

For the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 interest expense on the Health System's long-term
debt is reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net
Assets as operating expense of approximately $32,113,000 and $30,787,000, respectively, and
other non-operating losses of $3,782,000 and,$3,782,000, respectively, net of amounts capitalized.
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11. Employee Benefits

Eligible employees of the Health System are covered under various defined benefit and/or defined
contribution plans, in addition, certain members, provide postretirement medical and life insurance
benefit plans to certain active and former employees \A/ho meet eligibility requirements. The
•postretirement medical and life plans are not funded.

The Health System's defined benefit plans have been frozen and, therefore, there are no remaining
participants earning benefits in any of the Health System's defined benefit plans.

For the year ended June 30, 2021. the Health System executed the settlement of obligations, due
to retirees in the defined benefit plans, through bulk lump sum offerings or purchases of annuity
contracts. The annuity purchases follow guidelines established by the Department of Labor (DOL).
The Health System-anticipates continued consideration and/or^ implementation of additional
settlements over the next several years.

Defined Benefit Plans

Net periodic pension expense included in employee benefits expense, in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets, is comprised of the following components
for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation $ 36,722 $ 36,616
Expected return on plan assets (65,917) (63,261)
Net loss amortization 13,139 14,590

Total net periodic pension expense $ (16,056) $ (12,055)

The following assumptions were used to determine net periodic pension expense as of June 30,"
2022 and 2021;

2022 2021

Discount rates -3.30% 3.00-3.10%

Rate of increase in compensation N/A N/A
Expected long-term rates of return on plan assets 7.50% 7.60%
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The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in the Health System's
consolidated financial statements for the defined benefit pension plans at June.30, 2022 and 2021:

(in thousands of dollars).

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation, beginning of year

2022 2021

$  1,140,221 $ 1,209,100

Interest cost 36,722 . 36,616

Benefits paid {64,864) ■ (52,134)

Actuarial loss (.183,193) (22,411)

Settlements. - , (30,950)

Benefit obligation, end of year 938,886 ■ 1,140,221

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year 958,864 929,453

Actual return on plan assets (169,405) 87,446

Benefits paid'. (54,864) (52,134)
Employer contributions ^ 12,500 25,049

Settlements - (30,950)

Fair value of plan assets, end of year 747,095 958,864

Funded status of the plans (191,791) . (181,357)

Less; Current portion of liability for pension - (46).

Long-term portion of liability for pension . (191,791) (181,311)

Liability for pension $  (191,791) ■ $ (181,357)

As of June 30. 2022 and 2021, the.liability for pension is included in the liability for pension and.
other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets..

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic pension expense and included in the change in net assets
without donor-restrictions include $519,946,000 and $481,073,000 of net actuarial loss as of

June 30, 2022 and 2021. respectively.

-The estimated amounts to be amortized from net assets without donor restrictions into net periodic
pension expense in fiscal year 2022 for net actuarial losses is $13,139,000.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plans was $939,000,000 and
$1,140,000,000 at June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

35



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2022 and 2021

The following table sets forth the assumptions used to determine the accumulated benefit
obligation at June 30, 2022 and 2021:

2022 2021

Discount rates 4.40-5.10%. 3.30%

Rate of increase in compensation N/A N/A

The primary investrnent objective for the defined benefit plans' assets is to support the pension
liabilities of the pension plans for employees of the Health System, by providing long-term capital
appreciation and by also using a Liability Driven Investing ("LDI") strategy to partially hedge the
-impact fluctuating interest rates have ori the value of the pension plan's liabilities. As of June 30,
2022, it is expected that the LDI strategy will hedge approximately 70% of the interest rate risk
associated with pension liabilities. As of June 30, 2021, the expected LDI hedge was
approximately 75%. To achieve the appreciation and hedging objectives, the pension plans utilize,
a diversified structure of asset classes. The asset classes are designed to achieve stated
performance objectives, measured on a total return basis which includes income plus realized and
unrealized gains and losses. '

The range of target allocation percentages and the target allocations for the various investments
are as follows:

Range of

Target Target

Allocations Allocations

Cash and short-term Investments 0-5% 3%

U.S. government securities 0-10 5

Domestic debt securities 20-58 ,42-

Global debt securities 6-26 4

Domestic equities 5-35 17

International equities 5-15 "  7

Emerging market equities 3-13 4

Global Equities 0-10 ■■ 6

Real estate investment trust funds Q-5 1

Private equity funds C^5 0

Hedge funds . 5-18 11

To the extent an asset class falls outside of its target range on a quarterly basis, the Health System
shall determine appropriate steps, as it deems necessary, to rebalance the asset class.
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The Boards of Trustees of the Health System, as plan sponsors, oversee the design, structure, and
prudent professional management of the Health System's pension plans' assets, in accordance
with Board approved investment policies, roles, responsibilities, • and authorities and more
specifically the following:

•  Establishing and modifying asset class targets with Board approved policy ranges,

•  Approving the asset class rebalancing procedures,

• • Hiring and terminating investment managers, and

•  Monitoring performance of the investment managers, custodians and investment consultants.

The hierarchy and inputs to valuation techniques to measure fair value of the Plans' assets are the
same as outlined in Note 7. In addition, the estimation of fair value of investments in private equity
and hedge funds for which the underlying securities do not have a readily determinable value is
made using the NAV per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient. The Health System's
pension plans own interests in both private equity and hedge funds rather than in securities
underlying each fund and, therefore, the Health System generally considers such investments as
Level 3, even though the underlying securities may not. be difficult to value or may be readily
.marketable.

The following table sets forth the Health System's pension plans' investments and deferred
compensation plan assets that were accounted for at fair value as of June 30, 2022 and 2021:

2022

Redemption Days'

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liauidation Notice

Investments

Cash and short-term investments $ ■ $ 16,030 $ $  16,030 Daily .  1

U.S. government securities 124,686 - - 124,686 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic, debt securities 17,530 .226,107 - 243,637 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities - 24,136 - 24,136 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 104,070 31,324 - 135,394 Daily-Monthly 1-10

International equities •  15,558 20,406 - 35,964 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities - 25,487 -
25,487 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Global equities - 54,787 - 54,787 Daily-Monthly 1-17

REIT funds - - - - Daily-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds . . 14 14 See Note 5 ■ See Note 5

Hedge funds - - 86,960 86,960 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Total investments S  261,844 $398,277 $ 86,974. S 747,095
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2021

Redemption Days'

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 . Total or Liauidatibn Notice

Investments

Cash and short-term investments $ .  - $ 53,763 $ $  53,763 Dally 1

U.S. government securities 52,945 - 52,945 Daily-Monlhly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 140.029 296,709 436,738 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities - 40,877 40,877 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 144,484 40;925 185,409 Daily-Monlhly. 1-10

International equities 17,767. 51,819 69,586 Daity-Monthly . -1-11

Emerging market equities - 43,460 43,460 Daily-Monthly . 1-17

Global equities - 57,230 57,230 Daily-Monthly 1-17

REIT funds - 3,329 3,329 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds 15 15 See Note 5 See Note

Hedge funds - 15,512 ,  15,512 <Ouarterly-Annual ' 60-96 ,

Total investments $ 355,225 $ 588,112 $ 15,527 $ 958,864

The following tables present additional information about.the changes in Level 3 assets measured
at fair value for the'years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021;

2022

Private

(in thousands of dollars) Hedge Funds Egultv Funds Total

Beginning of year balances $  15,512 gJ  15 $  ■ 15,527

Purchases 81,400 - 81,400

' Sales (2,152) (2,152)

Net unrealized losses (7,800) (1) (7,801)

End of year balances- $  86,960 3>  14 $  86,974 ,

2021

Private

(in thousands of dollars) Hedge Funds Eguitv Funds Total

Beginning of year balances $  47,351 :E  17 $  47,368

. Sales (38,000) - (38,000)

Net unrealized gains (losses) 6,161 (2) 6,159

End of year balances $  15,512 :E  15 $  ) ■ 15,527

The total aggregate net unrealized (losses) gains included in the fair value of the Level 3

investments as of June 30, 2022 and 2021 were approximately ($543,000) and $7,635,000,
respectively. There were transfers out of Level 3 measurements during the years ended June 30,
2022 and 2021. The hedge funds' liquidation will be completed by the end of Fiscal Year 2023.

There were no transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.
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The weighted average asset allocation, by asset category, for the Health System's pension plans is
as follows at June 30, 2022 and 2021;

2022 2021

Cash and short-term investments 2% 6%

U.S. government securities 17 .  5

Domestic debt securities 33 46

Global debt securities .  3 4

Domestic equities -18 19

International equities . 5 7

Emerging market equities 3 5

Global equities, 7 6

Hedge funds 12 2'

Total ,  100% 100%

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is reviewed annually, taking into consideration
the asset allocation, historical returns on the types of assets held, and the current economic
environment. Based on these factors, it is expected that the pension assets will earn an average of
7.50% per annum., -

The Health System is expected to contribute approximately $12,500,000 to the Plans in 2023
however actual contributions may vary from expected amounts.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid for the years ending June 30 and thereafter:

■  ) ■
(in thousands of dollars)

■  2023 $ 124.252

2024 56,264

.  . 2025 57,774

2026 59,040

2027 60,176

2028-2032 310,262 -

The Cheshire Medical Center plan was terminated effective June 30, 2022, pending regulatory
approvals. Following regulatory approval, the plan sponsor intends to distribute assets and settle
plan obligations through a lump sum offering to active and terminated vested participants and a
group annuity contract will be purchased for any participant that doesn't elect the lump sum, along
with all participants currently in pay status. It is anticipated that benefits wiil be distributed by June
30, 2023. The benefit obligation for the plan reflects anticipated disbursement costs and a terminal
cash contribution to fully fund benefits will be made at that time. The obligations reflect the cost of
providing the lump sums and group annuity, described above, as weli as administrative costs and a
terminal contribution which will be necessary to fund all of the costs of terminating the plan. It is
expected that the obligations will be settled by June 30, 2023 and the plan termination liability will
reflect economic conditions, lurhp sum election rates and annuity pricing at that time. As a result,
the final plan termination liability may be different from the amounts shown in this report..
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Defined Contribution Plans

The Health System has an. employer-sponsored 401(a) plan for certain of its members, under
which the employer makes base match contributions based on specified percentages of
compensation and employee deferrar amounts. Total employer contributions to the plan of
approximately $64,946,000 and $60,268,000 in 2022 and 2021, respectively, are included in
employee benefits expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Changes in Net Assets.

Various 403(b) and tax-sheltered annuity plans are available to employees'of the Health System.
Plan specifications vary by member and plan. No employer contributions were made to any of
these plans in 2022 and 2021.

Postretirement Medical and Life Insurance Benefits

The Health System has postretirement medical and life insurance benefit plans covering certain of
its active and former employees. The plans generally provide medical or medical and life insurance
benefits to certain retired employees who meet eligilDility requirements. The plans are not funded.

Net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit (income) cost Is comprised of the components
listed below for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Service cost $ 456 $ 533

Interestcost 1,394 .1,340

Net prior service income - (3,582)

Net loss amortization . 752 738

Total $ 2,602 $ (971)
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The following table sets forth the accumulated postretirement medical and life insurance benefit
obligation amounts recognized in the Health System's consolidated financial statements at

30. 2022 and 2021:

(in thousands of dollars) ^  2022 2021

Change In benefit obligation
Accumulated benefit obligation, beginning of year $■ 46,863 $  48,078
Service cost 456 533'
Interest cost 1,394 1,340
Benefits paid (3.401) (3,439)
Actuarial loss (4,964) 383

Employer contributions .(33) (32)

Accumulated benefit obligation, end of year 40,315 46,863

Current portion of liability for postretirement
medical and life benefits $  (3.500) $  (3,422)
Long-term portion of liability for .
postretirement medical and life benefits (36.815) (43,441)

, Funded status of the plans and liability for
postretirement medical and life benefits $  (40,315) $  (46,863)

As of June 30, 2022 and 2021, the liability for postretirement medical and life insurance benefits is
included in the liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic income for the postretirement medical and life insurance
benefit plans, included in the change in net assets without donor restrictions, are as follows:

'■> • .

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Net actuarial loss 4,445 9,981

Total $ 4,445 $ 9,981

The estimated amount of net losses that will be amortized from net assets without donor
restrictions into net periodic postretirelnent income in fiscal year 2023 is approximately $62,000.
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The following future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are
expected to be paid for the years ending June 30, 2022 and thereafter;

(in thousands of dollars)

2023 - - . ■ $ 3,500

2024 3,721

2025 " 3,725

2026 3,720

2027 ■ 3,700

2028-2032 16,820

In determining the accumulated benefit obligation for the postretirement medical and life insurance
plans, the Health System used a discount^ rates of 5,10% in 2022, and an assumed healthcare cost
trend rate of 7.00%, trending down to 5.00% in 2029 and thereafter.

12. Professional and General Liability Insurance Coverage

D-H, along with Dartmouth College, Cheshire, NLH, APD, MAHHC, and VNH are provided
professional and general liability insurance on a claims-made basis through Hamden Assurance
Risk Retention Group, Inc. (RRG), a VT captive insurance company. RRG cedes the majority of
this risk to Hamden Assurance Company Limited (HAC), a captive insurance company domiciled in
Bermuda, and HAC cedes a portion of this risk to a variety of commercial reinsurers. D-H has
majority ownership interest in both HAC and RRG. The insurance program provides coverage to
the covered institutions, named insureds.and their employees on a modified claims-made basis,

■ which means coverage is triggered when claims are made. Premiums and related insurance
deposits are actuarially determined, based oh asserted liability claims adjusted for future
development. The reserves for outstanding losses are recorded on an undiscounted basis.

Selected financial data of HAC and RRG, taken from the latest available financial statements at

June 30, 2022 and 2021, are summarized as follows:

2022

HAC RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets $  79,831 $  2,245 $ 82,076.

Shareholders' equity .  13,620 50 13,670

2021

HAC RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets $  71,772 $  3,583 $ '75,355

Shareholders' equity 13,620 50 . 13,670
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13. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation
The Health System Is involved in various malpractice claims and legal proceedings of a nature
considered normal to its business. The claims are in various stages and some may ultimately be
brought to trial. While It Is not feasible to predict or determine the outcome.of any of these claims,
it is the opinion of management that the final outcome of these claims will not have a material effect
on the consolidated financial position of the Health System.

Line of Credit

The Health System has entered Into a loan agreement with a financial institution, establishing
access to revolving loans ranging from $10,000,000 up to $30,000,000. Interest is variable and
determined using the Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index or the Wall Street Journal Prime
Rate. The loan agreement Is due to expire March 29, 2023.' There was no outstanding balance
under the line of credit as of June "30, 2022" and 2021. Interest expense was approximately
$91,000 and $28,000, respectively, and Is Included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations
and Changes in Net Assets.

14. Functional Expenses

Operating expenses are presented by functional classification In accordance with the overall
service missions of the Health System. Each functional classification displays all expenses related
to the underlying operations by natural classification. Salaries, employee benefits, medical supplies
and medications, and purchased services and other expenses are generally considered variable
and are allocated to the mission that best aligns to the type of service provided. Medlcald
enhancement tax Is allocated to program services. Interest expense is allocated based on usage of
debt-financed space. Depreciation and amortization is allocated based on square footage and
specific identification of equipment used by department.
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2022:

2022

Program Management

(in thousands of dollars) Services and General Fundraisina Total

Operating expenses

Salaries $ 1,129,572 $  184,533 $ ,1,302 $ 1,315,407

Employee benefits , ' 281,455 40,887 228 322,570

Medical supplies and medications 645,437 3,835 - .  649,272

Purchased services and other' 255,639 142,241 5,982. .  403,862

Medicaid enhancement tax 82,725 - - 82,725

Depreciation and amortization 42,227 ■  .44,675 56, 86,958

Interest 9,116 22,987 10 32,113

Total operating expenses $ 2,446,171 $  439,'158 " 7,578 $ 2,892,907

Program Management

Services and General Fundraisina Total

Non-operating income

Employee benefits $  12,144 $  1,755 $ 11 $  13,910

Total non-operating income $  12,144 $  1,755 $ 11 $  ' 13,910
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2021:

2021

Program Management

(in thousands of dollars) Services and General Fundralslna Total

Operating expenses
$ 1,185,910.Salaries $ 1,019,272 $  164,937 ■ $ 1,701

Employee benefits 212,953 88,786 403 302,142

Medical supplies arid medications 540,541 ■ 4,982 - 545,523

Purchased sen/ices and other 252,705 125,931 5,313 383,949

Medicaid enhancement tax 72,941 •  -• - 72,941

Depreciation and amortization 38,945 49,943 33 88,921

Interest 8,657 22,123 7 30.787

Total operating expenses $ 2,146,014 $  456,702 $  7,457 $ 2,610,173

1

Program Management

Services and General Fundralslna Total

Non»operatlng income

Employee benefits $  9,200 $  4,354 $  5 $  13,559

Total rion-operating Income $  9,200- $  ■ 4,354 $■ 5 $  13,559

15. Liquidity

The Health System is substantially supported by cash generated from operations. In addition, the
Health System holds financial assets for specific purposes which are limited as to use. Thus,
certain financial assets reported on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets may not be
available for general expenditure within one year of the balance sheet date.

45



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2022 and 2021

The Health System's financial assets available at June 30, 2022 and 2021, to meet cash needs for
general expenditures within one year of June 30. 2022 and 2021, are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Cash and cash equivalents . $ 191,9i29 $ 374,928
Patient accounts receivable 251,250 232,161
Assets limited as to use 1,181,094 1,378,479

Other investments for restricted activities ■ 175,116 168,035

Total financial assets $ 1,799,389 $ 2,153,603

. Less: Those unavailable for general expenditure •
. within one year:

Investments held by captive insurance companies' 57,522 57,239
Investments for restricted activities 175,116 168,035
Bond proceeds,held for capital projects 99,397 178,434
Other investments with liquidity horizons

greater than one year 159,792 111,390
Total financial assets available within one year $ 1,307,562 $ 1,638,505

The Health System generated cash flow from operations of approximately $(123,525,000) and
$95,740,000 for the years ended ,June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2021, respectively. In addition, the
Health System's liquidity management plan includes investing excess daily cash in intermediate or
long term investments based on anticipated liquidity needs. Jbe Health System has an available
line of credit of up to $30,000,000 which it can draw upon as needed to meet its liquidity needs.
See Note 13 for further details on the line of credit.

16. Lease Commitments

D-HH determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. Right-of-use
assets represent our right to use the underlying assets for the lease term and our lease liabilities
represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the leases. Right-pf-use assets and
lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date, based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term. The Health System uses the implicit rate noted within the contract. If
not readily available, the Health System uses an estimated incremental borrowing rate, which is
derived using a collateralized borrovving rate, for the same currency and term, as the associated
lease. A right-of-use asset and lease liability is not recognized for leases with an initial term of 12
months or less, rather the Health System recognizes lease expense for these leases on a straight-
line basis, over the lease term, within lease and rental expense. ■

Operating leases are primarily for real estate, including certain acute care facilities, off-campus
outpatient facilities, medical office buildings, and corporate and other administrative offices. Real
estate lease agreements typically have initial terms of 5 to 10 years. These real estate leases may
include one or more options to renew, with renewals that,can extend the lease term from 2 to 5
years. The exercise of lease renewal options is at the Health System's sole discretion. When

46



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2022 and 2021

determining the lease term, management includes options to extend or terminate the lease when it
is reasonably certain that the Health System will exercise that option.

Certain lease agreements for. real estate include payments based on actual common area
maintenance expenses and/or rental payments-adjusted periodically for inflation. These variable
lease payments are recognized in other occupancy costs in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Changes in Net Assets, but are not included in the.right-of-use asset or liability
balances in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Lease agreements do not contain any material
residual value guarantees, restrictions, or covenants.

The components of lease expense for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:.

(in thousands of dollars) " 2022 2021

Operating lease cost $ .9,573 $ 10,381
Variable and.short term lease cost (a) 10,894. 8.019

Total lease and rental expense $  20,467 $ 18,400

Finance lease cost:

Depreciation of property under finance lease
Interest on debt of property under finance lease

Total finance lease cost

$  .3,345 $ 3,408

448 533

$  . 3,793 $ 3.941 ,

(a) 'Includes equipment, month-to-month and leases with a maturity of less than 12 months.'

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021
are as follows:"

\

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Gash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities: , .
Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 9,952 $ 10,611
Operating cash flows from finance leases ■ 448 533
Financing cash flows from finance leases 3,255 , 3,108'

Total - $ 13,655 $ 14,252
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Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases as of June 30, 2022 and 2021 are c
follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Operating Leases
Right-of-use assets - operating leases $  61,165 $  51,410 .

Accumulated amortization (21,222) (15,180)

Right-of-use assets - operating leases, net 39,943 36,230

Current portion of right-of-use obligations -  8,314 8,038

Lorig-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion . 32,207 28,686

Total operating lease liabilities 40,521 36,724

Finance Leases

Right-of-use assets - finance leases 27,963 ■  27,940

Accumulated depreciation (8,981) (5,760)

.  Right-bf-use assets - finance leases, net 18,982 22,180

Current portion of right-of-use obligations . 3,005 3,251

Long-terrn right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 16,617 19.481

Total finance lease liabilities $  19,622 $  22,732

Weighted Average remaining lease term, years
Operating leases 7.73 6.75

Finance leases 19.77 .  18.73

Weighted Average discount rate
Operating leases 2.24% 2.12%
Finance leases 2.17% 2.14%

The System obtained $8.9 million and $0.1 million of new and modified operating and financing
leases, respectively, during the year ended June 30, 2022.

The System obtained $7.6 million and $2.1 million of new and modified operating and financing
leases, respectively, during the year ended June 30, 2021.
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Future maturities of lease liabilities as of June 30, 2022 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) Operating Leases Finance Leases

. Year ending June 30:

2023 $  9,121 $ 3,395

2024 , 7,971 , 2,297
2025 -  5,083 i;261

2026 3,750 882

2027 ■3,357 800

Thereafter 15,096 15,713

Total lease payments 44,378 24,348
Less: Imputed interest 3,857 4,726

Total lease obligations $  40,521 $ 19,622

17. Subsequent Events

The Health System has assessed the impact of subsequent events through November 16, 2022,
the date the audited consolidated financial statements were issued, and has concluded that there
were no such events that require adjustment to the audited consolidated financial statements or
disclosure in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmoutti- Cheshire Alice Peck New London ML Ascutney OH Obligated' All Other Non- Health

Hitchcock Oartmoutiv Medical Oay Hospital Hospital and Group ObDg Group System

{in Otousands ofdoHan) Health Hitchcock Center Memorial Association Health Certter □Imlnatlons Subtotal . Afmiates Fllmlnatlons Consolidated

Assets

Current assets 1

Cash and cash equivalents % 2,056 $ 66,827 $ 20,165 $ 38,416 $ 28,467 S 11,327 8 - 8 167,258 $ 24,671 S - i 191,929

Patient accounts receivable, rxet . 206,400 18,106 9,817 9,175 5,360 - 248,858 2,392 - 251,250

. Prepaid expenses ar>d other current assets 23.561 161,262 19,580 3,622 4,452 1,472 (31,119) 182,730 •(11.372) (2,225) 169,133

Total current assets 25.617 434,489 57,851 61,755 42,094 18,159 (31.119) 598,846 15,691 .  (2.225) 612,3.12

Assets limited as to use 301.000 . '858,919 •  12,665 14,680 16,005 25,753 (98,848) 1,130,174 50,920 - . 1,181,094

Notes receivatrle. related party 342.052 11,557 . 803 - • (853,609) 803 (803)
Other investments for restricted activities 490 118,082 • . 16,422 727 3,925 6,846 • 146,492 28,624 • 175,116
Property, plant, and equipmerrt. net . 585,064 83,067 24,757 45,973 15,526 • 734,387 30,453 •

764,840

Right-of-use assets, net V,362 35,321 1,830 14.892 166 •  . 5,249 -  . 58,620 105 •
58,925

Other assets 681 146,516 1,187 14,391 • 6,573 4,983 - •  174,331 (2,168) -
172,163

Total assets i 1.171,202 S .2,189,948 $ 153,022 $ 122,005 S 114,736 8 76,516 8 (983,576) 8 2,843,853 $ 122,822 s (2,225) s 2,964,450

Liabilities and Net Assets
Current iabilities

Current portion of long-term debt ■ i - $ 4,810 S 865 $ 800 S 23 $ 8 - 8 6,498 S 98 % •
s 6,596

Current portion of right-of-use obligations SS9 8,514 689 852 172 473
•

11.259 60
-

•11,319

Current portiori of tiabllty for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits - • 3,500 - • -

3,500 -
3,500

Accounts payable and accnred expenses 147.626 100,110 16,607 4,883 4,843 8,693 (129,967) 152,795 6,002 (2.225) 156,572
Accrued compensation and related benefits . 169,194 6,817 4,431 4,507 4,434 - 189,383 . 1,177 • 190,560

Estimated third-party settlements 3,002. 68,876 22,999 17,488 21,886 647 ■- 134,698 - • 134,898

Total cunenl liabiGties. - 151,187 355,004 47,977 28,454 31,431 14,247 (129,967) .498,333 7,337 (2,225) 503,445

Notes payable, related party . 808,602 . . 27,437 17,570 (853,609) • - -

Long-term debt excluding current portion 1,044,845 25.084 21,867 23,060 32 (110) - 1,114,778 2,510
-

1,117,288

Right-ol-use obtgations, exdudng current portion 803 27,359 1,233 14,499 • 4,685 -
48,779 45

•
48,824

Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 76,678 623 373 401 250 - 78,325 66
•

78,391
LlabiBty for pension and other postretjreriwnt •

plan bertefits. excluding current portion ' - 220,350 7,774 - • 481 • 228,605 • 1 •
223,606

Other liebinties . 129,092 1,109 300 1,749 132,250 21,846 • 154,096

Total iabSties 1.196.835 1.642.169 - 80,583 66.686 .61.050 37,323 (983,576) 2,101,070 •31,805 (2.225) 2,130,650

' Commitments and contingencies

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions (25.638) 418,255 53,646 64,590 48,974 31,078 • • 580,905 53,352 40 634,297
Net assets with donor restrictions 5 129,524 18,793 729 4,712 8,115 - 161,878 37,665 (40) 199,503

Total net assets (25.633) 547,779 72,439 55,319 53,686 39,193 - 742,783 91,017 - 833,800

Total labities and net assets 1,171,202 $ 2,189,948 i 153,022 $ 122,005 $ 114,736 8 76,516 8 (983,576) 8 2,843,853 s .122,822 i (2.225) s 2,964,450
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2022

D-KH

■

Hearth

and Other D-Hand Cheshire and MAHKCand APD and VNK and System
(in thousands of dollars)' Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries' NLH Subsidiaries Subsidiary > Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,056 , $ 68,075 S  32.500 S 28,467 $  11,631 S - 47,894 S 1,306 S .  . S 191,929

Patient accounts receivable, net 1 206.400 18.106 9.175 5,431- 9.817 2,321 - '  251,250

Prepaid expenses ar^ other current assets 23.561 161.508 8.296 4.452 1,499 2.678 483 (33.344) 169,133

. Total current assets 25,617 435.983 58.902 42,094 18,561 60,389 4,110 (33.344) 612,312

Assets limited as to use 301.000 884,007 13.183 16.005 26.979 •  14.680 24,088 (98.848) 1,181.094

"Notes receival^, related party 842,052 •  11,557 - - - - - (853,609) -

Ott>er investments for restricted activities 490 125,614 37.124 3.925 6,846 1.031 86,- • 175,116

Property, plant, and equipment, net 587,739 66.365 45.973 16.947 42.436 5,360 764,840

Right-of-use assets, net 1,362 35,321 1.830 166 5.248 14,892 106 - 58,925

Other assets 581 146.699 8.316 6.573 2.526 7,292 76 • 172.163

Total assets S 1.171,202 S 2.226,920 $  185.740 $ 114.736 %  77.107 S 140,720 S 33.826 $ (985,801) S 2.964.450

Liabilities and Net Assets

Cunent lialiMlities

Current portion of long-temi debt $ - S 4,810 S  665 $ 23 $  , 26 $ 800 s 72 S - s 6.596

Current portion of right-of-use obligations 559 8,514 689 172 472 852 61 - 11.319

Current portion of liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits - 3,500 - - - - - - 3.500

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 147,626 100,617 16,726 4.843 8.831 5,481 4.640 (132.192) 156.572

Accrued compensation and related benefits . 169,194 6,817 4.507 4.490 4,735 817 - 190.560

Estimated third-party settlements 3,002 • 68,876 22.999 21.886 647 17.488 - - 134.898

Total current liabilities 151.187 355,511 48,096 31.431 14.466, M,355 5.590 (132.192) - 503.445

Notes payable, related party 808,602 . 27,437 17,570 - - (853,609) .

Long-term debt excluding current portion 1.044,845 25,084 21,867 32 110 23.005 2,345 - 1.117.288

R'ight-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 803 27,359 1,233. - 4.885 14,499 ^  45 - 48.824

Insurance deposits and related liabilities - ~ 76,678 623 401 .250 373 y 66 - 78.391

Liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benetits, excluding current portion - 220,350 7,774 482 - - - 228.606

Other liabilities • 129,092 1,109 •  1,749 - 22,146 - - 154.096

Total liabilities 1.196.835 1,642.676 80,702 61.050 37.763 89.379 8.046 (985.801) 2.130.650

Convrttments and contingencies •

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions (25,638) 447,013 56,674 . 48,974 31.231 50,308 25.695 •  40 634.297

Net assets with donor restrictions 5 137.231 •  48,364 4,712 8.113 1.033 85 (40) 199.503

Total net assets (25.633) 584,244 105,038 ' 53,686 39,344 51,341 25.780 833.800

Total liabilities and net assets S •  1.171,202 s 2.226,920 S  185,740 $ 114,736 $' • . 77,107 s 140,720 S • 33,826 $ (985.801) $ 2,964,450
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2021

Dartmouth- Cheshire Alice Peck New London MLAscutney OH Obligated All Other Non- Health

Hitchcock Dartmouth- Medical Day Hospital Hospital and Group ObDg Group System

(In thousands of dollars) Health Hitchcock Center Memorial Association Health Certter Ellmfnations Subtotal Affiliates Eliminations Consolidated

Assets

Current assets .

Cash and cash equrvatents $ •  1.82S $ 226,n9 . S 35.146 S 41,371 t  26,814 S  18.350 , 5 . i 350,286 3 24,642. 3 - 3 374.928

Patient accounts recelvattle. rwt . 196,350 13,238 6,779 6.699 6.522 - . 229,588 2,573 • 232,161

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 23.267 151,336 20.932 2.012 4,771 1.793 (35,942) 168.169 (10,634) (217) 157,318

Total current assets 25,093 " 574,465 •  69,316 50,162 38.264 26.665 (35,942) 748.043 16,58) (217) • 764.407

Assets limited as to use 380.020 1,039,327 19,016 15,480 16.725 20,195 (169,849) 1,320.914 57.565 . 1.378.479

Notes receivable, related party 845.157 11,769 . 1,010 (856.926) 1.010 (1,010) • .

Other investments for restricted activities 248 111,209 12.212 1,128 4.266 7,699 . 136.762 31,273 - 168.035

Property, plant, and eqiipment, net - 501,640 64,101 22,623- 47.232 15,403 . 650.999 29,434 • 680.433

Right-ofHise assets .1.233 32,343 2,396 15,104 360 5,819 - 58,255 155 . 58.410
Other assets 2.431 146.226 1,315 . 14,380 7.282 5,172 . 176.806 292 •- 177.098

Total assets % -  1.254.182 S 2.416.979 $ 168,356 % 120,887 i  114,149 i  80,953 5 (1.062.717) i 3,092.789 3 134.290 3 (217) 3 3.226.862

UablDtles and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion o( tong-term debt i - S 7.575 s 865 777 i  • 91 $ 3 • i 9,308 3 99 3 • 3 9,407

Current portion of dghl-of-use obCgabons 394 8.369 656 1,078 197 550 • 11204 85 - 11.289

Current portion of liability for pension and •  -

other postretirement plan benefits . 3.468 .  . • • 3,468 - - 3.468

Accounts payable and accrued eiqrerrses 207,566 99.374 11.911 2,455 4,968 5,858- (205.791) 126,341 5.100 (217) 131,224

Accrued compertsation end related trenefits . 156.073 8.648 5,706 4,407 5,343 . 180,in 1.893 . 182.070

Estimated tfsrd-party settlements . 160.410 31.226 27,006 26,902 6,230 . '251,774 769 - 252.543-

Total current liabilities 207.920 435.269 53.306 '37,022 36,565 .  17,981 (205.791) 582272 7.946 (217) 690,001

Notes payable, related party . 811.563 . 27.793 17,570 (856.926) - - .

Long^erm debt exctucSrtg current portion 1.047.659 29.846 22,753 23.568 55 (115) - 1.123,756 2,601 • 1,126.357

Right-ofHrse obligations, excluding current portion 679 24.463 1,876 15,351 172 5,357 - 48.098 69 • • 48.167

Insurance deposits and related iaNities . 78.526 475 325 388 218 - 79,934 40 - 79,974

Liabi£ty for pension and other postretirement •

plan benefits, excluding current portion • 218.955 5.286 - 511 - 224,752 224,752

Other liabilities - 179.497 4,224 •  4,534 4,142 . • 192,397 22.317 . 214,714

Total iabiities 1.256.458 1.778.121 87.920 80.790 69,115 41,522 "  (1.062.717) 2.251.209 32,973 (217) 2.283.965

Commitments and contingencies

Net assets '

Net assets without donor restrictions (2,524) 526.153 65.224 38.969 39,557 29.838 .  - 697217 61,370 40 758,627

Net assets with dorwr restrictions 248 112.705 15.212 1.128 5,477 9,593 • 144.363 39.947 (40) 184.270

Total net assets (2.276) 638.858 80.436 40.097 45.034 39.431 . 841.580 101.317 . 942,897

Total iabiities and net assets i 1.254.182 s 2,416.979 % 168,356 s 120.687 S  114.149 5  - 80.953 i (1,062,717) $ 3.092.789 3 134,290 3 (217) 3 3.226.862
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2021

D-HH Health

' and Other D-Hand Cheshire and NLH and MAHHC and APD and VNH and System

(in thousands of dollars) Subsidiaries Siibstritarifis Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Eliminations Cnnsnliriated

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents S 1,826 $ 227,402 S  44,165 $ 26,814 $  16,609 $ 50,451 $ • 5,661 S S 374,928

Patient accounts receivable, net - 196,'350 13,238 6,699 6,620 •  6,779 2,475 - 232,161

Prepad expenses and other current assets 23,267 151,677 10,195 4,771 1,808 .1,418 341 (36,159) 157,318

Total current assets 25,093 575,429 67,598 -38.284" 27,037 58,648 8.477 (36,159) 764,407

Assets limited as to use 380,020 1,066,781 20,459 ' 16,725 21,533 15,480 27,330- (169,849) 1,378,479

Notes receivable, related party 845,157 11,769 • - - - - (856,926) -

Other investments for restricted activities 248 119,371 •  34,921 4,266 7,698 1,501 30 - 168,035

Property, plant, and equipment, net . 504,315 67,543 47,232 16,932 41,218 3,193 - 680,433

Right-of-use assets, net 1,233 32,343 2,396 360 5,820 16,104 154 - 58,410

Other assets 2,431 146,408 10,286 7,282 ■  2,715 7,534 442 - 177,098

Total assets $ 1,254,182 $•  2,456,416 S  . 203,203 S 114,149 S  81.735 $ 140,485 S 39,626 $ (1,062,934) $ 3,226,862

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current Sabilities

Current portion of long-term debt S - S 7,575 S  865 S 91 $  26 S 777 s 73 S - $ 9,407

Current portion of right-of-use obligations 354 8,369 656 197. 550 1,078 85 ■ 11,289

Curent portion of lability for pension and

other postretirement plan benefits - .3,468 - - - .  - - • 3,468

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 207,566 99,682 12,032 4,968 5,963 2,920 4,081 (206,008) 131,224

Accrued compensation arxl related benefits . 156,073 8,648 4,407 5,385 . 6,116 -  1,441 - 182,070

Estimated third-party settlements . 160,410 31,226 26.902 6,231 27,006 • 768 " - 252,543

Total current liabilities 207,920 435,577 53,427 36,565 •  18,175 ,37,897 6,448 (206,008) 590,001

Notes payable, related party .. 811,563 . 27,793 17,570 - - (856,926) .

Long-term debt, exduding current portion 1,047,659 29,846 22,753 55 131 23,496 2,417 . - 1,126,357

Right-of-use obligations, exduding current portion . 879 24,463 1,876 172 5,357 15,351 69 - 48,167

Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 78,528 476 388 218 325 39
-

79,974

Liability for pension and other postretirement

plan benefits, exduding cunent portion - 218,955 5,286. .- 511 - - -
224,752

Other labilities . 179,497 4,223 4,142 • 26,852 - - 214,714

Total liabilities 1,256,458 1,778,429 88,041 69.115 "41,962 103,921 8,973 (1.062,934) 2,283,965

Commitments and conlingendes

Net assets •• .

Net assets without donor restrictions (2,524) 557,101 68,586 39,557 30,181 35,063 30,623 40 758,627

Net assets with donor restrictions • 248 . 120,886 46.576 5.477 9,592 , 1,501 30 (40) 184,270

Total net assets (2,276) 677,987 115.162 45,034 39,773 36.564 30,653 942,897

Total liabilities and net assets s 1,254,182 s 2,456,416 $  203,203 s 114,149 S  81,735 S 140,485 $ 39,626 $ (1,062,934) S 3,226,862
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes In Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30,2022 .

(In thousands 0/ dMfS)

O^ratins nvamj* and othar support
Patient service rever^ue

Contracted rewnue

Other operating revenue
Net assets relessed troin restricdons

Total operating revenue and other support

Optradng expertses
Salaries

Employee benefts
Medications and medical supplies
Purchased services artd other

Medicald enhancement tax

' Depreciation and amortization
Interest

Total operating expenses

Operating (loss) mari^

Non-eperating (lossn) gains
Investment losses, net

Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income

Other (losses) income, net

Total non-operating (losses) gains, net

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released trom restrictions tor capital
Change in funded status of pension and other
(Mstretiremenl t>enefits

Net assets transferred to (from) afTiates
Other changes in net assets

(Decrease) irxrease in net assets without donor
resthctions

Dartmouth- Cl>csh)re ' Alice Peck . New London ML Ascutney OH ObUgated

Hiteheock Dartmouth- . Medical . Day Hospital Hos^l artd Group

Heafth Hitchcock Center Memorial Association Heatth Center Eliminations ' Subtotal

S S  1.751.093 S  236.645 S  99.403 S  79,754 S  59,040 J S  2.225,935

209 133.926 165 21 22' 3,521 . (60.573) 77.293

38.568 492.455 23,736 4.146 7,527 2,754 (50.711) 518.475

.  249 13.299 779 435 190 204 - 15;156

39.026 2,390.775 261,325 104.005 87,493 65.519 (111.284) 2.836.859

1.091,601 135.083 43,266 •40,219 28,960 (45,229) , 1,293,900

. 266.795 31.761 . 10,302 7,537 8,240 (5.842) • 318,793

. 578,581 43,203 12,266 9,946 4,127 - 648,123

25,638 312.373 42,723 15,951 13,068 17,383 (32.862) 394,274

- 64.036 9.468 3.980 2,834 2.407 - 82.725

. 64.643' 8,771 3.519 4,819 2.359 -

84.111

32.538 25,365 914 676 1,073 493 ■ (29.530) 31.727

58.174 2.403.394 271.923 90.160 79.496 63.969 (113.463) , 2,853,653

(19.148) (12,619) (10.598) .13.845 7.997 1.550 2,179 (16,794)

(8.026) (58.973) (2.068) (795) ,  .(1.1U) (1,555) (210) (72.741)

. 11.902 2,008 . . . 13,910

(3,540) (1.641) (542) . 1 169 (1.969) .  (7.522)

(11.566) (48.712) (6021 (795) (1.113) (1.386) (2.179) (66,353)

(30.714) (61,331) (11,200), 13,050 6.884 164
•

(83.147)

-
678 52 460 233

-

1,423

. (27,860) (4,496) . . 48 - (32,308)

7,600 (19.385) 4.066 2,571 2.096 795 - (2.257)

- -

(23)
- •

• (23)

(23,114) % (107,698) $ [11.578)- S 15.621 9.417 $ 1,240

An other Non- Health.

ObCg Group System

AfTiliates Elimfnations Consolidated

i  17.302 $ S  2.243,237

• 458 (85) 77,666

16.731 • (1,175) 534,031

738 . 15.894

35.229 (1.260) 2,870,828

20,422 1,085 1.315.407

3,514 263 322,570

1,149 . 649,272

11,398 (1.810) 403,662
- • 82,725

2,847 - 86,958

386 . 32,113

39.716 (462) 2.892.907

(4.487) (798) (22.079)

(6.003) (78,744)

. . 13,910

66 798 (6.658)

(5.937) 798 (71.492)

(10.424)
•

(93.571)

150
-

1.573

.(1) . (32,309)

. 2,257 • -

(23)

(116,312) $ (8,018) t (124.330)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2022

Dartmouth- Health

H'ltchcock D-H and Cheshire and MAHHC and APD and VNH and System

fin thouMnds of dollars) Health . Sut>sidiaries Subsidiaries NUj Subsidiaries Subsldlarv Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Operating revenue and other support

Patlem service revenue $ $  • 1.751,093 $  236,645 S 79,754 $  59,041 S  99,403 J  17,301 $ $  2.243,237

Contracted revenue 209- 134,388 165 21 . 3,521 21 -
(60,659) 77,666

Other operating revenue 38,568 494,363 23,794 7.527 4,370 14,587 2,708 (51.886) 534,031

249 13.873 . 821 190 204 548 9 -
15.894

Total operating revenue and other support 39.026 2,393.717 261,425 87,492 67,136 114,559 20.018 (112.545) 2,870,828

Operating expenses
(44,144) 1.315.407Salaries . 1,091,601 135,116 40,219 29.729 47,352 15.534

Employee txnefrts . 266,795 31,770 7,537 8,361 11,169 2,517 (5,579) , 322,570

Medications and medical supplies . 578,581 43,203 9,946 4.126 12,297 1,123 (4) 649.272

Purchased services and other 25.638 315,589 42,938 13,067 18,072 18,915 4,313 (34,670) 403,862

Medicaid enhancement tax - 64,036 9,469 2,834 2,406 3,980
- •

82,725

Depreciation and amortization . 64,643 6,895 4;819 2,483 5,595 523
•

86,958

32.536 25,365 914 1,073 493 1,204 58 (29.530) 32,113

58.174 2,406,610 272.305 79,495 65,670 100,512 24.068 (113.927) 2.892,907

' Operating (loss) margin ' (19.148) (12.893) (10,880) 7,997 1.466 14,047 (4.050) 1.382 (22,079)

Non-operating (losses) gains
.  (211) (78,744)investment losses, net (8,026) (61,039) (2,163) •  (1.114) (1,663) (1,373) (3,155)

OUier components of net periodic pension'and post
13,910retirement t)er»efit income - 11,902 2,008 - • - -

(3.540) (1,641) (542) 1 •179' 56 (1.171) (6,658)

. Total non-operating losses, net (1-1,566) (50,778) (697) (1.113) (1.484) (1.373) (3.099) (1.382) (71,492)

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (30,714) (63,671) (11.577) 6,884 (18) 12,874 (7.149) -
(93,571)

Net assets without donor restrictions
1,573Net assets released from resthctiohs for capital - 834 53 460 226

-
• -

Change in funded status of pension and other
(32,309)postretirement tienefits - (27,860) (4,496) -

47
- • •

Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates 7.600 (19,391) 4,108 2,096 795 2,571 2,221
-

-

Other changes in net assets . - - (23) - - •
(23)

(Decrease) increase in net assets without dorior - ■

restrictions $  (23.114) $  (110,088) 5  (11.912) S 9,417 S  1,050 $  15,245 S  (4,928) $ S  (124,330)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in.Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2021

Dartmoutiv Cheshire ABce Peck « New London ML Ascutney DH ObBgated Al Other Not>- Health

HItehcocIt Dartmouttw Medical Day Hospital HospHil and Group OMig Group System

fin thovsantfs oftiolars) Health HItehooek Center Memorial Associitien Health Center Ftiminatlons Subtotal Afntlates Elimlnttlons Consolidated

Op«rtting nvtnuf ittd other support
Patient service revenue $ 5  1.683,612 5  230.810 S  82.373 S  61.814 S  59.686 i J  2,118,295 S  t9.992 % • $  2.138.287

Contracted revenue 7,266 129,880 379 • 162 2.963 (55,753) .  84.897 380 (14) 85.263

Otiter operating revenue 29.784 404,547 6.775 1,905 4.370 1,175 • P7.287) 411.269 15,490 (1,801) 424.958

Net assets released from restnctions 197 12.631 1.182 61 200 201 -  • .  14,472 729 - 15.201

Total opera^ revenue and ether support 37,247 • 2.230,670 239.146 84.339 • 66.546 64.025 (93.040) 2.628.933 36.591 (1.815) 2.663.709

Operating expemes
Salaries . 988.595 •118.678 40.567 33,611 29.119 (42.565) 1,168,005 16,800 1,105 1,185,910

Employee benefits . 251.774 29,984 7.141 6,550 7.668 (5.159) 297.958 3,877 307 302,142

Me<fic8t)ons and medical supples . 481,863 41.669 9,776 7,604 3,275 (55) 644.102 1,421 - 545,523

Purchased services and other 19.603 291.364 33,737 12.396 16,591 14,884 (18.065) 370.410 15.395 (1,856) 363,949

Medcald enhancement tax . 57.312 8,315 3,075 2,523 • 1.716 - 72.941 72.941

Depredation ar>d aiTMrtizatlon 10 67.666 8,623 3,366 4,364 2,617 • 86.646 2.275 - 88.921

Interest 32.324 24.158 936 875 1,077 510 (29.495) 30.385 402 • 30.787

Total operating e>g>enses 51.837 2,162.732 241.942 77,196 72,320 59.789 (95.369) 2.570.447 ■ 40.170 ' (444) 2.610,173

Operating (loss) margin (14.590) 67.938 (2.796) 7,143 (5,774) 4.236 2.329 58.486 (3.579) (1.371) 53.536

Norvoperattng gains (losses)
Investment Income (losses), net 1,223 172,461 3.546 2,495 4.506 3,875 (137) 187.969 15,807 - 203,776

outer components of net perlodk pension and post
retirement benettt Income - 13.028 • 547 • • (16) - 13.559 - - 13,559

Other (losses) income, net (3.540) (653)• (332) . 2 194 (2.192) (6.521) 917 1.371 (4.233)

Total ncooperaling (losses) gains, net (2.317) 184.836 3.761 2,495 "  4.508 4.063 (2.329) 195.007 16.724 1.371 213.102

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over ei^enses .(16,907) 252,774 965 9.638. .  (1.266) 8.289 253,493 ■13,145
-

266.638

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restridicns for capital - 1,076 600 - 108 224 - 2,008 9 - 2,017
Change in hinded status of pension and other
postretirement benefits - 43.047 t6.W7 - • 78 • 59.132 -

59.132
Net assets transferred to (irom) effiliates 8.859 (13.548) (42) - 4,557 • (174) 174

- -

Other changes in net assets . (20) •  (35) (120) . -• (175) (11) - (186)

(Decrease] Increase in net assets vnihout dorwir
restrtctions 5  (8.048) S  283.329 5  17,495 5  9.518 S  3,399 S  8.591 i S  314.284 •$ -13,317' S

-
S  327.601
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2021

D-HH

*

)
Health

and Other, D-Kand - Cheshire and NLH and MAHKC and APD and ' VNHand System

(in thousands of dollars) Subsidiaries ' Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Sut»ld1arv Subsidiaries Eliminations ' Consolidated

Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue $ S  1,683,612 $  230,810 S  61,814 $  59,672 S  82,373 $  20,006 % . S  2,138,287

Contracted revenue 7.266 130,261 379 161 . .  2,963 -  -" - (55,767) 85,263

Other operating revenue 29.784 406.911 6,862 4,370 2,839 11,997 1,283 (39,088) 424,958

Net assets released from restrictions 197 •  13,290 1,195 199 201 118 ■ . 15,201

Total operating revenue and other support 37.247 2,234,074 239,247 66,544 65,675 '  94,488 21,289 (94,855) 2,663,709

Operating expenses

Salaries - 988,595 118,711 33,611 29,986 44,240 12.227 (41.460) 1,185,910

Employee t>ene(its - 251,774 29,994 6,550 7,820 7,884 2,972 (4,852) 302,142

Medications and medical suppGes . 481,863 41,669 7,604 3,270 9,784 1,418 (85) 545,523

Purchased services and other 19.505 294,228 33,912 16,589 15,395 15,455 8,786 (19,921) 383,949

' Medicaid enhancement tax - 57,312 8,315 2,523 1,716 3,075 - - 72,941

Depredation and amortization •  10 67,666 8.752 • 4,364 2,741 5,003 385 - 88,921

Interest 32,324 24,158 936 1,077 510 1,217 60 (29,495) 30,787

Total operating expenses 51,839 2,165,596 242,289 72,318 61,438 86,658 25.848 ' (95,813) 2,610,173

Operating (loss) mar^n (14,592) 68,478 (3.042) (5,774) 4.237 7,830 (4.559) 958 53.536

Non<peratln9 gains (losses)
Inwstment income (losses), net 1,223 179,357 6,317 4,506 4,066 2.472 5,972 (137) 203,776

Other components of net periodic pension and post
reUrement twnefil income - 13,028 547 - (IS) • • - 13.559

Other (losses) income, net (3.540) (653) (346) 2 207 - 918 (821) (4,233)

Total non-operating (losses) gains, net (2.317) 191,732 8,518 4.508 4,257' 2,472 6,690 (958) • 213,102

(Defidency) excess of revenue over expenses (16,909) 260,210 3,476 ('1.266) 8,494 ' ici,302 2,331
-

266,638 '

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrlcticms for capital . 1,085 600 108 •  224 ■  - - . 2.017"

Change in funded status of pension and other
postrefirement benefits - 43,047 16,007 - 78 - - - 59.132

Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates 8.859 (13,548) - 4,557 - - 132 - .

Other changes in net assets . (20) (46) . . (120) - - (186)

(Decrease) inaease in net assets without donor
restrictions $  (8.050) $  290,774 5  20,037 %  3,399 S  8,796 $  10,182 $  2,463 %

-

$  327.601
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Note to Supplemental Consolidating Information
June 30, 2022 and 2021

1. Basis of Presentation

the accompanying supplemental consolidating information includes the consolidating balance
sheet and the consolidating statement of operations and. changes in net assets without donor
restrictions of D-HH and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions
between D-HH and its subsidiaries have been eliminated. The consolidating information presented
is prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America consistent with the consolidated financial statements.
The consolidating information is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated
financial statements and is not required as part of the basic financial statements.
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MARY HITCHCOCK MEMORIAL HOSPTIAL (MHMH)/
DARTMOUTH HITCHCOCK CLINIC (DHC)

DARTMOUTH HEALTH

BOARDS OF TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS

Effective: Tanuarv 1, 2023

Geraldine "Polly" Bednash, PhD, RN, FAAN
MHMH/DHC/Dartmouth Health Trustee
Adjunct Professor, Australian Catholic University

Mark W. Begor, MBA
MHMH/DHC/ Dartmouth Health Trustee
Chief Executive Ofjicer, Equifax

Laura M. Chiang, MD.
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Assistant Professor ofAnesthesiology and Critical
Care; Vice Chairfor Education, Dep.t of
Anesthesiology and Co-Medical Director, Surgical
Intensive Care Unit

Duane A. Compton, PhD
MHMH/DHC/ Dartmouth Health Trustee

Ex-OJficio: Dean, Gcisel School ofMedicine at
Dartmouth

Joanne M. Conioy, MD
MHMH/DHC/ Dartmouth Health Trustee
Ex-Officio: CEO & President, D-H/D-HH
One Medical Center Drive, Lebanon, NH 03756

Gary V. Dcsir, MD
MHMH/DHC Trustee

Yale School of Medicine: Paul B. Beeson Professor
ofMedicine, Chair, Internal Medicine at Yale School
ofMedicine and Yale New Haven Hospital; Vice
Provostfor Faculty Development and Diversity, Yale
University

Carl "Trey" Dobson, MD
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Chief Medical Officer, Southwestern Vermont
Medical Center & Medical Directorfor the D-H
Practice, Benningfon, Vermont

Tina Dooley-Jones, PhD
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Retired Senior Foreign Service Officer

Nancy M. Dunbar, MD
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Medical Director, Blood Bank

Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine

Elof Eriksson, MD, PhD

MHMH/DHC Trustee
Professor Emeritus, Harvard Medical School and
Chief Medical Officer, Applied Tissues Technologies,
LLC

Gary L. Freed, MD, PharmD

MHMH/DHC Trustee
Medical Director of the Comprehensive Wound
Clinic at D-H & Assistant Professor of Surgery,
Ceisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

Thomas P. Glynn, PhD
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Adjust Lecturer, Harvard Kennedy School of
Government

Roberta L. Hines, MD

MHMH/DHC Boards'Chair | Dartmouth
Health Trustee

Nicholas M. Greene Professor and Chair, Dept. of
Anesthesiology, Yale School of Medicine

Jennifer L. Moyer, MBA
MHMH/DHC/ Dartmouth Health Trustee
Managing Director & CAO, White Mountains
Insurance Group, Ltd

Shenri C. Oberg, MBA
MHMH/PHC Trustee
CEO and Co-Founder of Particles for Humanity,
PBC

David P. Paul, MBA

MHMH/DHC Board Secretary | Dartmouth
Health Trustee

Retired President & COO, JBG SMITH

Charles G. Plimpton, MBA
MHMH/DHC/ Dartmouth Health Trustee

MHMH/DHC Boards' Treasurer
Dartmouth Health Board Treasurer & Secretary

Retired Investment Banker
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Thomas Raffio, MBA, FLMI

MHMH/DHC Trustee
President & CEO, NortJwast Delta Dental

Mark S. Speers, MBA
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Co-founder & Senior Advisor, Health Advances, LLC

Edward Howe Stansfield, III, MA

MHMH/DHC Trustee
Dartmouth Health Trustee & Board Chair

Retired Senior Financial Advisor, Resident Director,

of Bank ofAmerica/Merrill Lynch

Paul A. Taheri, MO, MBA

MHMH/DHC Trustee
Clinical Partner - Welsh Carson Anderson and

Stowe

Pamela Austin Thompson, MS, RN, CENP,
FAAN

MHMH/DHC/ Dartmouth Health Trustee
Chief executive officer emeritus of the American
Organization of Nurse Executives (ACNE)

Sandra L. Wong, MD, MS
MHMH/DHC Trustee
William N. and Bessie Allyn Professor of Surgery,
Chair of the Department of Surgery at Dartmouth-
Hitchcock Medical Center (DHMC) and the Ceiscl
School of Medicine at Dartmouth, and senior vice
president of the Surgical Service Line at D-HH

Member of Dartmouth Health, not a member of MHMH & DHC:

Richard J. Powell, MD
Dartmouth Health Trustee

Section Chief, Vascular Surgery; Professor of Surgery
and Radiology
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CURRICULUM VITAE

Timothy J. Fisher, MD, MHCDS

HOME OFFICE

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center.

Department of Ob/Gyn
1 Medical Center Drive

Lebanon. NH 03756

timothy. j.fisher@hitchcock.ora

I. EDUCATION

2011-2013 Dartmouth College
1993-1998 Geisel School of Medicine

1989-1993 Union College

Master of Health Care Delivery Science
Doctor of Medicine

Bachelor of Science in Biology

II. POSTDOCTORAL TRAINING

1998-2002 Naval Medical Center San Diego Obstetrics and Gynecology Residency

III. PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES

2015 American Society of Addiction Medicine Buprenorphine Training 8 hrCME

IV. ACADEMIC APPOINTMENTS
2016-Present

2015-2016

2007-2015

Geisel School of Medicine

Geisel School of Medicine

Geisel School of Medicine

Assistant Professor of Ob/Gyn
Clinical Assistant Professor of Ob/Gyn
Adjunct Assistant Professor of Ob/Gyn

V. INSTITUTIONAL LEADERSHIP ROLES:
2016-Present Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center ' Ob/Gyn Residency Program Director
2017-2019 DHMC Interim Division Director, General Obstetrics and Gynecology
2016-2017 Dartmouth-Hitchcock Ob/Gyn Service Line Associate Service Line Leader
2013-2016 Cheshire Medical Center/Dartmouth-Hitchcock Keene Chair, Department of Surgery
2009-2013 Cheshire Medical Center/Dartmouth-Hitchcock keene Chair, Department of Ob/Gyn
2002-2004 Naval Hospital. Roosevelt Roads, PR, Department Head, Ob/Gyn
2001-2002 Naval Medical Center, San Diego Administrative Chief Resident

VI. LICENSURE AND CERTIFICATION fIF APPLICABLE^:
2004-Present Physician, New Hampshire Board of Medicine
2005-Present Fellow, American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists
2004-Present Diplomate, American Board of Obstetrics and Gynecology
1999-2005 Physician & Surgeon, Medical Board of California Department of Consumer Affairs

VII. HOSPITAL APPOINTMENTS (IF APPLICABLE):
2016-present
2008-present
2006-present
2004-2006

2002-2004

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center

Concord Hospital, Concord NH
Cheshire Medical Center, Keene NH
Naval Hospital Pensacola, FL
Naval Hospital Roosevelt Roads, PR

Staff physician
Courtesy staff physician
Staff physician
Staff physician
Staff physician

10/3/16:TJF
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Name: Timothy J. Fisher

VIII. OTHER PROFESSIONAL POSITIONS fNON-DARTMOUTH):
2016-Present Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Network Medical Director
2008-Present Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Network Steering Committee

IX. TEACHING ACTIVITIES:

A. UNDERGRADUATE (COLLEGE) EDUCATION: Not applicable

B. GRADUATE EDUCATION: As the Ob/Gyn Residency Program Director. I am
responsible for the development, implementation, revision, and coordination of a weekly
4 hour didactic curriculum, and contribute to it via traditional lecture, flipped-classroom,
and simulation-based sessions.

C. UNDERGRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION:

i. CLASSROOM TEACHING;

a. 2020-present
b. Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

c. Phase 1 Reproductive Medicine course
d. Scientific Basis of Medicine lecturer: "Substance Use Disorders in Pregnancy"
e. 1 hour annually

a. 2018-present
b. Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

c. Phase 1 Reproductive Medicine course
d. Scientific Basis of Medicine small group instructor
e. 4 hours annually

ii. CLERKSHIP TEACHING
a. 2016-present
b. Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

c. Obstetrics and Gynecology third year clerkship
d. Assistant Professor and clinical preceptor
e. 200 hours annually

a. 2016-present
b. Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

c. Obstetrics and Gynecology third year clerkship
d. Didactic session: The Well Woman Visit

e. 12 hours annually

a. 2006-2016

b. Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

c. Obstetrics and Gynecology third year clerkship
d. Site clerkship coordinator and clinical instructor, Cheshire Medical Center/Dartmouth-Hitchcock Keene
e. 50 hours annually
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D. GRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION:

a. 2016-Present

b. Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center

c. Ob/Gyn residency program '
d. Residency Program Director
e. 0.5 FIE Arinually

a: 2004-2006

b. Naval Hospital Pensacola, Florida
c. Ob/Gyn clinical rotation
d. Family Medicine Residency Instructor and Ob/Gyn GME Coordinator
e. 100 hours annually

E. OTHER CLINICAL EDUCATION (e.g., PA programs): Not applicable

Name: Timothy J. Fisher

X. ADVISING/MENTORING

A. UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS: Not applicable

B. GRADUATE STUDENTS: Not applicable

C. NON-DEGREE PROGRAM STUDENTS

DATES STUDENT'S NAME

2016-2018

2018

D. MEDICAL STUDENTS:

DATES STUDENT'S NAME

2017

2018

2018

2018

PROGRAM NAME (if applicable)

Gelsel Research Assistant, now

Medical student SUNY Upstate

TDI student, Ob/Gyn residency
applicant

PROGRAM NAME (if applicable)

Dartmouth Gelsel School of

Medicine MS-4

Dartmouth Gelsel School of

Medicine MS-4

Dartmouth Gelsel School of

. Medicine MS-4

Dartmouth Gelsel School of

Medicine MS-4



OocuSign Envelope ID: E81614D6-5766^332-B2CE-36A5A1A99A3E

2019

Name: Timothy J. Fisher

Dartmouth Gelsel School of
Medicine MS-^

E.iRESIDENTS/FELLOWS: Not applicable

F. FACULTY: Not applicable

XI. RESEARCH TEACHING/MENTORING

A. UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS: Not applicable

B. GRADUATE STUDENTS:

DATES STUDENT'S NAME PROGRAM NAME fif applicable)

TDI MPH candidate

^ TDi MPH candidate

TDI MPH candidate

2017-2018

2018-2019

2019-2020

C. MEDICAL STUDENTS:

DATES STUDENT'S NAME

2018

2019

2020

SPECIALTY

Family Medicine
Ob/Gyn
Ob/Gyn

D. RESiDENTS/FELLOWS/RESEARCH ASSOCIATES:

DATES STUDENT'S NAME SPECIALTY

2018-2021

2019-2022

Ob/Gyn
Ob/Gyn

E. FACULTY: Not applicable

XII. COMMUNITY SERVICE. EDUCATION, AND ENGAGEMENT:

■a 2015-2016
b. Cheshire Medical Center Board of Trustees
c. Trustee
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Name: Timothy J. Fisher
d. Dartmouth-Hitchcock appointee
e. 40 hours annually

a. 2008-2015

b. Keene Health Alliance Board of Directors

c Trustee

d. Dartmouth-Hitchcock appointee
e. 40 hours annually

XIV. PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT

2017: "Purple Pod", a dedicated prenatal care clinic within the department of Ob/Gyn for women with
opioid use disorder

2015: "Mothers in Recovery", a community hospital-based addiction treatment program for pregnant ,
women with opioid use disorder combining medication-assisted therapy with buprenorphine and Centering
Pregnancy™ based group prenatal care

2013: Cheshire Medical Center/Dartmouth Hitchcock Keene Surgical Quality Committee: Multidisciplinary
committee charged with clinical activity monitoring and all quality assurance/process improvement efforts
for inpatient perioperative services and ambulatory physician practices to include participation in the
American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Project (ACS-NSQIP)

2009: Cheshire Medical Center/Dartmouth Hitchcock Keene Women's Health Quality Assurance
Committee: Multidisciplinary committee charged with clinical activity monitoring and all quality
assurance/process improvement efforts for inpatient women's health services and ambulatory physician
practices.

2007: Cheshire Medical Center/Dartmouth Hitchcock Keene Perinatal Practice Committee:

Multidisciplinary committee responsible for clinical practice guideline/policy and order set development for
inpatient obstetrical services and ambulatory physician practices.

XVI. MAJOR COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS:

National/International

•  2011 Home Birth Summit, Airlie VA Delegate
2013 Home Birth Summit, Airlie VA Delegate
2014 Home Birth Summit, Seattle WA Delegate
2019 Home Birth Summit, Santa Fe NM Delegate

Regional
2012-present NH State Maternal Mortality Review Panel Member NH DHHS

Institutional

2016- Graduate Medical Education Committee Member. Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center
2016- Gynecology Ql Committee Member' Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center
2013-2016 Surgical Quality Committee Chair Cheshire Medical Center/D-H Keene
2007-2012 Perinatal Practice Committee Chair Cheshire Medical Center/D-H Keene

2011 -2013 Women's Health QA Committee Chair Cheshire Medical Center/D-H Keene

2004-2006 Medical Records Review Committee Chair Naval Hospital Pensacoia
2002-2004 Surgical Care Review Committee Chair Naval Hospital Roosevelt Roads
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Name: Timothy J. Fisher

XVII. MEMBERSHIPS. OFFICE AND COIVIMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS IN

PROFESSIONAL SOCIETIES:

2007-2009 ACOG Committee on Practice Bulletins-Gynecoiogy
2005-2006 ACOG Committee on Patient Education

2002-2004 ACOG Armed Forces District Junior Fellow Vice-Chair and Chair

2000-2002 ACOG Navy Section Junior Fellow Vice Chair and Chair

XX. AWARDS AND HONORS:

DATE AWARD

2021 New Hampshire Magazine "Top Docs" for Obstetrics & Gynecolpgy

2020 New Hampshire Magazine "Top Docs" for Obstetrics & Gynecology

2019. New Hampshire Magazine Top Docs" for Obstetrics & Gynecology

2017 American Professors of Gynecology and Obstetrics/Dartmouth Geisel Medical School

Outstanding Clinical Teaching Award

2013 New Hampshire Magazine Top Docs" for Gynecology

2009 New Hampshire Magazine Reader's Choice Top Docs"

2006 Navy and Marine Corps Commendation Medal

2006 Navy and Marine Corps Commendation Medal

2003 Navy and Marine Corps Commendation Medal

2005 Family Practice Residency Specialist Teacher of the Year, Naval Hospital Pensacola

2003 CAPT Gordon R. MacDonald Physician of the Year Award, Naval Hospital Roosevelt
Roads

2002 Navy and Marine Corps Achievement Medal

2003 Flag Letter of Commendation, Navy Region Southeast

2001 Flag Letter of Commendation. Naval Medical Center San Diego

1993 Phi Beta Kappa, Alpha of New York at Union College

1993 Wrubel Memorial Prize: Awarded to graduating Union College senior preparing for a
career in medicine based on academic achievement and character

1993 Meritorious Service Award: Awarded to six Union College seniors for exemplary service

XXI. INVITED PRESENTATIONS:

A. International: Not applicable
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Name: Timothy J. Fisher

B. National:

•''January 2021: "Incorporating Community Birth Providers in State-Based Peiinatal Quality Improvement
Activities", Alliance for Innovation on Maternal Health Webinar, Washington DC
"•November 2020: "Challenges in Rural Maternity Care", Institute for Medicaid Innovation Subcommittee
on Health of All Women in Medicaid Webinar, Washington DC

•"March 2020: "Closing the Gap: Special Issues in Rural Maternal Health", American College of
Obstetricians and Gynecologists Congressional Leadership Conference, Washington, DC

•"February 2020: "Potions to Ease Suffering: A Resident Learning Curriculum and Evidence-based Care
Model for Pregnant and Postpartum Women with Opioid- and Other Substance Use Disorders", 2020
CREGG & APGO Annual Meeting, Orlando, FL

•"July 2018: "Opiate Use Disorder- What's Now, What's Next, What Do We Need to Teach Our
Residents?", ACOG Council on Resident Education in Gynecology and Obstetrics Education Retreat,
Memphis IN , .

•"April 2018: 'Universal screening for substance use disorders in pregnancy: Implementing SBIRt in your
practice", American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists Annual Clinical Meeting, Austin TX

•"April 2018: "Effective Screening Methods During Pregnancy for OUD and its Co-Morbidities", Council on
. Patient Safety in Women's Health Care Safety Action Series Webinar

•"October 2016: "Home Birth: Trends, Challenges, and Opportunities", presented at the Cincinnati
Children's Perinatal Outreach Program IS"'Annual Regional Perinatal Summit, Cincinnati OH

•June 2015: "Building Bridges: Practical Strategies for Midwife & Physician Collaboration", presented at the
60'" Annual Meeting and Exhibition of the American College of Certified Nurse-Midwives, National Harbor
MD

•March 2012: 'Maternity Care Workforce Analysis", presented at the Certified Professional Midwifery
Symposium, Airlie VA

C. Regional/Local:

•"November 2018: "NNEPQIN Rural Perinatal Summit: Causes, Consequences, and Strategies for
Mitigating Adverse Effects of Maternity Ward Closures in Northern New England" presentation at the
Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Collaborative Annual Meeting, Bretton Woods NH

•"June 2018: "Impacts of Rural Maternity Unit Closures and Birth Outcomes: Evidence, Trends, and Future
Directions". Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Collaborative Spring Meeting, Lebanon
NH. ,

•"February 2018: "The Morbidly Obese, Chronic Opioid Patient". Co-presentation with Laura Chiang MD,
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center Department of Ob/Gyn and Anesthesia Combined Grand Rounds.

•"October 2017: "Abnormal placentation and Maternal Hemorrhage". Co-presentation with Laura Chiang
MD, Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center Department of Ob/Gyn and Anesthesia Corpbined Grand
Rounds.

•"June 2017: "Planned home birth to hospital transfer: Optimizing value for patients, families and
practitioners". University of Vermont Medical Center Obstetrics, Gynecology & Reproductive Sciences
Grand Rounds, Burlington VT.
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Name: Timothy J. Fisher

"^March 2016: 'Moms and Moms-to-Be in Recovery: Perinatal Addiction Treatment Programs". Co-
presentation with Daisy Goodman CNM, DNP at the New England Medical Association meeting, Loon
Mountain Resort, Lincoln NH.

•'^January 2015: "Team Strip Rounds: creation of a multidisciplinary fetal heart rate tracing review
process", panel presentation at the Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Collaborative
Winter Meeting, Lebanon NH.

"'May 2015: "Collaboration in Action", presented at the Maine Home Birth Collaborative Symposium,
Hallowell ME.

•"April 2015; "Creating a Fetal Auscultation Monitoring Library", presented at the annual meeting of the
Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Collaborative, Bretton Woods NH.

•"April 2014: "Home Birth to Hospital: Strategies to Optimize Collaboration", presented at the annual
meeting of the Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Collaborative, Bretton Woods NH.

•"March 2012: "The Future of Home Birth in the United States: Addressing Shared Responsibility",
presented at the annual meeting of the Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement
Collaborative, Bretton Woods NH.

•"November 2010: "Confidential Review and Improvement Board (CRIB) and Patient Safety Organization
(PSO) updates", presented at the annual meeting of the Northern New England Perinatal Quality
Improvement Collaborative, Bretton Woods NH.

•"November 2009: 'NNEPQIN Regional Quality Assurance Peer Review Process"; presented at the
annual meeting of the Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Collaborative, Woodstock VT.

XXII. BIBLIOGRAPHY:

A. Peer-reviewed publications:

Vedam S, Stoll K, MacDorman M, Declercq E, Cramer R, Cheyney M, Fisher T. Butt E, Yang Y, Powell
Kennedy H, (2018) Mapping integration of midwives across the United States: Impact on access, equity,
anH niitrnmftc; PI nS ONE 13^21: e0192523. httDs://doi.orQ/10.1371/iournal.pone.0192523. PMID:

29466389 PMCID: PMC5821332

Vedam S, Leeman L, Cheyney M, Fisher T, Myers S, Kane-Low L, Ruhl C. Transfer from Planned Home
Birth to Hospital: Improving Interprofessional Collaboration. J Midwifery Womens Health 2014; 59:624-
634. PMID: 25533708

B. Other scholarly work in print or other media; Not applicable

C. Abstracts: Include both oral, exhibit and poster presentations. Indicate with (#)
abstracts that were reviewed (e.g., by a professional society) prior to being
accepted for presentation.

Fisher TJ, McHale MT, Harrison TA. Colposcopic appearance at time of loop excision and subsequent
histoiogic diagnosis: Abstract presented at October 2001 ACOG Armed Forces District meeting, Norfolk
VA.
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Name; Timothy J. Fisher
Fisher TJ,. Menefee SA, Powell CR. Complex urethral diverticulum repair using modified bulbocavernosus
flap and suburethral sling. Oral presentation, 2000 AGOG Armed Forces District Meeting, Cincinnati OH.

Fisher TJ. Hollis-Perry M, Harrison TA, Secord AR, Daly R. Coexistent virilizing stromal hyperthecosis and
Brenner tumor of the ovary: A case report. Poster presentation,-2000 ACOG Armed Forces District
Meeting, Cincinnati OH.

Sabi FL, Gaylord TG, Pollock KM, Fisher TJ, McNamara M. Fetal compromise from uterine prolapse: a
novel approach to delivery. Poster presentation, 2000 ACOG Armed Forces District Meeting, Cincinnati
OH.

#Flsher TJ, Schwartz RG, Thompson C, Van Geel T, Carleo J, Leon RJ. Transient Ischemic Dilation
Identifies Risk of Subsequent Cardiac Events. Journal of Nuclear Cardiology, 1997; 4:S106 (Abstract
95.4). Presentation, Third International Conference on Nuclear Cardiology, Florence, Italy April 1997.

#Haque WA, Schwartz RG, Fisher TJ, Miller Watelet L, Oakes D, Mackin M, Thompson C, van Geel T,
Carleo J, Leon RJ, Pentz WH, Kalaria VG. Transient ischemic dilation provides incremental prognostic
value to quantitative SPECT. Circulation 1997; 96:Suppl. (Abstract # 1078), 1-195. Presentation, 7dth
Scientific,Sessions, November 1997, Orlando, FL.
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BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH
Provide the following information for the Senior/key personnel and other significant contributors.

Follow this format for each person. DO NOT EXCEED FIVE PAGES.

NAME: Margaret Rose Minnock

eRA COMMONS USER NAME (credential, e.g.. agency login):

POSITION TITLE: Director, Regional Program for Women's & Children's Health / Executive Director, D-H's
NNEPQIN Program

EDUCATION/TRAINING (Begin with baccalaureate or other initial professional education, such as nursing,
include postdoctoral training and residency training if applicable. Add/delete rows as necessary.)

INSTITUTION AND LOCATION

DEGREE

.  (if
applicable)

Completion

Date

MMA'YYY

FIELD OF STUDY

Wellesley College, Wellesley, MA BA. 05/1983 Political Science, with

Honors

Amos Tuck School of Business at Dartmouth MBA 05/1991 Business studies.

College, Hanover NH organizational
development

A. Personal Statement

Over my long career at Dartmouth-Hitchcock and with D-H's NNEPQIN Program, my guiding light has -been to
make this world a better place for mothers and families. I feel honored to work on a team with so many
clinically expert and compassionate colleagues who share that mission. As Executive Director and partner to
our Medical Director of D-H's NNEPQIN Program, my role is to help set the strategic direction for our
collaborative, and to manage the financial, legal, operational and other network-related matters with our
member organizations.

In my role with the leadership team in the Department of Population Health and Dartmouth Health Childrens, I
am responsible for building strategic regional relationships & programs to enhance maternal and child health.
This includes overseeing design & delivery of regional services and continuing education programs in perinatal
& pediatric care; collaborating with leadership of Obstetrics & Gynecology Department on maternal-child health
Issues in the region; supporting advocacy efforts for perinatal & pediatric health with Government Relations
office; providing vision, leadership & management of many CME/CNE offerings; and supporting strategic
planning efforts with CHaD & D-H leadership.

I am also the Executive Director of Dartmouth-Hitchcock's Northern New England Perinatal Quality
Improvement Network (NNEPQIN). D-H's NNEPQIN Program is a voluntary consortium of 50+ hospitals &
healthcare organizations across New Hampshire, Vermont, & Maine, pur mission is to improve maternal &
newborn .care via robust educational conferences, multi-disciplinary best practice guidelines, consistent Ql
metrics to facilitate benchmarking, and independent & confidential case review of unanticipated outcomes.
See httDs://www.nnepain.orq



B. Positions and Honors

Positions: *

2002 - present Director. Regional Program for Women's & Children's Health
Children's Hospital at Dartmouth (CHaD)

2004 - present Executive Director
D-H's Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Network

Committees:

2002 - present D-H Clinical Ethics Committee; was on Education & Policy Subcornmittees for 12+ years
2018 - 2022 NH Governor's Commission/Perinatal Substance Exposure Task Force
2018 D-H Opioid Collaborative Forum Planning Committee
'2008-2018 D-H Continuing Medical Education Advisory Committee

C. Contributions to Science

D. Additional Information: Research Support and/or Scholastic Performance
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BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

NAME: Goodman, Daisy

eRA COMMONS USER NAME (credential, e.g., agency login): DJGoodman

POSITION TITLE: Assistant Professor, Dept of Obstetrics and Gynecology; Director of Women's Health Services,
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Moms in Recovery Program

EDUCATION/TRAINING

INSTITUTION AND LOCATION
DEGREE

(ifapplicable)
Completion

Date

FIELD OF STUDY

Yale University, New Haven, CT BA 06/1985 • Linguistics

N.H. Community Technical College, NH AD-RN 06/1998 Nursing

Frontier School of Midwifery and Family Nursing, KY CNM/WHNP 06/2002, Nurse-Midwifery,

Women's Health

State University of New York, Stony Brook, NY MS 06/2004 Nursing

Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA DNP 06/2009 Nursing

The Dartmouth Institute/Geisel School of Med., NH, MPH 06/2014 Public Health

Veterans Health Administration Quality Scholars, VAMC, Post-doctoral 06/2015 Healthcare Quality

White River Junction, VT fellowship Improvement

A. Personal Statement

I am a practicing nurse midwife with twenty years of frontline engagement in the care of perinatal drug and alcohol use
disorders and associated social stressors. I have a strong background in clinical improvement and implementation, teach
improvement science at The Dartmouth Institute, and currently direct Dartmouth-Hitchcock's Early and Lasting
Connections project, funded by HRSA's R-CORP NAS. My scholarship and experience in the care of perinatal women
with OUD/SUD has prepared me to successfully implement and evaluate Weaving the Safety Web: Enhancing Rural
Systems of Care for Families Impacted by Opioid & Other Substance Use Disorders, which builds on this work.
Goodman D, Zagaria A, Flanagan V, Deselle F, Hitchings A, Maloney R, Small T, Vergo A, Bruce, ML. Feasibility and
acceptability of a checklist and learning collaborative to promote quality and safety in the perinatal care of women with .
opioid use disorders. Journal of Midwifery and Women's Health, 2019; 64:104-111.
Goodman, D, Saunders, E, Wolff, K. In their own words: A qualitative study of factors promoting resilience and
recoveiy among postpartum women with opioid use disorders. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth 2020; 178:1-10.
Krans, E, Campopiano, M, Cleveland, L, Goodman, D et al. National Partnership for Maternal Safety Consensus Bundle '
on Obstetric Care for Women with Opioid Use Disorder. Obstetrics and Gynecology 2019.
B. Positions and Honors

Positions and Emplovment
2002-2013 Certified Nurse Midwife, Rumford Hospital (2000-2006); Franklin Memorial Hospital (2006-2013)
2013- 2014 Adjunct faculty ofNurse-midwifery, Frontier Nursing University
2013-present Certified Nurse Midwife, Director of Women's Health Service Dartmouth-Hitchcock Moms in Recovery
2015-2016 The Dartmouth Institute for Health Policy and Clinical Practice (TDI), Geisel School of Medicine at

Dartmouth; 2015-2016: Instructor; 2017-present: Assistant Professor
2013-Present Clinical Assistant Professor, Ob/Gyn, Geisel School of Medicine; 2017-present: Assistant Professor
Professional Memberships and Honors: Member; Am. College of,Nurse Midwives, Am. Society of Addiction Medicine
2012 Midwife of the Year Award Maine Affiliate, American College ofNurse-Midwives
2014 Leadership Award The Dartmouth Institute for Health Policy and Clinical Practice
2019 NH Nursing Excellence Award (APRN)
C. Contribution to Science

In 2016,1 led the development of a regional quality improvement initiative to standardize and improve practice in the care
of perinatal substance use. This successful pilot demonstrated the feasibility, acceptability, and effectiveness of using
implementation and quality improvement approaches to improve care for families impacted with substance use disorders.
Complete list of published work: provide link: httDS;//scholar.qooqle.com/citations?user=X5Q81olAAAAJ&hl=en
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BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

Provide the following information for the Senior/key personnel and other significant contributors.

NAME: Victoria Flanagan

eRA COMMONS USER NAME (credential, e.g., agency, login): RN. MS

POSITION TITLE: Perinatal Outreach Educator, Dartmouth-Hitchcock, Lebanon, NH

EDUCATION/TRAINING (Begin with baccalaureate or other initial professional education, such as nursing,
include postdoctoral training and residency training if applicable. Add/delete rows as necessary.)

INSTITUTION AND LOCATION

DEGREE

(if
applicable)

Completion
Date

MMA'YYY

FIELD OF STUDY

Loyola University, Chicago, IL BSN 1978 Nursing

Dartmouth Medical School, Hanover, NH MS 2003 Clinical Evaluative

Science

A. Personal Statement

As the Perinatal Outreach Educator for the Regional Program for Women's and Children's Health at
Dartmouth-Hitchcock in Lebanon, NH, I perform case reviews and provide-educational support to perinatal
providers throughout Northern New England. Because of the opioid crisis in our region, many of the case
reviews focus on these clinical situations. Additional projects include the Perinatal Care of Women with -
Substance Use Disorders Toolkit; Optimizing Care for Newborns with Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome Data
Driven Project; the New Hampshire's Governor's Task Force on Substance Abuse in Pregnancy and the
Maternal Mortality & Infant Death Review Committees.

I also serve as the Director of Operations for the Northern Nevy England Perinatal Quality Improvement
Network (NNEPQIN), Founded in 20O3, NNEPQIN is a voluntary consortium of 50+ organizations in Vermont,
New Hampshire and Maine consisting of academic medical centers, community-based hospitals, state health
departments & professional home birth midwifery organizations. NNEPQIN's mission is to improve perinatal
care across the region by offering continuing education & quality improvement initiatives, developing best
practice guidelines while assisting members to adapt them for local implementation. As this grant states, our
region has been heavily impacted by opioid use disorder in pregnant women, and therefore NNEPQIN has
designed and supported many initiatives to address this issue and improve outcomes.-
httDs://www.nneDain.orq

B. Positions and Honors

I995rpresent Perinatal Outreach Educator, The Regional Program for Women's and Children's Health,
Dartmouth-Hitchcock, Lebanon, NH

2009-present Director of Operations, Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Network
(NNEPQIN), Lebanon, NH

2012 - Present NH Maternal Mortality Case Abstractor, NH Department of Health and Human Services,
Concord, NH

0.

1.

2.

3.

Contributions to Science

Goodman D, Zagaria, A, Flanagan V et al. Feasibility and acceptability of a checklist and learning
collaborative to promote quality and safety in the perinatal care of women with opioid use disorders.
Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health. 2019 Jan;64(1): 104-111
Atwood EC, Sollender G, Huas E, Arsnow C, Flanagan V et al. A Qualitative Study of Family Experience
with Hospitalization for Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome. Hospital Pediatrics. 2016; 6(10): 626-632.
Donnelly K, Lauria MR, Flanagan V. Multistate Collaboration to Confidentially Review Unanticipated
Perinatal Outcomes: Lessons Learned. Obstetrics and Gynecology 2Q15\ 126(4):765-9.-



MAGGIE COLEMAN, MPH
margaret.a.coleman@hitchcock.org

EDUCATION

Dartmouth College, Hanover, NH

Master ofPublic Health June 2022

Delta Omega Honor Society, Social Justice Award Recipient

University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA

Bachelor of Arts in Anthropology and Spanish June 2014

Magna cum laude, Phi Beta Kappa Honor Society

~  PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE ~
Dartmouth Health, Lebanon, NH February 2022 - Present

Population Health Coordinator

•  Supporting NH birthing hospitals' implementation of perinatal care quality improvement safety bundles.

•  Implementing yoiith vaping prevention strategies in partnership with community champions.
.  Designing models for supportive hiring pathways to further Dartmouth Health's anchor mission.

DHMC Community Health Improvement Plan (CHIP) Strategy Consultant

Synthesized and reviewed data from community and clinical discussions for FY23-FY25 CHIP writing.
•  Engaged with clinical teams to verily data collection plans for initiatives included in FY23-FY25 CHIP.

DHMC Community Health Improvement Plan Strategy Intern

•  Facilitated clinical and community focus groups and interviews in response to FY21 Community Health

Needs Assessment (CHNA).

•  Performed qualitative analysis of CHNA feedback in Dedoose to inform the FY23-FY25 CHIP strategy.

Public Health Council of the Upper Valley, Lebanon, NH June 2022 - March 2023

Community Health Improvement Plan (CHIP) Strategy Consultant

Supported creation of the PHC's regional CHIP by researching existing improvement models, reviewing

data from clinical and communit)' teams, and facilitating discussions around identified priority health areas.

Early Childhood Consultant

•  Developed an evidence-based best practice framework by which to assess regional services and supports

for early childhood wellbeing.

•  Collected and analyzed qualitative data obtained from interviews of early childhood services at the system,
provider, and caregiver level.

Generated an accessible report of findings for use in improvement planning and cross-sector collaboration.

Dartmouth College, Hanover, NH June 2022 - Present

Graduate Teaching Assistant, The Dartmouth Institute

•  Support TDI faculty in developing course materials, coaching students, and grading assignments.

Guidepost Montessorl, Virtual School November 2020-July 2021

Lead Toddler Teacher

Designed and implemented a virtual Montessori curriculum for 20 remote students aged 2 to 4 years.

Collaborated with families to design at-home environments promoting children's growth and independence.

Minor Avenue Children's House, Seattle, VVA January 201.6 - July 2020

Lead Toddler Teacher

•  Designed and implemented a Montessori curriculum for 14 students aged 12 months to 3 years while
managing a staff of 3 assistants.

•  Authored individualized lesson plans promoting social-emotional, cognitive, and physical development.

•  Led parent conferences and authored content for family education events and newsletters.

•  Created virtual learning materials, interactive videos, and parent education portal amidst COVlD-19.
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Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

Key Personnel

Name Job Title Salary % Paid from

this Contract

AmountPaid

from this Contract

(SFY2023-2025)

Medical Director Timothy Fisher $365,180.00 5.0% $54,777.90
Program Advisor /
Administrative Director Margaret Rose Minnock $162,671.00 2.5% $12,200.33
Clinical Subject Matter
Expert . Daisy Goodman $138,325.00 2.5% $10,374.38
Data Abstractor &

Perinatal Educator Victoria Flanagan $113,093.00- 23.0% $77,334.00
Project Coordinator To Be Named $62,424.00 50.0% $93,636.00
Data Analyst Margaret Coleman $60,464.00 20.0% $36,278.40
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STAtE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES

29 HAZEN DRIVE, CONCORD, NH 03301
603-271-450I 1-800-8S2-334S Ext. 4501

Fax: 603-271-4827 TOD Access: 1-800-735.2964
\vww.dhht.nh.|;ov

December 22,2021

His Excellency. Governor ChrislopherT. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

Slate House . , .
Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Division Health
Services, to amend an existing contract with Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (v^ 177160),
Lebanon, NH. to provide Alliance oh Innovation in Matemal Health (AIM) patient safety bundles
in order to reduce maternal mortality, by increasing the price limitation by $52,114 from $273.1 iz
to $325,226 with no change to the contract completion date of June 30. 2023. effective upon
Governor and Council approval. 100®/o Federal Funds.

The original contract was approved by Governor and Council on June 10. 2020. 't©m #12.
and most recently amended with Governor and Council approval on June 16.2021, item #34.

Funds are available in the. following account for State Fiscal Year 2022, and are
anticipated to be available in Slate Fiscal Year 2023, upon the availability and conltnued
appropriation of funds in the future operating budget, with the authority to adjust budget line items
within the price limitation and encumbrances between state fiscal years through the Budget Office,
if needed and justified.

05-95-90-902010-34870000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SVS, HHS; PUBLIC HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF COMM & HEALTH SERV,
MATERNAL MORTALITY

State

Fiscal
Year

Class /
Account

Class Title
Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased
(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Budget

2020 102-500731

Contracts for

Program
Services •

90080478

$68,278 $0 $68,278

2021 102-500731
Contracts for
Program
Services

90080478

$68,278 $0 $68,278

2022 102-500731

Contracts for
Program
Services

90080478
$66,278 $0 $68,278

2023 102-500731

Contracts for
Program '
Services

90080478

$68,278 $0 $68,278

Subtotal $273,112 $0 $273,112

The Deparlmtni of Health and Human Services'Mitsioit tj lojoin eomnwnities andfamUiet
in providing opporlunilies for citizens to achieve health and independence.
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His Excellertcy.' Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

Page 2 of 3

05-95-90-902010-45260000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SVS, HNS: PUBLIC HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF COMM & HEALTH SERV, MCH DATA
LINKAGE

State
Fiscal

Year

Class /
Account

Class Title
Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Budget

2022 074-500589
Grants for
Pub Asst

and Re!

90080125

$0 $52,114 $52,114

Subtotal $0. $52,114 $52,114

Total $273,112 $52,114 $325,226

EXPLANATION

The purpose of this request is for the Contractor to collaborate with the Alliance on
Innovation in Maternal Health (AIM) to iniplemeni at least two (2) AIM evidence-based patient
safety bundles in order to provide a standardized approach to improve the quality of health care
provided, to pregnant woman impacted by opiold use and other substances. Opioid overdose is a
leading cause of pregnancy-associated, deaths in New Hampshire, A patient safety bundle is a
structured way of delivering health care; pach bundle includes a set of straightforward evidence-
based clinical practices that, when performed collectively and consistently, has been proven to
reduce maternal mortality.arid pregnancy associated deaths. These patient safety bundles help
pregnant woman and their families' access support for behavioral health, mental health, and other
community resources. These steps will help prevent substance use associated illness and death
'during pregnancy and will also result in savings to the Department.

The Contractor will also continue to assist the Departmenrs Maternal Mortality Review
Committee, including collecting maternal death information, abstracting medical and non-medical
records on maternal death cases, and participating in reviews of maternal death cases.

The Department will monitor services to ensure:

•  Successful completion (100% attendance) at the national AIM Data Community of
Learning to address data quality and share best practices in addressing needs of the
New Hampshire birthing facilities In implementing these bundles.

•  Completion of at least one AIM data training session, with the Department, for all of
the participating birthing locations to Identify barriers to reporting AIM bundle- specific
outcome measures, Including the percent of pregnant and postpartum people
screened for substance use disorder and validated screening tools and resources
shared with prenatal care sites.

•  Timely submission of quarterly reports to the Department regarding AIM program
progress, which include structure and outcome measures that are associated with the
patient safety bundles being Implemented.

Should the Governor and Council not authorize this request, the Department will not be
able to effectively address opioid related disorders in pregnant women in Nevy Hampshire, which
may result In more maternal mortality related to opioid misuse.

Area served: Statewide
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His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

Page 3 of 3

Source of Federal Funds: Assislance Listing Number #93.110. FAIN # H18000033.

The Department will request General Funds in the event that Federal Funds are no longer
available and services are still needed.

Respectfully submitted.

Lori A. Shibinelte

Commissioner
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State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Amendment #2

This Amendment to the Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality contract is
by and between the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Sen/Ices ("State" or
"Department") and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock
Clinic (collectively doing business as Dartmouth Hitchcock) ("the Contractor").

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council
on June 10, 2020 (Item #12). as amended on June 16. 2021 (Item #34), the Contractor agreed to perform
certain services based upon the terms and conditions specified in the Contract as amended and in
consideration of certain sums specified; and

WHEREAS." pursuant to Form P-37. General Provisions. Paragraph 18, the Contract may be amended ■
upon written agreement of the parties and approval from the Governor and Executive Council; and

WHEREAS, the parties agree to extend the term of the agreement, increase the price limitation, or modify
the scope of services to support continued delivery of these services; and

NOW THEREFORE. In consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows:

1. Form P-37, General Provisions. Block 1.8. Price Limitation, to read;

$325,226

2. Modifying Exhibit A - Amendment #1. Scope of Services, by adding Subsections 2.15 through
2.18, to read:

2.15 The Contractor shall comply with all privacy and security requirements as outlined
in this Contract, and collaborate with the Alliance on Innovation in Maternal Health
(AIM) to provide a standardized approach to delivering improved patient outcomes
at birthing locations by implementing at least two (2) AIM evidence-based patient
safety bundles, which include, but are not limited to, the following resources and
aggregated data:

2.15.1 Number of substance use disorders (SUD) among pregnant and.
postpartum individuals.

2.15.2 Number of Severe Maternal Morbidity (SMM), Including transfusion
codes, among individuals with SUD.

2.15.3 Number of proportion of pregnancy associated deaths due to overdose.

2.15.4 Percent of newborns exposed to substances in utero who go home to
either birth parent.

2.15.5 Percent of pregnant and postpartum individuals with opioid use disorder
(CUD) who received or were referred to medication for opioid use
disorder (MOUD).

2.15.6 Percent of pregnant and postpartum individuals with SUD who received
or were referred to recovery treatment services.

2.15.7 Percent of pregnant and postpartum individuals with SUD who received
or were prescribed Nalgxone prior to delivery discharge.

2.15.8 Percent of pregnant and postpartum individuals screened for SUDs.

2.15.9 Percent of pregnant and postpartum individuals with OUD who were
counseled on medication for opioid use disorder (MOUD).

■ wi/-
SS-2020-DPHS-11 -MATERN-OI-A02 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials

^ . 1/21/2022
A-S-I.l Page 1 of 5 Date
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2.15.10 Percent of pregnant and postpartum individuals with SUD who were
counseled on recovery treatment services.

2.15:11 Percent of pregnant and postpartum individuals with SUD who received
Naloxone counseling.

2.15.12 Provider and Nursing Education - Substance Use Disorders.

2.15.13 Provider and Nursing Education - Respectful and Equitable Care.

2.15.14 Resource Mapping/Identification of Community Resources.

2.15.15 Patient Event Debriefs.

2.15.16 General Pain Management Guidelines.

2.15.17 OUD Pain Management Guidelines.

2.15.18 Validated Verbal Screening Tools and Resources Shared with Prenatal
Care Sites.

2.16 The Contractor shall participate in the national AIM Data Community of Learning to
address data quality and share best practices in addressing needs, as directed by
the Department.

2.17 The Contractor shall facilitate, in collaboration with the Department, an AIM data
traihing session for all participating birthing locations to identify barriers to reporting
AIM bundle- specific metrics.

2.18 The Contractor shall work submit quarterly reports to the Department that include,
but are not limited to, AIM program progress, structure and outcome measures that
are associated with the patient safety bundles being implemented.

"  3. Modify Exhibit B, Methods arid Conditions Precedent to Payment, Section 2, to read:
. 2. This agreement is funded with;

2.1 84% Federal Funds from Centers for Disease Control & Prevention on June 30,
2021, Preventing Maternal Deaths: Supporting Maternal Mortality Review
Committees Grant. Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) #93.478.
Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN) #NU58DP006693.

2.2 16% Federal Funds from Department of Health and Human Services. Health
Resources and Services Administration on August 18. 2021, Maternal and Child
Health Federal Consolidated Programs. Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance
(CFDA) #93.110, Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN) #H18000033.

4. Modify Exhibit B, Methods and Conditions Precedent to Payment, Section 4, Subsection 4.1, to
•read: /

4.1 Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures incurred
in the fulfillrrient of this Agreement, and shall be in accordance with the approved
line items as specified in Exhibit B-1, Budget through Exhibit B-5 Budget,
Amendment #2.

5. Modify Exhibit B, Methods and Conditions Precedent to Payment. Section 4, Subsection 4.2, to
read:

4.2 The Contractor shall submit an invoice and supporting documents to the
Department no later than the fifteenth (15th) working day of the following month.
The Contractor shall:

4.2.1 Ensure the invoice is presented in a form that is provided by the Department
or is otherwise acceptable to the Department.

wi/
SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERN-01-A02 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor

Page 2 of 5 Dat®
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4.2.2 Ensure the invoice identifies and requests payment for allowable costs
incurred in the previous month.

4.2.3 Provide supporting documentation of allowable costs that may include, but
is not limited to, time sheets, payroll records, receipts for purchases, and
proof of expenditures, as applicable.

4.2.4 Ensure the invoice is completed, dated andVetumed to the pepartmeht with
the supporting documentation for authorized expenses, in order to initiate
payment.

6. Add Exhibit B-5 Budget - Amendment #2 which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference
herein.

Ml/
SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERN-01-A02 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials

«  ̂ .c rv . 1/21/2022A-S-1.1 Page 3 of 5 Date
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All terms and conditions of the Contract and prior amendments not modlHed by this Amendment remain
in full force and effect. This Amendment shall be effective upon Governor and Council approval.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below,

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

1/24/2022

Date

-OeeuSlon«4 by;r-'
M. Til ley

Title: oi rector

1/21/2022

Date

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic

N^nT^^Baroara A. vance

Title: vice president, Research operations

Ml/
Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERN-01-A62

A-S-1.1

Pago 4 of 5

Contractor Initials

Date
1/21/2022
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The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form, substance, and
execution.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

•OoMSigiMd by:

(..wlvin/)2/11/2022 I
Date Name. '

Title: Attorney

I hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: (date of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:
Title:

U\J
Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital A-S-1.1 Contractor Initials^
SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERNt01-A02 PageSofS , Dale
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Lcri A. Shiblnfti*

CemmluleMr

Uu M. Marrii
Dlmt»r '

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

bmSION Of PUBLIC HEALTH SERy/C£S.

29 HAZEN drive; CONCORD, Nil 03301
603-271-4501 I-80I3-8S2-3349 Evl. 4501

Fe.t; 603-271-482? TOD Actest: 1-800-735-2964
tvnu'.dhht.nh.gov

June 10,2021

His Excellency. Govknor Christopher T. Sununu -
and the .Honorable Council

State House
Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Departrnent of Health and Human Services, Division of Public Health
Services, to amend an existing contract with Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital {VC# 177160).
Lebanon. NH, to continue the collection and abstraction of clinical and non-clinica! data to address
maternal morbidities in order to prevent future maternal deaths, by exercising a contract renewal
option by Increasing the price limitation by $136,556 from $136,556 to $273,112 and exleriding the
completion date from June 30. 2021 to June 30. 2023 effective July 1, 2021 or upon Governor
and Council approval, whichever Is later. 100% Federal Funds.

The original contract was approved by Governor and Council on June 10.2020, Item #12.

Funds are anticipated to be available in State Fiscal Years 2022 and 2023. upon the
availability and continued appropriation of funds In the future operating budget, with the eulhorily
to adjust budget line items within the price limitation and encumbrances between slate fiscal years
through the Budget Office, if ne^ed and justified.
05-95-90-902010-3487 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES. DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
SVS, HHS: PUBLIC HEALTH DIV. BUREAU OF COMM & HEALTH SERV, MATERNAL
MORTALITY

State

Fiscal

Year

. Class /
Account

Class Title
Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Budget

2020 .102-500731
Contracts for
PfOfl Svc

00080478 $68,278 $0 $68,276

2021 102-500731
Contracts for

Prop Svc
90080478 $68:278 $0 $^8,278

2022 10^500731
Contracts for

Prop Svc
90080478 $0 $68,276 S6B.278

2023 102-500731
Contracts for

Prop Svc
90080478 SO $68,278 $68,278

Totals $136,556 $136,556 $273,112

EXPLANATION

The purpose of this request is for the Contractor to continue assisting the efforts of the
lyiaternal fyiortallly Progrem, including collecling maternal death information, abstracting .medical
and non-niedical records on rhaternal death cases, and participating In reviews of malerrial death

Tfii Deporlnitnl cfHrollh o»rrf Hiimait Sirviett'Miuioii U 10Join communilltt and fumUit$
in pnuidhig opportunStiti for<iHten$ W ocAi«w hnlih and indtptndtnct.
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His Exctilency. GovenxTf Christopher t. Sununu
and (he htonorabio Coundi /

Page 2 of 2 '

caS6S. Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center Is uniquely qualified to provide the services as it
oversees the Northern New England Perinatal Quality Inriprovement Network (NNEPQIN).
NNEPQIN is the sole perinatal quality collaborative for Northern New England. NNEPQIN Is
named in New Hampshire Maternal Mortality legislation as a partner in the collection, abstraction
and participation In review of maternal death cases.

The Contractor will enter data into the Maternal Mortality Review information.Application
regarding deaths of women In New Hampshire during pregnaricy and dunng the year following
the end of pr^nancy. The Contractor \MII attend the Maternal Mortality Review Committee
Meetings-;and assist Ihe Department's Malertial-Mortality Review Coordinatpr as needed. The
Contractor will work with stakeholders end the Department to create an action plan id Implemeht
the maternal health'end weilness recommendations and to develop educational and other
rriaterials for healthcare .professionals and the public.

The Department will mo.nhor contracted services to ensure:

•  Maternal Mortality case data and Review Committee recorhrnendaCions -are
en'tered Into the Mialerhal Mortality Review Information Application within one (1)
month of the Maternal Mortality Review Commitiee Meetings.

• A Recommendations Worksheet is submitted to the Oeparimerit within one (1)
month of the Mateimal Mortality Review Committee Meetings.

As referenced in Exhibit C-i of the original agreement, the parties have the option to.
extend the agreement for up to two (2) additional years, contirigeni upon satisfactory delivery of
-se'rvices. a.vailable funding, agreement of the parties and-Governor-and Council approval.- The
Department Js exerdsing its option to extend ttie agreement for •.(2) years o.f the two (2) year
renevyal option, leaving hp. renewal time remaining.

Should the Governor and Council not authorize this request, the work conducted by the
Maternal Mortality Review. Committee to rhake recommendations regarding maternal deaths in
New Hampshire will bei delayed due to lack of assistance In comp.leilng the abstracting ar;id case
preparation for rnalemal .mortality review.

Area served: Statewide

Source of Funds:- CFDA #93.478, FAIN N58DP006693.

In the event (he Federal. Funds become no longer available,. General Funds will not be'
requested to suppon this program.

Re'specitfuliy.submiUed.

L'ori A. Shibinette
Commissioner
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State of New Hampshire
Dejpartment of Health and Human Services

Amendment #1

.This Amendment to the Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Matemal Mortality contract is
by and between the State of New Hampshire. Department of Health and Human Services ("State" or
"Department") and Mary Hitchcock, Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock
Clinic (collectively doing business as Dartmouth Hitchcock) ("the Contractor").

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council
on June 10, 2020, (Item #12) the Contractor agreed to perform certain services based upon the terms and
conditions specified in the Conlracl and in consideration of certain sums specified; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37. General Provisions, Paragraph 18, and Exhibit C-1, Paragraph 2.
Renewal.ihe Contract may be amended upon written agreement of the parties and approval from the
Governor and Executive Council; and

WHEREAS, the parties agree to extend the term of the agreement, increase the price limitation, and
modify the scope of services to support continued delivery of thes.e services; and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions,contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as fodows;

1. Form P-37 General Provisions, Block 1.7, Completion Date, to read:

June 30. 2023.

2. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.8, Price Limitation, to read:

$273,112. - .

3., Modify Exhibit A. Scope of Services, by deleting it in its entirety and replacing with Exhibit A -
Amendrinenf #1, Scope of Services, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

4. Modify Exhibit B. Method and Conditions Precedent to Payment. Section.4.-Subsection 4.1, to
read:

■ A "

4.1. Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures incurred in the
fulfillment of this Agreement, and shall be In accordance with the approved line Items as
-specined in Exhibit B-1, Budget through Exhibit B-4, Budget.

5. Modify Exhibit B. Method and Cbndilions Precedent to Payment, S^tion 8, to read:

8. Payments may be withheld pending receipt of required deliverables and documentation as
identified in Exhibit A - Amendment #1-, Scope of Services, and in'this &(hibit 8.

6. Add Exhibit B-3, Budget - Amendment U^, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference
herein.

7. Add Exhibit B-4. Budget - Amendment #1, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference
herein..

SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERN-01-A01 Dartmoulh Hitchcock Medical Center , ConiraciorinlHalB

A-S-1.0 Pago 1 of 3 Date 5/25/2021
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All terms and conditions'of the Contract not modified by this Amendment remain in full force and effect.
This Amendment shall be effective July 1. 2021, upon Governor and . Executive Council approval,
whichever Is later.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below.

Stale of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

5/25/2021

Date

T.t\
"7

Name: Patricia M. Tilley
Title:

interim Director

S/2S/2021

Date

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on t>ehalf of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic

0ecuSlDA*4

-nVUU3M4tU'J301M.'. ,
Name: Jennifer Lopet
Title:

Director of Research Operations Finance

SS-202O-OPHS-1.'J-MATeftN-0l-A01

A-s-ro

Osdmoulh Medical Center

Page 2 of 3
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The preceding Amendmenl, having been reviewed by this office, Is approved as to form, substance, and
execution.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

S/27/2021

^  o«»'e?MC»?o*KCxi
Date Name: Catherine Pinos

Title:
Attorney

I hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: ' ' (date of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Dale Name:

Title:

SS-2020-OPHS-1l-fv1ATERN.01.A01 Dartmoulh Medical Center

A-S-1.6 Pago 3 of 3
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality

Exhibit A - Amendment #1

Scope of Services

1. Provisions Applicable to AM Services

1.1. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future legislative action by the New
Hampshire General Court or federal or stale court orders may have an impact
on the Sen/ices described herein, the State Agency has the right to modify
Service priorities and expenditure requirements under this Agreement so a.s to
achieve compliance therewith.

.  1.2. For the purposes of this Agreement, the Department has identified the
Contractor as a Subrecipient, in accordance with 2 CFR 200.300.

1.3. The Contractor shall ensure one (1) part-time Maternal Mortality Abstractor
. provides data-related activities, which include but are not limited to:

1.3.1. Collecting maternal death information.

1.3.2. Abstracting maternal death cases.

1.3.3. Reviewing maternal death cases.

2. Scope of Work

2.1. The Contractor shall enter data into the Maternal Mortality Review Information
Application (MMRIA) regarding deaths of women in New Hampshire during
pregnancy and during the year following the end of pregnancy.

2.2. The Contractor shall enter abstracted maternal mortality case data and
information into the MMRIA within one (1) ."^onth of receiving the information
from the Maternal-Mortality Review Coordinator. The Contractor shall:

2.2.1. Conduct a record review in order to abstract data and information related

to NH maternal death cases.

2.2.2. Maintain working knowledge of the Center for Disease Control's (CDC)
maternal mortality practices and resources,

2.2.3: Refer to the Center for Disease Control's Review to Action website and
the Enhancing Reviews and SuiS/eillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality
(ERASE MM) website for updated, maternal mortality information.

2.3. The Contractor shall attend abstractor trainings conducted by the CDC.

2.4. The.Contractor shall attend a minimum of two (2) Maternal Mortality Review
Committee (MMRC) meetings each Stale Fiscal Year of the contract period and
provide meeting minutes with recommendations to the Maternal Mortality
Review Coordinator within one (1) week of each meeting.

2.5. The Contractor shall maintain the established Recommendations Work Group,
'  consisting of a multidisciplinary group of individuals including, but not limited-to:

—o»

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center Exhibit A-Amendmeni #1 Contractor Initials

SS-2020-DPf

Rev.09/06rt8

SS-2020-DPHS.11-MATERN-01-A01 Pago 1 of 4 Date^^i^^^^
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services .
Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality

Exhibit A - Amendment #1

2.5.1. Mental Health Facility staff.

2.5.2. Community Health workers;

2.5.3. Medical personnel.

2.6. The Coritractor shall facilitate in-person' or .virtual .meetings of the
.Recommendations Work Group on an as-needed basis to review and discuss

•  the recommendations of the MMRC.-,-..

2.7. The Contractor shall utilize Ihformltion provided by the Recommendations Work
Group to Inform action ori no less than two (2) projects each State Fiscal Year

.  . • of the contract period. •

2.8. The Contractor shall in collaboration with the Department implement the
"recommendalionsof the MMRC.

2.9. The Contractor shall attend weekly Organizational Meetings with the
- Department as scheduled by the Department. Meeting activities will include, but
are not limited to:

2.9.1. Identifying required educational content and materials.

2.9.2. Establishing Annual Performance Measures.

2.10,. The Contractor shall develop the necessary educational content and materials
required to implement the recommendations of the MMRC.

2.11. The Contractor shall conduct monthly Maternal Mortality educational w.eblnars
representative of the educational content and materials developed which may
include, but is not limited to', PowerPoint presentations.

2.12.- The Contractor shall in collaboration with the Department meet the Performance
Measures established at the weekly Organizational Meetings.

2.13. The Contractor shall attend monthly meetings with the CDC as scheduled by
the Department. Meeting topics may Include, but are not limited to:

2.13.1. Progress of Annual Performance Measures.

2.13.2^ Functioning of the MaternarMortality Review Information Application
(MMRIA).

2.13.3. Current national news.

2.14. The Contractor shall expand the Association of Women's Health, Obstetric and'
Neonatal Nurses (AWHONN) Post Birth Warning Signs Pilot Program to all
State birthing hospitals. The Contractor shall:.

•2.14.1. Provide hospitals with the AWHONN education program for mothers and
their families to increase awareness of postpartum warning signs; and

2.14.2. Ensure education Is provided utilizing the information developed by the
national AWHONN.

&Dartmoiilh Hitchcock Medical Center Exhibit A - Amendment#! Contfaclor Initials'

SS-2020-OP^

Rev.09/06/18

SS-202O-OPHS-11-MATeRN.O1.A0l ■PagG2of4 Dale
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality

Exhibit A - Amendment #1

3. Deliverables

, 3.1. The Contractor shall develop and submit a Recommendations Worltsheel to the
Department no later-than thirty (30) days after each monthly Maternal Mortality
Review Comrnittee Meeting that includes, but is not limited to: ,

3.1.1. Actions'to be facilitated, by priority; and

3.1.2. ' Actions implemented.

3.2. The Contractor shall provide copies of PowerPoint presentations presented at-
Maternal Mortality education w'eblnars to the Department at the conclusion of
each webinar.;

4. Data Sharing

4.1. The Contractor shall .ensure any disclosure of identifiable confidehtial health,
SliO or mental health information or data adheres to state and federal laws and
regulations relating to'safeguarding the confidential information, which includes,
but may not be limited to:

4.1.1. The Health Information Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA).

4.1.2. 45-CFR 160-164.

4.1.3. 42 CFR Part 2 for SUD Data

4.1.4. , NH Administrative Rule He-M 2019 for Mental Health Data.

4.2. the Contractor shall ensure confidentiality agreements are signed by all parties
sharing data in order to safeguard any identifiable information collected and
disclosed to prevent any Inadverlenl disclosure of indefinable information.

4.3. The-Contractor shall riot collect, receive, store, or manage confidential data
related to the-scope of work and deliverables Identified in this Exhibit A unless
or until the parties have agreed in writing to a Data Sharing Plan that includes,
but is not limited to the following:

4.3.1. The purpose of the data exchange;

4.3.2. Description of the Department's data elements to be disclosed;

4.3.3. Source or. Systems of Records,

4.3.4. Number of Records Involved and Operational Time Factors

4.3.5. Data Elements Involved

4.3.6. Reporting and Secure Transmission of Confidential Data

4.3.7. Description of the Contractor's data elements to be disclosed; and

4.3.8. Responsibilities of both parties regarding the exchange of data.

Darlmoulh Hitchcock Medical Cenler Exhibil A - Amendment Contractor initials

SS-2020-OPF

R6V.09/06/18

SS-2020-OPHS-11-MATeRN.-0l-A0l PageSolfl
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'  t '

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality

Exhibit A -Amendment #1

4.4. The Contractor shall execute the Data Sharing Plan in a timely manner so as
not to impede the scope of work- and deliverables identified in this Exhibit A.

4.5. The Contractor agrees to modify the Data Sharing Plan in writing as necessary,
due to any changes to the scope of work and deliverables identified in this
Exhibit A. ■ ■

4.6. The Contractor shall comply with the terms of Exhibit K, DHHS Information
Security Requirements, which Is attached hereto and incorporated by reference
herein.

rfi
Dartmoulh Hilchcock Medical Center - Exhibit A -Amendment #1 Contraclor Initials t.

SS-2020-OPHS.11-MATERN-01.A01 Page 4 of 4
Rev.09/06/18
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DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

. ttimiONOF PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES
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M3-27I-4MI 1-BOO^]»43E«L4»1

F*i:6Q3-ni4n7 TDDAtctu: I-809-7JS-2M4
'.4bb».nb.g«v

May 26. 2020

•  His Excellency. Govarnof Christopher T. Sonunu
' end the Honorable Coundi . i . '
State House ,
Concord. New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Autfiorize the Department of Health.end Human Services, Division of Public Health
Services, to enter • Into a Sole So'urce contract with Mary HltchcocK Memorial Hospital
(VC«177160). Lebanon. NH In the amount of $138.556 for the collection and ebstraction of dinlcal

'  "and non-dinical data in order to prevent future maternal deaths end address maternal morbidllles
with Ihe option to renew for up to two eddiHonal years, effective upon Governor and Coundl
approval through June 30.2021.100% Federal Funds

Funds ere available In the following account for State Fiscal Years 2020 and 2021, with
the authority to adjust budget line items within the price limitation and encumbrances between
slate fiscal years through the Budget Office. If needed and Justified.

,06-95.90-M2010-3A87000d HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES. DEPT OF HEALTH AND
/ HUfVtAN SVS. HHS: DIVISION OF PUBLIC H^LTH, BUREAU OF POPULATION HEALTH
\ AND COMMUNITY SERVICES, MATERNAL MORTALITY

State

Fiscal Year

Glees /

Account
Clees Title Job Number total Amount

2020 102-500731 Corrtractsfor ProgSvc 00080476 $68,278

2021 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 60080478 $68,276.

Total $136,666.

Thte request is Solo Source because (he Department specified the vendor's name during
the grant application process, prior to the grant eward being Issued. Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical
Center overcees Ihe Northern New England Pertnalal Quelity Improvemenl Network (NNEPQIN);
NNEPQIN is the aole pcrtnatal quality coilabofatrve for Northern New England. NNEPQIN Is
named In New Hampshire hAalernal Mortality legislation as.a partner In the collecllon, abstraction
and partidpatlon In revtew.of maternal death cases.

The" purpose of this request is for the vendor to hire a part time abstractorto assist in the
work around the Maternal Mortality Program. The abstriactor will, collect maternal death
Information; abstract medical end non-medical records on maternal death casee; end participate
In review of matemal.death cases.

7*# end Wumon Sf/wMrNoiiefl uia/oin €9mmuniik$ on4 fomil'ui
in pnvidingefipcriunilUt/oftilitintieaehUM hnhfi end ind4fitndine«.
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Poge 2 of 2

The absVactor will enter'deta into the Maternal Morlallty Review Information Applicalion
regarding deaths of women In New Hampshire during pregnancy and during the year following
the end of pregnancy. The abstractor wID attend the Maternal Mortality Review Meetings and
asalat the Maternal Mortality Review Coordinaior at the Department, as needed. The Contractor
will work with alakeholders and department to create an action plan to Implement the maternal
health end wellness recorhmondatlons as well as develop educational and other, materials for
healthcare professionals and the public. .The Corrtractor will eiso pllot-an Assocfatton of VVomen's
Health. Obstetric end Neonatol Nurses Post Birth Weming Signs program in et least three (3)
birth hospitald across New Hampshire. The Association of Women's Health. 0t>9tetrlc and
Neonatal-Nuraes pilot program will provide education for mothers and their femliies to Increase
BwarenesB of postpartum Issues requiring medical attention.

The Department .will monitor contraded se.rvlcos using the following performance
measures;- '

.  • Enter Information into the Maternal Mortality Review Irifoimatlon Application oh
maternal mortaliiy case data and information within one (1) rnonth of receiving the
information from the Maternal Mortality Review Coordinator at tfie Department. .

• • Provide an annual report on March 15 of each year-that outlines the number of
'  recommendalions for action priorltiisd by the Recommendations Work d.roup.

♦  Pfovlda a fi nal report on June S. 2021 that details the research completed by the legal
.  consultant. ■

As referenced In Exhibit C-1 of the attached conlrect. the parjies have the option to extend
the egreement for up two (2) additional years, contingent upon aatisfactory delivery of services,
available funding, agreement of the parties'and Governor and Council approval.

Should ttie Governor and Council not authorize this request, the Work that the Maternal •
Mortality Review Comrnittee does to make recommendations around maternal deaths In New
Hampshire will be delayed due to tack of assistance In completing the abstracting and case
preparation for maternal mortality review.

Area served: Stetewtde

' Source of Funds: 100% Federal Funds from Departmeni of Health end Human Services.
Center for Disease Control and Prevention. .CFDA P 93.478/FAIN P N58dPOOS693.

In the event that the Federal Funds become no longer available. General Funds will not
be requested to.support this program.

Respectfully submitted,

07

lofi A. Shlbinette
Commbsioner
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FORM NUMBER P-37 (venlen S^fS)
Subject: Enhnncini Rcvlcwi end Sufvcilltnce to Eltminalc Maumgl MfffftiilY t55-2QiO-OPH5-l I -MMERNl

^Qikc: Thif agreement and all of ii& fiiiichnKnu ftoll become public upon aubmiision to Governor and
Executive Council for approval. Anjr infonnaiion ihoi'is prlvaic.conridentiat or proprietary must
be clearly idcniified to (he agency find agreed to in writing prior to signing the eomract.

"agreement
ThcSute of New Hampshire and (he Cofii/»C(or hereby rmmiiUy agree fis folloiv-s:

cental PROVISIONS

I.I State Agency Name
NH Department of Health and Kuntan Services

1.2' State Agency Address -
129 Pkasant Street

Concord. HHOJ]OtOI37 .

1.3 ComrictorNime

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself arrd on behalf of
Danmouih-Hiichcork Clinic (collectively doing business as
"Donmooth-Hirchcock")

1.4 Contractor AtJdrcss

One Mcdkal Center Dr. Lebanon. NH. 0)756

1.5 Conificior Phone
Number

d03-d50-5000

1.6 Account Number'

05*095 •090'-90201004870000

1.7 Completion Date

June 30.3021

1.8 Price Limitation

S136.556

1.9 Contracting Officer for State Agency
Nathan D. White. Oirccior

I.IO State Agency Telephone Number
60J-27|.96)I'

l.ll Coniricior Signature
Ow* tl|IM< »Tt

■ 1 Uinlt (1. £walss

1.12 Name and Title of Comractor Signatory
Leigh Uurgcs}. Vice President
Ofticc of Research Opcraiion)

I.I) Acknowledgement: Siatcof .Countyof

On .before the undcnigncdofTiccr. personally oppcored the person identified in block 1.13, or tatisfacibrily
proventobc thepcrton whose name is signed in block l.ll. and acknoulcdgcd that s/>ie executed ihisdocumcnt in the capacity
indicated in block 1.12.
1.13.1. Signature of Notary Public or Justice ofihc PcDcc

(Seel) . . .

•1.13.2 Name and Title of Notary or Jujiicc of ihf Peace

1.14 ■SdifiAficney Signature

1  Dm: rflidVW
1,15 Nante and Title of State Agency Signniory

l.ld Approval by the N.H. Dcpartineni of AdndAlsiraiion.DMtien of Personnel (1/tip/>nci'NeJ

"By: . . . Dlrccior.On: •

1.17 Approval by the Attorney Gcnera|(Fofm. Substance and Execution) fr/n/jp/rcrihfrJ

■  8,Q 0"^ 28.2020
1.16- Approval by the Governor and Executive Council f'/uppikoM*)

By: On:

•• Page I of 4
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2. EMPLOYMENT OF COiNTRACTOR/SERVICES TO
. BE PERFORMED. The Stote.ofNewHompshirc, Rctinj{
ihrotiKh ihc D^ency idcmincd in block .1.1 ("Siatc"), cngo{}e]
contracior idcniiried in block I.) ("Conirscior")'to perfbnn.
and ihe Coniroctor shall perfbrni; the u«rk or sale of goods, or
boih. idcniined and more particularly described in the artcched
EXHIBIT A w^ich is ihcorporaied herein by reference
(•'Services").

3. EFFECT IVE DATE/COMPLETION OF SERVICES-

■J. I Hooviilisiji>ding any provisio;i of this Agreement to the
contror)', end subject to (he approval of ihe Govcri>or and
£.vecuiive Council of ihe State of New'Hnmpshire, if
epplicebte,. this Agreement, and all obltgniions ofthe pariiet
hereunde/, tholl bceomc elTeciive on the date ilte Governor
and E.xccuiive Council approve this AgrecnKiit as indicated in
block Lit, unless no such approval is required, in which case
the Agreement shall beconte elTeciivc on the date the
Agreement is signed by the Stote Agency os shown in block
1.14 C'EITcciive Date").

-.3.2 If the Contractor commeiKCS Ihc Services prioV to the
Effective Date, all Services performed by the Cpmracipr prior
to the ElTeciive Date shall'be perrortned at the sole risk of the
Ccmroctor, and in the event thai this Agreement does not
becon>e elTcctive, the State shall have no liability to the
Com rector, including wiilKttit limiiBlion..any obligation to pay
the Contmctor for any costs iiKuntd or Services perfonncd;
Coniractor must complete all Services by (he Completion Oaie
speciricd in block 1.7.

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.
Notwithstanding nny provision of this Agreemeni to Ihe
contrary, all obligations of the Slote hcrcondcr, incfnding,
without limitation; the conlinnnnec of payments hcrcnntler, arc
contingent upon the avnilnbiiiiy and continued oppropriotion

• of funds, and in no event shall the State be liable for any
poyniems hertniidcr in c.kccss of such ovnilablc appropriated
funds. In.ihe event of a rcduclionor tcrniiiiation of
appropriated funds, the Stnie shall h'avc the righl.to withhold
psymcitt until such funds become available, ifever, and shall
liovc (he right to Icrniinate (his Agreement immediately upon
giving the Contracior notice ofsuch terininotion. The Sime
shall not be required to transfer funds from any other account
to the Accoiini idehiifted in block 1.6 in tire event funds in that
'Accoun.i are reduced or unavailable.'

5. CONTRACf FRiCt/l'RiCe LIMITATION/
PAVMENT.
5.1 The contract price, method of payment, and terms of
payment arc identified nnd more particularly described in
EXHIBIT B Miich is incorporated herein by reference.
5.2 'flic payment by Ihc Slate of the contract price shall be (he
only D.nd the complete rcimburscniciii to the Cotltractor. for all
expenses, of whatever nature incurred by the Contmctor in the
pcrfomiencc hereof, and shall be the only and the complete'
compensation to (he Comracior for the Services. The Sioic
shall have no linbiliiy to (he Commcior other than the contract
price.

5.3 The State reserves the righi toolTset from any amounis
•  otherwise p.iyoble to the Contracior under this Agreement

those liquidated an>otinls required or permitted by N.H. RSA
80:7 through RSA 80:7-c or any other provision bf law.
5.4 N'otwiihsianding nny provision in this Agreement to the

. contrary, and noiwiihsianding une.tpccied circumsinnces, in
no event shall the tola! of oil paymcms tuihorizcd, or nciually

■  hiede hereunder. exceed the Price Limitaiion set fonh in block
1.8.

6. COMPLIANCE BV CONTRACtOR WITH LAWS
AND RECULATIONS/EQUAL EMPLOVMENT
OPrORTUiNITV.
6.1 In conneeiion Nviih Ihc performance of ibc Services, ihe'.
Cuntmctor shall voniply wiih all staintcs. loivt, regulations,
nnd orders of rcdemi, state, cduniy or municip.sl authoriiics
which impose any oblig&iion or duty upon the Coniroctor, .
including, but not limited to. civil rights and equal opponuniiy
laws. This may include ihe requirement to uiilize ou.xiliary
aids and scrv'ices to ensure (hat persons with commiinleaiion
disabilities iiKluding vision, hearing and speech, crin
communicate with, receive infonhalion from, nnd convey
information'to (he Ccmroctor. In addition, the Controctor
shall comply with all applicable copyright laws.
6.2 During the term of ihts Agreement, the Contractor shall
not discriniii'iatc against employees or applicants fo'r
employmem because of mcc, color, religion.-creed, ngel sex,
handicap, sexual orientation, or national origin and will mkc
alTirniDtive ociion to prevent such discrimination.
6.3 If (his Agreement is funded in any pan by monies of the
Uriiied States, (lie Comrocidr shall coritply with all the
provisions of E.\'CCi(tlvc Order No. 11240 ("Equal
Employmem Opponuniiy"), ns siipplcmenied by the
regiilatiohs ofthe United States Dcpanmem of Labor (41
C.F.R. Pan 60); and with any rules, /cguloiions and guidelines
as Ihe Slate of New Hampshire or-the United Stales issue to
implement these regulations. The Commcior further agrees to
pemiii the State or United States access to ntty ofthe

- ConirrKior's books, records and nccbums for the purpose of
asccrtoiningcompliance tvith all rules, regulations nnd orders,
and the covenants, lenns and conditions of (his Agreement.

7. PERSONNEL.
7.1 The Cottiraclor shall at its otvit expense provide nil
personnel necessary to pcrfomi the Services. The Commcior
warmnts.ihai all personnel engaged in die Services shall be
qualified to perfornt the Serx'iccs, and sh-tll be properly
licensed and oihcnvisc authorized to so under all appticnble
laws. • '. •
7.2 Unless otherwise authorized in writing, during the icrnt of
(his Agreement, nnd for a period of six (6) months after ihc
Completion Date in block 1.7, the Contmctor shall not liirc,
and sIidII not pernill any subcontractor or other person, firni or
corporation with whom it is engaged in n combined effori to
perform the Seix-iccs to hire, any person v\-t)0 is o State
employee or official, who is mntcrinlly involved in the •
procurement, odntinisiretion 6r performance of this

I'ofiC 2 of 4
Conireclor iniliols
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Agrcentent. This provision shoH survive lerntinadon of this
Agreement.

7.3 The Controcllnj OfHccr specified in block 1.9. or his or
her successor, shall be the Sinie's represeninilve. In the event
of ony dispute conceniins the interpreiaiioii of this Agrecniein,
the Conirecling Officer's decision shall be final for the State.

8. EVEiVTOF DEFaUUTMEMEDIES.
8.1 Any one or more of riic folio wing octs or omissions of ihe
Conimcior shall constitute on event of defotili hcreunder
("Event of Oefauli'):
S.r.l rniiure to perfemi the Services satisfacio.rity or on

schedule;
8.1.2 fflilure to submit ony rtpors required hcreunder; nnd/or
8:1.5 failure,to pcrfonti any .other covenant, ternt or condition
of Ihis'Agrecnicnl.
8.2 Upon the occurrence of any Event of Dcfnuli, the State
may take any one', or more, or nil, of the following actions:
8.2.1 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event
of Default and requiring it to be remedied within, in the
absence of a greqtc'i or lesser spccificaiidii of time, ihiny (30)
days front the dale oft he notice; and if the Event of Default is
not (iiiicly remedied, termiiutie this Agreement, effective
(2) days afler giving the Contmcior notice of termination;
8.2.2 give the CbniractoV a mitten notice spccifyirtg the Event
of Default and suspending all payments iq be made under this^
Agreement and ordering that the portion of ihe'cpnlmci price -
wjiich would otherwise accrue to the Contractor during the
period from the daieofsueh notice until such tlnte os ihe'Siaie
determines that ihe Coniractor has cured the Event of Default

shall ittver be paid to the Contractor; *
8.2.3 SCI cITagainst any other obligations the Stale may owe to
the Contmcior any damages the State suffers by rcoson of any
Event of Default; and/or

8.2.4 treat the Agrecmcni as breached and pursue any of jts
remedies at law or in equity, or both.

9. DATA/ACCeSS/CONFIDENTIAUTVf

preservation.

9.1 As used in this Agreement, the word "dotn" shall mean all
information and things developed or obtained duri.ng the
pcrfonnauce of, or acquired or developed by reason of, this .
Agreement, including, but not linuied to, all studies, rcpons^
files., formulae, surveys, mops, charts, sourtd recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses,
■graphic representations, conipiticr progroms; computer
printouts, notes, leiicrs, memoranda, papers, and.documcnis,
all whether finishcd-or unfinished.
9.2 All data and any property which has been received from
the State or purchased with funds provided for thai purpose
uitdcr this Agrccmeiii. shall be the propeny of the State, and
sh.sll be returned to the State upon demand or upon
icrminaiion of this Agrccriicm for any reason.
9.3 Confidentiality of data shall be governed by N.H. RS'A
chapter 91* A or other e.xisting low., pisclosureofdato
requires prior written approval of the State.

Pngc 3

10. TERMINATION. In the event of an eorly termination of
this Agreement for any reason other than the completion of the
Services, the Contractor shall deliver to the Contracting
Officer, not later than fi necii (15) days after the'date of-

'  lennination, a report (."Termination Report") describing in
detail all Services performed, and .the conimei price earned, to
rind including the date of termination. Tlie form, subject
matter, content, and number of copies of the Termination
Report shall be idcniical to those of any Final Report
described in ihe.altoched EXHiBlT A.-

i I. CONTRACTOR'S RELATION TO THE STATE, lit
lite performance of (his Agreenteni the Contractor is in'all
respects bn independent conir.tcior, and Is nciiher an agent nor
an employee of the State.' Nciiher the Contractor lior any of its
officers, employees, agents or members shall.have authority to
bind the State or receive any benefits, workers' compensation
or other emoluments provided by the State to its employees.

12. ASSICNMENTfDELECATION/SDBCONTRACTS.
The Contractor shall not assign, or othcrtWse transfer any
interest iii this Agreement without the prior written notice and
consent of the Slotc. None of the Services shall be
sybcontracied by the Controcior without the prior written

'notice and consent of the State.

13. INDEMNIFICATION. The Conimctorshall defend,
. indemnify and hold harmless (he SiMc. its ofltcers and
employees, from nnd against any rmd rtll losses suffered by the
State, its officers nnd employees, and any and all claims.

.  liabilities or penalties asserted ogeinisi the State, its officers
mid employees, .by or on behalfcfany person, on accouni of,
based or rtstihing from, arising out or(or which ntay be
claimed to arise cut of) the acts or omissions of tk
Contractor. .Notwithstanding ik foregoing, nothing herein
contained shall be deemed to consiiiuic a waiver of the

' sovereign immunity ofihc State, u-hich imnnmity is hereby
reserved <0 the State. This covennni in p.trngraph 1.3 shall
survive the termination of this Agreement.

lllNSURANCe.
14.1 Tk Contrtictor shall, at its sole expensi, obtain and
maintain in force, and shall require noy subcomincior or
assignee to obtain and mainiain in force, the following
insiimrKc:
14.1.1 comprehensive gencrol liability insurance against alt
claims of bodily injury, death br property damage, in amounts

•  ofnolkis than Sl.OOO.OOOpcr.occurrcncc and 82,000,000
oggrcgaic; and ■
14.1.2 special cause of loss coverage form covering all

■  property subject to subpnragrDpli 9.2 herein, in ah umounl not
less ihnii 80V« of the wliole rcplaccinenl value oftlic properly.
14.2 The policies described in Subparagraph 14.l'hcrcln shall ■
boon policy forrtts and endorsements npprovcd for use in the
State ofNcw Hampshire-by die N.H. Department of
Insurance, nnd issued by insuren licensed in the State of New
Hampshire.

of 4
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14.3 Tlie Conifocior shell, furnish to ihe Conlraciing OfHccf
idcntiHcd in block 1.9, vhis or her successor. accniTicMcis)
of insurance for all insurance required under ihis Agrcemciii.
Conlracior shall also furnish lo ihe Contmciing Ofncer.
identified in block 1.9. or his Or her successor, certiricbie(s) of
insuraiKC for all rene\s'al(s) of insurance required under this
Agreenseoi rso later than ihlrty (30) days prior to the expiration •
date of each of the insurance policies. The eertiricote($)of
insurance and any renewals thereof shall be aiiached end are

• incorporated herein by reference. 6achcertifieaie(s)of
insurance shall conioin n clause'requiring ilie insurer to
provide the Contracting OfTtcef identified Tn block 1.9. or his
or her successor, no less than thlny (30) days prior uTittcn
-notice ofconcenaiion or niodirication of the policy.

15. WORKERS'COMFF.MSATION.

13.1 By signing this agreement, the Coniroclor agrees,
ccrtincs and worranis rhni the Conlracior is in coinplinnec with
or exempt from, the requirements of N.H. RSA ehnpter 281 - A
f" Workers' Compenjofion
H.l To the extent the Comraeior is subject to the
rcquircnicntjof N.H- RSA chapter 28i>A, Contractor shnll
maintain, and require nny subcontractor or assignee.io secure
and maintain, payment of Workers' Compensation in
connection with activities wliich (he person proposes to
undcrtnke pursuant to this Agreement. Contractor shall
furnish the Contracting O^iccr idcniincd in block 1.9, or his
or licr successor, proof of Workers' Compensation in the
manner described in N.H. RSA chapter 281 -A nnd nny
applicable renewnl(s) (hereof, v^-tiich shall be otiaeiicd and are
incorporaicd herein by reference. The State shall not be
responsible forpaymcnt ofon;^ Workers'Compensation .
premiums or for any other claim or benefit for Contractor, or
any stibcomractor or employee of Contractor, which might
arise under applicable Stoic.of New Hampshire-Workers'
Compensation laws in connection" with the perrorrnonce of the
Services under this Agreement.

18. WAIVER OF BREACH. No failure by the State to
enforce any provisions hereof nfler any Event of Default shall
be dccntcd n vvniver of its rights **iih regard to that Cveni of
Deffttiii.ornny subsequent Eventof Dcfnuli. Noe.vprcss
failure 10 enforce nny Cveni of Oefuuli shall be deemed a
woivcr of the right of the State to enforce each and oil of the
provis'tons hereof upon any further-or other Event of Default
on Ihe pan ofihc Coiitrncior.

17. NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party
sholl be deemed to have been duly delivered or given at the

• lime of mailing by certified mail, postage prepaid, in a United
States Post Office addressed to the parties at the addresses
givxn in blocks 1.2 and 1.4, herein.

18. amendment. This Agreement nsoy be amended,
vvnivcd or discharged only by nn insintnicni in writing signed
by the parties hereto ond.only nRcr opprovol of stich
etncndittcni. waiver or discharge by the Governor and
E.vcctilive Council of ihc Sinic of.New Hampshire unless no

such itpprovol is required under the clrcumsianccs pursuant to .
State inw. rule or policy.

19. COiN'STRUCTION OF AGREEMENT AND TERMS.
Tills Agreement shall be constnied in accordance with the
laws of (he State of New Hampsliire, nnd is binding upon nnd
inures to the benefit of the ponies and their respective
Successors and assigns. Thc wordtng used in-this Agreement
is the wording cliosen by iKe parties to e.xpress their mutual
intent, and no nile of consirnciioti Shall be applied against or
in favor of any party.

20. THIRD PARTIES. The parties hereto do itoi imehd to
bcnern oiiy third parties and ihij Agrecmeni shall rwi be
eonsirucd to confer any such benefit.

21. HEADINGS. The headings throughout the Agreement
are for reference purposes only, nnd Ihe words contained
(herein shall in no woy be held lo c.xplai'n. modify. nniplify or
old in (he iiucrpreiniion, eonstmeiion or meaning of the
provisions of itiis Agreement.

22. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional provisions set
forth inihc otinched EXHIBITC arc Incorporated herein by
reference.

2J. SEV'ERABIUTV. Inlhc evtnt nny ofihc provisions of
(his Agreenieni are held by o coun of compctenl jurisdiction to
bc'coniraiy to any stale or federal law, the remaining..
provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and
effcci.

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which may
be executed In n number of counterparts, ench of which shnll
be deemed an original, consiliuics the entire Agreement ond

' understanding between ihc'panics, mtd supersedes all prior
Agreements nnd understandiitgs relating hereto.

Page 4 of4
Conlrnctor Iniliols
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality

.  Exhibit A ^

Scope of Services

1. Provisions Applicable to All Services

1.1. The Conlractor shall submit a detailed descripliori of the language assistance
•  services they wiii provide to persons with jimited English proficiency to ensure
meaningful access to their programs and/or services within ten (10) days of the
contract effective date.

1.2. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future legislative action by the New
Hampshire General Court or federal or state court orders may have an impact
on the Services described herein, the Stale Agency has the right to modify
Service pfiofities and expenditure requirerrients under this Agreement so as to
achieve compliance therewith.

1.3. For the purposes of this Agreement, Ihe.Department has Identified the Contractor
as a Sub recipient, in-accordance with 2 CFR 200.300. '

1.4. The ponlractor shall ensure one (1) part-time fy^aterna! Mortality Abstractor
provides data-related activities, which include but are not limited to:

1.4.1. Collecting maternal death information. • ,

1.4.2.. Abstracting maternal death cases.

1.4.3.. Reviewing maternal,death cases.

,2. Scope of Work

2.1. The Contractor shall enter data into the Maternal Mortality Reyiew Information"
Application (MMRIA) regarding deaths of women In New Hampshire during
pregnancy and during the year fcHowIng the end of pregnancy.'

2:2. The Conlractor shall enter abstracted maternal . mortality case data and
information into the MMRIA within one (1) month of receiving the information
from the Maternal Mortality Review Coordinator. The Contractor shall:

2.2.1.. Conduct a record review in order to "abstract data and information

related to NH maternal death cases.

2.2.2. Maintain working knowledge of the Center for Disease Control's (CDC)
maternal mortality practices and resources.

2.2.3. Refer to the Center for Disease Conlrors Review to Action websile and
the Enhancing Reviews and '.Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal
Mortality ■ (ERASE MM) website for updated maternal mortpHty
Information.

2.3. The Contractor shall attend abstractor trainings conducted by the CDC as well
as meetings as required by the' Department.

2.4. The .Contractor shall attend a minimum of two (2) Maternal Mortality Review
Meetings each.year and provide minute meeting notes with recommendations

OartmouUiHilchcocXMecfica) Comer ExhibilA ConUacTof Initials

SS-2020-DPHS-11-MAT6RN Page loM Palo •
Rev,09'06/>8 STTSTTOTtr
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality

Exhibit A

' within one (1) week to the Maternal Mortality Review Coordinator.

2.5. The Contractor shall establish a Recommendations Work Group , in person or
via virtual meeting, to discuss the recommendations developed through the
Maternal Mortality Review Committee (MMRC) The contractor, shall ensure
that the Recommer^dations Work Group, consists of a multidisciplinary group
consisting of. but are not limited to:

2.5.1. Mentel Health facilities

2.5.2. Community Health Workers

2.5.3. Medical personnel

2.6. The Contractor shall use inforrhation gathered from the Recommendations
Work Group to inform action on a project for the year.

2.7. The Contfaclor shall develop an action plan to implement MMRC maternal
health and weliness recommendations. The Contractor shall:

2.7.1. Provide an annual report that details;

2.7.1.1. Feasibility assessment by the Recommeridalions Work
Group of which recommendations from the MMRC are
actionable in NH to improve stalewidb maternal health and
weliness..

2.7;1.2. Action plans'for selected recommendations.

2.7.2. Develop up to two (2) forms of educational materials for NH obstetric
medical professionals and/or the public based on the
recommendations chosen to focus on by the Recommendations Work
Group. Educational material shall incl.ude but is not limited to the
following:

2.7.2.1.1. Etectronic reading material

2.7.2.1.2. Brochures

2.8. The Contractor shall conduci a pilot project in year one (1) using the Association
of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal Nurses (AWHONN) Post Birlh
Warning Signs program in at least three (3) birth hospitals 'across New
.Hampshire. The Contractor shall: . .

2.8.1.1.1. -Provide hospitals with the AWHQNN education program for rhothers
- and their famjiies to increase awareness of postpadum warning-
signs.

2.8.1.1.2. Ensure education is provided utiliring the information developed by
the natiofial AWHONN.

2.8.1.1.3. Gather feedback about the pilot program from personnel at
hospitals to inform widespread use of the AWHONN Postpadum

DartmoulhHilchcocJt M«dicalCenlef ■ ExhlMA ContrecIoHniliali,^^
SS-2020-DPHS-U-MATeRN Po9'o2of4 DmoS/lS/2020
Rev.09/06/18
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Warning Signs education to all. NH birth hospitals. .

2.9. The Contractor shall implement the AWHONN Post Birth Warning signs program
in all New Hanripshire-birth hospitals that are interested in participating after the
initial period of the pilot program based on results of the pilot program.

2.10. The Contractor shall assist the Maternal Mortality Review Coordinator with
increasing obslelric medical professionals' understanding of local access to
Family Resource Centers in order to support pregnant, postpartum and
parenting women. The Contractor shall;

2.10.1. Provide a list of suppdrts developed by the Governors Perinatal
Substance Exposure Task force. Plan of Safe Care (POSC)
subcommittee to the stakeholders Subsection 2.6.

2.10.2. Provide, all obstetric providers in the Slate of New Hampshire with a
comprehensive list of community-based supports and services for
families.

2.11. The Contractor shall work with a legal expert to inform the Maternal Mortality
' Program about the legality of sharing information across state borders in order-
to obtain complete records for review of cases.for all malernal.deaths.

3. Reporting

3.1. The Contractor shall provide an anhual reporl, due March 15 of each year that:

3..1.1. outlines the number of recommendations for action prioritized by the
Recommendations Work Group"

3.1.2. Specifies the actions taken.

3.2. The contractor shall provide a final report nclater than June 5, 2021 that^details
the research completed by the legal consultant, which includes, bul is not limited
to;

3.2.1. " Information collected on data sharing between states.

.3.2.2. Malernal Mortality legislation passed, specifically in bordering states.

3.2.3. A potential" plan for. moving forward toward cross-border sharing in
order to successfully review all maternal death cases.

4. Data Sharing

4.1. The Contractor shall ensure any disclosure of identifiable confideritial health,
SUD of mental health information or data adheres to state and federal laws and
regulations relating to safeguarding the confidential information, which includes,
but may not be limited to:

4.1.1. The Health Information Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA).

4.1.2. 45-CFR 160-164.

Dartmouth Hitchcock Modics) Center E^diibit A Controctor Initials l*e>.
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4.1.3. 42 CFR Part 2 for SUD Data . '

4.1.4. NH Administrative Rule He-M 2019 lor Mental Health Data.

4.2. The Contractor shall ensure.confidentiality agreements are signed by all parties
sharing data.In order to safeguard any identifiable Information collected and

•  disclosed to prevent any inadvertent disclosure of indefinable Information.

4.3. The Contractor shall not collect, receive, store, or manage confidential data
related to the scope of work and deliverables identified in this Exhibit A unless of
until the parties have agreed in writing to a Data Sharing Plan that Includes, but
is no! limited to the following:

4.3.1. The purpose of the data exchange;

4.3.2. Oescflpilon of the Departmenl's data elemerits to be disclosed;

4.3.3. Source or Systems of Records

' 4.3.4. Number of Records Involved and Operational Time Factors

4.3.5. Data Elements Involved

4.3.6. Reporting and Secure Transmission of Confidential Data

4.3.7. Description of the Contractor's data elements to be disclosed: and

" 4.3.8. Responsibilities of both parties regarding the exchange of data.

.  4.4. The Contractor shall exe'cute the Data Sharing Plan in a timely manner so as not
to impede the scope of work and deliverables identified in this Exhibit A.

4.5. The Contractor agrees to modify the Data Sharing-Plan in vvriting as necessary,
due to any changes to. the scope of work and deliverables identified in this Exhibit

■■ A. ' ■ ■ " . . ■

4.6. The. Con.lraclor shall comply with the terms of Exhibit K; DHHS Information
Security Requirements, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference'
hereln.-
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Method and Conditions Precedent to Payment

1. The State shall pay the Contractor an amount hot to exceed the Form P-37. Block 1.8.
Price Liniitalion for the services provided pursuant.to Exhibit A. Scope^of Services.

2. This Agreement is funded with 100% Federal Funds from Centers for Disease Control
& Prevention, Preventing Maternal Deaths: Supporting Maternal Mortality Review
Committees Grant, Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA)#93.478. Federal
Award Identification Number {FAIN)#NU58DP006693,

3.. Failure to meet the scope of services may jeopardize the funded Contractor's current
end/or future funding. ' *

4.. Payment for said services shall be made monthly as follows:

.  4.1. Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures Incurred
In the fulfjllment of this Agreement, and shall be in accordance wilh the approved
line items as specified in Exhibit B-l, Budget and Exhibit B-2 Budget.

4.2. The Contractor shall submit an Invoice in a form satisfactory to the Slate by the
twentieth (20'^) working day of each month, .which identifies and requests
reirhbursement for authorized expenses incurred in the prior month.

4.3. The Contractor shall ensure the invoice is completed, signed, dated and returned
to the Department In order to Initiate payment.

•  4.4. The State shall make payment to the Conlraclor within thirty (30) days of receipt
of each invoice, subsequent to .approval of the subrhilted invoice and if sufficient

'  funds are available.

5. The Conlraclor, shall keep detailed records' of their activities related to Department-
funded programs and services and have records available for Department review, as
requested.

6.. The final invoice shall be due to the Stale no later than sixty (60) days after the contract
completion date specified in Form P-37, General provisions Block 1.7 Completion Date;

7.- In lieu of hard copies, all invoices may be assigned an electronic signature and emailed
to OPHSconifactbilling@dhhs.nh.gov@dhhs.nh.gov, or invoices may be mailed to: '

Financial Administrator

Department of Health and Human Services
Division of Public Health

29 Hazen Drive. I
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Con'cord. NH 03301 - .

8. Payments may be withheld pending receipt of required reports or documentation as
identified in Exhibit A, Scope of Services and in this Exhibit B.

9. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Contractor agrees that, funding
under'this agreement may be withheld; in whole or in part, .in the event of non-
compliance with any Federal or State law, rule or regulation applicable to the services
provided, or if the said services or products have not been satisfactorily completed in
accordance with the terms and conditions of this agreement.

10.NotwilhslandIng paragraph 18 of the General Provisions P-37. changes liririlted to
adjusting arnounts between budget line items, related items, amendments of .related
budget exhibits within the. price limitation, and to adjusting encumbrances between
State Fiscal Years, may be made by written agreerrienl of both parties and may be
made without obtaining approval of the Governor and Executive Council.

Danmpuih Hiichcocfc Medicd Cenler ExhWiB Conueciof wiw>

SS-2020-OPMS-n'-MATEnN F®ge2ol2 Dale

Rev. 01/08/19 '



DocuSign Envelope ID; E81614D6-5766-4332-B2CE-36A5A1A99A3E

■ DocuSign Envelope ID: 77F7e361-OF5B-4C1C-A943-F0e956 E85636

oecvs^C'Mttp* ID: De}>ou»4m^acMA»0'aAie'r')one

r3is33rssTS«sri

jVkj
y>

T.^urviwru.»ar.

ffktB VmWne

EES
Ttrra
•TOT

Ts^r
■pifw
W.tf

"TTO
-OT

lUlU
-lOT

rvrsr

pna .Mi_

I'

ICEil^^SESCZ utag TOT \  MIU 22 ■fiTgP

imr I  II.IIIU TPIg.
■  *-101'

T"' ■ M.k't-B T
tXULH^UIS*

Jw
jTiTTimo

9SWaOD6OOH-S/»e-^dS»^S30J-6UiO6V9:0l 8<Jo|9au3 uflisrewo,



DocuSign Envelope ID: E81614D6-5766-4332-B2Ce-36A5A1A99A3E

DocuSign Envelop® ID: 77F7E361-OF5B-4C1C-A943-F0E956E85636

OocuSIgn Envelope ID: SA907Fl9-FeEMSF4-B47»'14909C0D3A88

OooaSlpn Envelope ID: O82i0tAM70F-4)C6-fiA93-0AlE7F75On6

FJXJTeTmfPray•Tsr

m7

T-^.€MTTL■.^TVJI^
jn:

F3 TTV JW
ttrtr

Kfl'M

•TOitr 3H3t  11

■j~RS35:

t=?r

i<! !•.«■«»" -gp 1225>1. >
ira*. >.^1.

2SSS JQS

TgTg- I  ■ MJ'IX U.lilA»ll 'I.UIMll MJIUI
txguTePTer

'

S/1s72070



DocuSign Envelope ID: E81614D6-5766-4332-B2CE-36A5A1A99A3E

DocuSign Envelope ID; 77F7E361-OF50-4C1C-A943-FO6956E85636

bocuSIgn Envelope ID: 5A907Fl9-FBEM5P4-&47&-t4^C002A88

OocuS>0nEnv«lop6lD:O82lOlA»878F-43C8-9AS8-OAlE7F7SO1t8

New Hempshlre Oeperlment of Health end Humen Services
Exhibit C

SPECIAL PROVISIONS

Contractors Obligations: The Conlradlor covenants and agrees that all funds received by the Conireclor
under the ContracI shall be used only as payrnenl to the Conlractor (or services provided to eligible
individuals and. in the furtherance of the aforesaid covenants, the Conlraclor hereby covenants and'
agrees es follows:

1. Compliance with Fbderal end State Lews: II (he Contractor is permitted to determine Ihe eligibllily
of Individuals such eligibility determination shaD be made in accordance with applicable federal and
stale laws, regulaiions, orders, guidelines, policies and procedures.

2. Time and Manner of Oetormlnatlon: Eligibility determinations shell be made on forms provided by
the Oepartmenl for that purpose or>d shell be made and remade ot such times es ore prescribed by
the Oepartmenl.

3. Documentation: In addition lo Ihe delermlnalion.forms required by the Oepartmenl, the Contractor
shall meinlain a data file on each recipient of services hereunder." which file shall include aD
information necessary to support an eligibility determination and such other iniormetion as the
Oepartmenl requests. The Conlraclor shaB furnish the Oepartmenl with ell (orms end documentation
regarding eligibility delerminations thai Ihe Departrrtent may request or require.

f  ■ ■ ' ■ .

4. Fair Hearings: The Contractor understands that all applicants for services hereunder. as well as
individuals declared ineligible have a righi to a fair hearing regarding that deierminalidn. The
Conlractor hereby covenants and agrees thai all applicants for services shaD be permitted to (ill oul -

- an application form and that each applicehl or re*8pplicenl shall be informed of his/her righi lo ofair
hearing in accordance with Department regulaiions.

5. Gratuities or KIcXbacka: The Conlractor 'agrees that il is a breach of (his Contract to accept or
rfiake a payment, gratuity or offer ot employmeni on behalf of the Corjtractor. any Sub>Contractor or
the State in order to influence Ihe performance of,Ihe Scope of Work detailed in Exhibit A of this
Contract. The Stale may terminate Ihis Conlrect end any sub-contract or sub-agreement if II is
determined that payments, gratuities or offers of employment of any kind were Offered or received by
any officials, officers, employees or agenis of iho Contraclor or Sub-Coniraclor.

6. Retroactive Payments: Notwithstanding anythirig io the conlraryxontaincd ir\ the Contract or in
any other document, contract or understand'mg. it is expressly understood end agreed by (he parties
hereto, thai no payments will be made hereunder to reimburse Ihe Contractor for costs incurred for
any purpose or for any services provided lo any individual prior to Ihe Effective Date of the Contract
and.no payments shall be made lor expenses incurred by the Conlraclor for any services provided
prior to (he date on which Ihe individual applies for services or (except as otherwise provided by the
federal regulations) prior to a determination that the individual is eliglble^or such services.

7. Conditions of Purchase: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in (he Contract, nothing
herein contained .shell be deemed lo cbligale or require (he Oepartmenl to purchase services
hereunder at a rble which reimburses (he Contractor in excess of the Conlractors costs, at a rate
which exceeds (he bmounis reasonable and niacessary lo assure the qualiiy of such service, or at a

■  rale which exceeds Ihe rate charged by Ihe Conlraclor lo ir>eligible individuals or other third petty
funders lor such service. If at any time during the lerm of this Contract or after receipt of the Final
Expertditure Report hereunder, ihe Oepartmenl shall determine thai the.Conlractor has used
payments hereunder to reimburse items of expense other than such costs, or has received payment
in excess of such cosis or in excels of such rates charged by the Conlractor to ineligible individuals
Of ether third party funders, the Department rmay eleclto:

7.1. Re.negollale the rates for payment hereunder. in which event new rales shall be eslabtished;
7.2, Deduct from any future payment to Ihe Conlraclor the amount of any prior reimbursemeni in

excess of cosis;
EiWWi C - Speclel Provlitenj CofM/eaorlnlilels _Li-_
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7.3.- Oemand.repayment.of Ihe excess payment t>y the Contracior in which event failure to rhatie
such repaymenl'shall constitute an Event of Default hereunder. When the Contractor is

' permitted to determine the eligibility of individuals for services, the Contractor agrees to
reimburse the Department for all funds paid by the Depahment to Ihe Contractor for services
provided to any individual who is found by the Deparfment to be ineligible for such servicesal
any time during the period ol retention of records estabiishedherelh.

RECORDS; MAINTENANCE. RETENTION. AUDIT. DISCLOSURE AND CONFIDENTIALITY;

6. r^alntenanco Of Records: In addition to the eriglbi.iily records specified above, the Contractor
covenants end agrees to mBintain the following records during (he ContractPeripd:

6.1. F(sca) Records: records reflecting all income received or collected by (he Conuocior under Ihis
Agreement. - ' ;

8.2. Statistical Records: Stalislical. enrollment, attendance or visit records for each recipient of
services during Ihe Contract Period, which records shall include all records of epplicetionand

- eligibilily (inctuding'al) forms required to.determine eligibUiiy for each such recipient), records
■regarding the provision of services and all invoices submitted to the Department to obtain
payment for such services under this Agreement.

8.3. Mcdical Records: Where appropriate and as prescribed by the Department regulations! the
Contractor shall relain medical records on each patient/recipient of services durlng-lhe
Contract Period.

9. ' Audit: Contractor shaD submit an -annual audit to the Department wiihih 60 days after the close of the
agency Hscal year, it is recommended that the report be prepared in accordance with Ihe provision of
Office of Management and Budget Circular A*133. "Audits of Slates. Local Covernmenis, and Non
Prorii Organizetions" end (he provisions of Standards for-Audil of Governmental Organizations,
Prograrns. Activities and Funclions. issued by Ihe US General.Accounting Office (GAG standards) as
(hey pertain to financial compliance audi.ts.

9.1. Audit and Review; During the term of this Contract arid the period for retention hereunder. the
' Department, (he United States Department of Health and Human Services, and any of their

designated representatives shall have access to all reports and records maintained pursuant to
the Contract for purposes of audit, examination, excerpts and transcripts.

9.2. Audit LiabiGlies: In Edition to and not in any way in limitation of obligations of the CDnlract.'it Is
'  understood end agreed by the Contractor that the Contractor shall be held liable for any slate

or federal audit exceptions end shall return to the Oepartmeni. ell payments made under the
Contract to which exception has been taken or which have been disallowed because of such en
exception.'

'10. Confidontlality of Records: All information, reports, and records rnaintained hereunder or colliected
in connection with (he performance of (he services end Ihe Contract shall be confidential and shall
not be disclosed by (he Contractor, provided however, that pursuant to stale laws and the regulations
of the Oepartmeni regarding the use and disclosure of such information, disclosure maybe made to
public officials requiring such information in connection with (heir official duties and for purposes
'directly connected to Ihe edminislraliori of the services and the Contract; and provided further, (hat .
the use or disclosure by any party of any information concerning a recipient for any purpose not
directly connected with the administration of the Department or the Contractor's responsibilities v/ith
respect to purchased services hereunder is prohibited except on wriilen consent of the re'cipienl, his
attorney or guardian.

Pago 2 ol S Doio;
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Notwithslanding anything to the contfary contained herein the covenants end conditions contained .in
the Paragraph shall survive the termination of the Contract for any reason whatsoever. --

11. Reports: Fiscal and Statistical: TheContractor agrees to submit the (oDowing reports at the
following limes if requested by (he Oopartmenl.
11.1. Interim Financial Rep^s: Written interim financial reports con(a)nir>g a detailed descriptionof

. all costs and non-allowable expenses incurred by the Contractor to the date of the report dr>d
containing suc.h other information as shall be deemed satisfactory by the Department to
justify the rate of payment hereunder. Such FinarKiai Reports.shati be submitted on the form

. designated by the Oepartment or deemed satisfactory by the Oepanment.
11.2. Final Report: A final reporl shall bo submitled within thirly ̂ 30) days after the end of the term

ol (his Controcl. The Final Report shall bo in a form satisfactory to the Department ond shall
contain p summary statement of progress toward goals and objectives stated in thePfopoeai

' and Other information required by the Department.

12. Complctloh of Services: Oisailowance of Cosis: Upon the purchase by (he Department of the
maximum number of umis provided for in the Contract 'and upon payment of the price limitation
hereunder, the Contract and all the obligations of (he pahies hdreunder (except such obligations as.
by the terms of the Contract are to be performed after tho end of (he term of this Contract and/or
survive the (ermlrSation of the Contract) shpll'terminale. provided however, that if; upon review of the
Final Expenditure Reporl the Department shall disallow any expenses claimed by the Contractor as
costs hereunder the Oepartment shall retain the right, el its discretion, to deduct (he amount of such
expenses as are disallowed or to recover such sums from the Contractor.

13. Credits: All documents, notices, press releases, research reports end other materials prepared
during or resulting from (he perfonmance of the services of the Contract sliail include the
follpwtng stetemenl:
13.1. The preparation of this (report, document etc.) was financed under ie Contract with the Stale

of New (Hampshire. Daparlment of HeaRh ond Human Services,' with funds provided in part
by the State of New Hampshire andfor such other funding sources as were ovailable or
required, e.g., ihb liniied Stales Department ol Health and MumonServices.

14. Prior Approval and Copyright Ownership: All materials (written, video, audio) produced or
purct^ased under the contract shall have prior approval from OHHS before printing, production,.
distribution or use. The OHHS will retain copyright ownership for any end ell original materials
produced. Including, but not limited to, brochures, resource dlreclories, protocols or guidelines.'
posters, or reports. Contractor shall not reproduce any materials produced under the cdntraci without
prior written approval from OHHS.

15. Operation of Facilities: Compliance with Laws and Regulations: In the operation of any facilities
for providing service's, (he Contractor shall comply with all laws, orders and regulations of federal,
state; county end municipal auihorjiies and wilh any direction of any Public Officer or officers
pursuant to laws which shall Impose an order or duty upon the contractor wilh respect to the
operation of the facility or the provision of the services at such facility, if any goyernmerital license or
permit shall be required for the.operalion ol the said facitty or tho performance of the said services,
the Contractor will procure said license or permit, and will at all times comply wUh the terms and
conditions of each such ficense or permit. In bonneclion with the foregoing requirements, the
Contractor hereby covenants end agrees Ihei. during the term of this Contract the facilities shall
comply wilh all rules, orders, regulations, and requirements of the Slate Office of-the Fire Marshal

.  and the local fire proiection agency, and shall be in conformance with local building and zoning
. codes, by-, laws end regulations. ''

16. Equal Employment Opportunity Plan (EEOP): The Contractor will provide an Equal Employmenl
Opportunity Plan (EEOP) to the Office for Civil Rights, Office of Justice Progroms (OCR), if il has
received a single award of SSOO.OOO or rhore. II the redpient receives $25,000 or more and has 50 or

Exr^DUC-Special Provlslom Comridor Milats

P.,.,.,5 . .



DocuSign Envelope ID: E81614D6-5766-4332-B2CE-36A5A1A99A3E

OocuSign Envelope ID; 77F7E361-OF5B-4C1C-A943-P0E956E85636

DocuSign Envelope tO: 5A907F1»-FeEMSF4-&47S-l4»09COD2AB8

DocuSign Envelope lO: OB2iOtAg47fiF-43C5-9A9S4Ai£7F7SOi i6

New HdmpahJre Oepartmeni oJ Health and Human Services
- Exhibit C

more employees, it .will maintetn a cufrenl 6E0P on file and submit an EEOP Certificellon Form to the
OCR. certifying that its EEOP is on file. For recipients recieiving less than S25.000. or public granlces
with fewer then 50 employees, regaidless of the amount of the award, the reciplenl will provide en
EEOP Ccrtitication Form to the OCR certifying It is not required to submit or maintain an EEOP. Non-
•profit organizations. Indian Tribes, end medicat and educational Institutions ere exempt from the
EEOP requirement, but ere required to submit e certification form to the OCR to claim the exemption.
EEOP Certification Forms are avallabla at: http7/wwyr.ojp.usdoj/about/ocr/pdls/cert.pdf.

17. Llmiiod engllsh Proficiency (LCP): As clarified by Executive Order 13166. Improving Access.to
Services for persons with Limited English Prolici^ncy. end resulting agency guidance, nellpnel •
origin discrimlf^attor> Includes discriminalion on ihe boals of limited English pforiclency (LEP). To
ensure compliance with the Omnibus Crime Control and Sale Streets Act of 1968 end Title Vl of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964. Contreclors must lake reasonable stops to ensure thai LEP person# hove
meaningfut access to its programs.

10. Pilot Program tor Enhancement of Contractor Employee Whistleblowcr Protections: The
following shol^apply to all contracts that exceed the Simplified Acquisition Threshold as dofined tn40
CFR 2.101 (currently. $150,000)

CONTRACTOR"EvPLOY66WHISTLeei.ChVER RiGmTS AND REOumEMENT TO INFORM EmPLOVEESOF
WhiSKESLOWER RtOHTS (SEP 2013)

(a) This conlracl end employees working on this contrect wilj be subject to the vvhistleblower rights
and remedies in the piiol program on Contrector employee whistleblower protections established el
41 U.S.C. 4712 by section 826 of the Nalionoi Defense Aulhorizalion Act f.or Fiscal Ycor 2013 (Pub. L.
112-239) and FAR 3.908.

(b) The Contractor shall infonn Us employees in wrlling, in the predominant language of the worWorca,
of employee whistlpbtower rights and protections under 4'1 U.S.C. 4712. as described In section
3.908 of the Federal Acquisition Regulation.

•  (c) The Conlraclor shall insert Ihe subsience of this clause, including this paragraph (c). in ell
subcontracts over the simplified acqubitioo Ihresi^ld.

19. Subcontraciora: OHHS recognizes that the Contractor may choose to use subconlraclors with
greater expertise to perform certain health care services or funclioni for efficiency or conveniortce,
but the Contractor shall retain the reiponsibilily and accounlobilily for the funclion(s). Prior to
subcontracting, the Contractor shall evaluate the subconiraclor's-abtlily to perform the delegated.
function{$). This is eccofhplished ihrough-a written agreement that specifies activities and reporting
responsibililies of the subcontractor and provides (or revoking the delegation or imposing sanctions if
the subcontractor's performance is not adequate. Subcontractors are subject to the same contractual
conditions as the Conlraclor and the Conlraclor Is responsible lo ensure subcontractor compliance
with those Conditions.

When the Contractor delegates a function to e subcontractor, the Contractor.shall do the following:

19.1. Evaluate the prospective subcontractor's ability to perform ihd activliles. before delegating
the function '

19.2. Have a wrilten egreemenl with the subconlractor that specifies ectivliles andreportirig
respbnsibililies and how sanctlons/rcvocaiion will be managed, if the subcontractor's
performance >s not adequate

19.3. Monitor the subcontractor's performance on an ongoing basis

Exhibit C - SpeclBi Provision} Cont;»eio« ir>Uoi> J
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19.4. Provide lo DHHS an annual schedule idenlifying all subcontractors, delegated functions
and responsibilities, and when the subconiractor's performance will bero'viewcd

19.5.' OHKS shall, at iis discretion, review end approve all subcontracts.

If the Contractor identifies deficiencies or o/eas for improvement aro identified, the Contractor shall
take corrective action. ^ ■

20. Contract Ooflnitions:

20.1. COSTS: Shell mean those direct ond indirect items of expense determined by the Department
to be ellowable and reimbursable in accordance with cost and accounting principles established
-In accordance wiih stele and fedora! taws, regirialicns. rules ondorders.

20..2. DEPARTMENT: NH Department of Health and Human Services.

20.3. . PROPOSAL: If appiiceble, shall mean (he document submitted by the Contractor on a
form or forms required by the Oepartmehl ond cohlainirtg a description ol the services and/or
goods 10 be provided by the Contractor in accordance wUh the terms and conditions of the
Contract and setting forth iho total cost and sources of revenue for each service lo be. provided
under the Contract.

20.4. UNIT: For each service that the Contractor is lo provide to eligible individuals hereunder, shall
mean thai period of time or that speciHed activity delermindd by the Department end specified
in Exhibit B of the Contract.

'  20.5. FEDERAL/STATE LAW: Wherever federal or stele laws, regulations, rules, orders, end
'  policies, etc. are referred to in the Contract, the said reference shall be deemed to mean

all such taws, regutalions. etc. as they may be amended or revised from (irne to lime.

20.6. ■ SUPPLANTING.OTHER FEDERAL FUNDS: Funds provided lo the Contraclor underlhis
Contract vnli not supplant any existing federal funds available for these servnces.

OVlVi*
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REVISIONS TO STANDARD CONTRACT LANGUAGE

1. Revisions to Form P-37, General Provisions

1.1. Paragraph 3. Subparagraph 3.2, Effective Date/Completion of Services, is
deleted in its entirety and replaced as follows:

3.2 II Ihe.Conlractor commences the Services prior to the Effective Dale,
all Services performed by the Contractor prior to the Effective Date
shall be performed at the sole risk of the Contractor, and in the event
that this Agreernent does not become effective, the State shall have no
liability to the Contractor, including without limitation, any obligation to
pay the Conlractor for any costs incurred or Services performed.
Contractor must use reasonable efforts to complete all Services by
the Completion Date specified in block 1.7.

1.2. Scciion 4. Conditional Nature of Agreernent. is replaced as follows:

4. Notwithstanding any provision .of this Agreement to the contrary, all
obligations of the State hereunder. including without limitation, the
continuance of payments, in whole or in part, under this Agreement are
contingent upon continued appropriation or availability of funds,
including any subsequent changes to the appropriation or availability of'
furids affected by any state or federal legislative or executive action
that, reduces, eliminates, or .otherwise modifies the appropriation or
availability of funding for this Agreement and the Scope of Services
provided in Exhibit A', Scope, of Services, in whole or in part. In ho
event stiall the State be liable for any payments hereunder in excess of
appropriated or available funds. In the .event of a reduction, termination •
Of modification of appropriated or available funds, the Stale shall have
the right to withhold, payment unlil such funds become available, if,
ever. The State shall have thfe right to reduce, terminate or modify
services under this Agreement immediately upon giving the Contractor
notice of such reduction, termination or modification. The State shall
not be required to transfer funds from any other source or account into
the Account(s) identified in- block 1.6 of the General Provisions.
Account Number, or any other account in the event funds are reduced
or unavailable..

1.3. Paragraph 7', Subparagraph 7.1, Personnel, is deleted in its" enlirety and
replaced as follows:

7.1 The Contractor shall at its own expense provide all personnel
•necessary to perform the Services. The Conlractor certifies that all
personnel engaged in the Services shall be qualified" lo perform the
Services, and shall be properly licensed and otherwise authorized to do
so under all applicable laws.

fwp
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1.4. Paragraph 8. Subparagraph 8.2.3. Event of Oefaull/Remedies, is deleted in
'  its entirety.

1.5. Paragraph. 10, Temriination, is deleted in its entirety and is replaced as
follows:

10. In. the event of an early termination of this Agreement for any reason
other than the completion of the Services, the Contractor shall, at the

' State's discretion, deliver to the Contracting Officer, not laler than thirty
(30) days after the date of termination, a report CTermination Report")
describing 'In detail all Services performed, and'the contract price
earned.■ to and including the date of termination. The form, subject

. matter, content, and number of copies of the Termination Report shall
be identical to those of any Final Report described in the attached
EXHIBIT A.

10.1 ■ The Slate'may termirtate the Agreement at any time for . any
reason, at the sole discretion of the State, 30'days after giving
the Contractor'written notice that the State is exercising its
option to terminate the Agreement..

10.2 In the event of early termination, the Contractor shall, within 15
' days of nolice of early termination, develop .and submit to the

State a Transition Plan for services under' the Agreement,
Including but not limited to. identifying the present'and future
needs of clients receiving services under the Agreement and
establishes a process to meet lhos6 needs.

I  -
10.3 The Contractor shall fully cooperate with the Slatp and shall

promptly providie detailed informatio'n to support the Transition
Plan including, bul not limited to. applicable information or data
requested by the State related to the termination of the
Agreement and Transition Plan and shall provide ongoing
communication and revisions of the Transition Plan to the State
as requested.

10.4 In the event that services'under the Agreement, including but
not limited to clients receiving services under the Agreement
are transitloned to having services delivered by another entity
including contracted providers or the State, the Contractor shall-
provide a process for uninterrupted delivery of services in the
Transition Plan.

10.5 The-Co'ntractor shall establish a method of notifying clients and
other affected individuals about the transition. The Contractor

cuoHKMoviB O&to
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shall include the proposed conimunicalions in its Transition
-  ' Plan submitted to the State as described above.,

1.6. Paragraph 13, lndemnificatior>, is deleted in its entirety and replaced .as
follows:

13. The Contractor shall defend, Indemnify and hold harmless the State, Its
'  officers and employees, frorri and against any and all losses suffered by

the State, its officers and employees, and any and all claims, liabilities
or penalties asserted against the State, its officers and employees, by
or on behalf of any person, on account of. .based or resulting from,
arising oul of (or which may. be claimed to arise out of) the'negligent
acts or reckless, wanton or willful misconduct of the Contractor.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be
deemed to. constitute a waiver of.the sovereign Imrpunity of the State,'
which immunity is hereby reserved to the State. This covenant in
paragraph 13 shall surv.ive (he termination of this Agreement.

1.7. Paragraph 14, Subparagraph 14.1.2. Insurance, is deleted in its entirety'and
replaced as follows:

14.1.1 Commercial general liability insurance against all claims of bodily
injury', death or property damage, 'in amoiinls' of not less than
$1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate., excepi for
property damage due to fire which has a $100,000 coverage limit per
occurrence; and

1.8. Paragraph 14, Subparagraph 14.2. is deleted in its entirety and is replaced as
•  follows: •

■  14.2 The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall be on policy
-  forms and endofsemehts approved for use ' in the State of New
-Hampshire by the N.H. Department of Insurance, and issued by
insurers licensed in the State of New Hampshire or registered to
conduct business in the State of New Hampshire.

2. Renewal

2.1. The Department reserves the right to extend this agreement for .up tp two (2)
additional years, contingent upon satisfactory delivery of services, available
funding, written agreement of (he. parties and approval of the Governor and
Executive Council.
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING ORUG-FREE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS

The Vendor idenUfied in Section 1.3 of the General Provrelons agrees to comply with the provisions of
Sections 51S1-5160 of the Drug-Free V^crVplace Act of 1966 (Pub. L. 100-690, Tide V. Subtitle 0; 41
0.5.C. 701 el seq.), and further agrees to have the Conlractor's representative, as identified in Sections
1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisbns execute itiefollowing.Certiricaiion;

ALTERNATIVE I • FOR GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES • CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION • CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE . CONTRACTORS

This certification Is required by'lhe regulations implementing Sections 5151 •5160 of the Orug-Free
Workplace Act of 1968 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V. Subtitle 0; 41 U.S.C. 701 et seq.). The January 31.
1989 regulations were amended end published as Part II of the fiAay 25.1990 Federal Roister (pages
21681-21691). end require certificalton by grantees (and by Inference, sub-grantees and'sub
contractors), prior to award, that they win maintain a drug-free worliplace. Section 3017.630(c) of the
regulation provides that a grantee (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub-contractors) thai is a State
may elect to maiie one certification to ihe'Depertmenl In each federal fiscal year in lieu ol cedificetes for
each grant during the federal fiscal year covered by ihe certification. The certificate set out below Is e
material representation of fdct upon which reliance is placed when the agency awards the grant. Folse
certification or violation of the certification'shall be grounds for suspension of payments, suspension or.
lermination of grants, or government wide suspension or debarmcni. Conlraclors using this form should
send It to:

Commissioner ' •
NH Qepartmenl of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Sircel.
Concord. NH 03301-6505 ; ' ,

1. The grantee certifies thai it will or will continue io provide a.drug-free'workplace by:
1.1. Publishing a statement notifying employees thai the unlawful manufacture, distribution,

dispensing, possession or use of a conirolied substance Is prohibited in ihe'grantee's
workplace end specifying the actions that will be (aken against employees for violation of such
prohibition;

1.2. Establishing an ongoing drug-free awareness program to inform employees about '
•1.2.1. The dangers of drug abuse inlhe workplace; . '
1.2.2. The grantee's policy of maintalitlng a drug-free workplace;
1.-2.3. Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employeo assistance programs; and
1.2.4. The periallles that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations

occurrir>g in (he workplace;
1.3. . Making it a requiremeni that each employee to be engaged in the performance of the grani be

given a copy of the statement required by paragraph (a);
-  1.4. Notifying (ha employee In the slalemeni required by paragraph (a) that, as a condition of

employment under the grant, the employee will
1.4.1.' Abide by the lornis of Ihc statement; and
1.4.2. Notify (he employer In writing of his or her-conviction for a vloidtion of a criminal drug

statute occurring in the workplace r>o later lhan five calendar days after such
conviction;

1.5. Notifying (he agency In wrtling, within ten calendar days after receiving r>otlce under
subparagraph 1.4.2 from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviclicn.
Employers of convicted employees musi provide noDce. including position title, to every granl
officer on whose grant activity the convicted employee was working, unless ihe Federal agency

EtfiiUtlD-CenlOuilonreiorOingOnigFrM Vendor iNilAli
WorkpjaceRequlremenu S/15/2020
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has dasigndled'a central point for the receipt of such notices- Notice shell include the
Identificeiion number(8) of each effected grenl;

V6. Taking one of the following eclions. within 30-celendar deys of receiving notice under
sobparegraph 1.4.2, with respect to eny employee who is so convicted
.1.6.1. Taking eppropriale personnel action against such en employee, up to and including

termination, consistent wllh the requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as
amended; or .

1.6.2. Requiring euch omployoo to participate salistaclonly in o drug abuse assistance or
rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a Federal. State, or local health,
law enforcement, or other eppropriale agency;

1.7. Making a good fallh effort to continue lo mointeln e drug-free workplace through
implemenlalion of paragraphs V1, 1.2,1.3. 1.4,1.5, arid 1.6.

2. The grantee may insert in the space provided below the silefs) for the performance of wortt done in
connectioh with the specific grant.

Race of Performance (street address, city, county, stale, zip code) (list each location)

Check D if there ore workplaces on file that are not Ideniified here.

Vendor Name:

S/lS/2020

Dale Name: Leigh idurgess .
Title: Vice President, Offico of Research Operaliohs

.  \Ab
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CERTlFlCATtON REGARDING LOBBYING

The Vendor Identified In Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to compty with the provisions of
Section 319 of Public Lew 101-121. Government wide Guidance for New Restrictions on.Lobbying, and .
31 tJ.S.C. 1352. and further agrees to have the Contractor's represantalive. as identified In Sections 1.11
and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Certification:

US OEPARTIVIENT OF HEALTH ANO HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EOUCATION - CONTRACTORS
US pePARTfVtENT OF AGRICULTURE • CONTRACTORS

Programs (indicate epplicebie progrem covered):
'Ternporary Assistance lo Needy Fomillos under Title IV-A
•Child Support Enforcement Program under Tille tV-D
•Social Services Block Grant Program under Title XX
•ModicaW Program under Title.XlX
^Community Services Block Grenl under Tille VI
'Child Care Development Block Grant under TUIc IV

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge end belief, that:

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or wlil be paid by or on behalf of the undersigned, to
eny person for influencing or ottempling to Influence an officer'or employee of any agency, a Member
of Congress, an office/ or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member o.f Congress in
connection the awarding of any Federal contract, continuation, renewal. amcndmcnt; .or
modification of any Federal cor^lraci, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (end by specific mention
sub-grantee or sub-contractor).

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any'person for .
influencing or attempting to Influence an officer or emptoyee of any agency, a Member of Cor>grcss,

. en officer or employee of Congress.' or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperalivo agreement (and by specific mention sub-grantee or sub-,
contractor), the uriderslgned shall complete and submit Standard Form LLL. (Disclosure Form to
Report Lobbing, in accordance with its instructions, attached arid Identified as Standard E.xhibit £-1.)

3. The undersigned shall.require that the lar>9uage of this certification be included, in the award
document for sub-awards at all tiers (includir>g subcontracts, sub-grants, end contracts under grants..
loans, and cooperative agreements) and thai ol) sub-recip'ients shail certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction
was made or entered into. Submission ol Ihis.certillcalion is a.prerequlslte for making or entering into this
transaction imposed by Section 1352. Title"31. U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file ihe required
certification chat) be subject to a civil penally of nol lees than $10,000 and not more than SIOO.OOO for
each such failure. ^

Vendor Nome:

S/15/2020 L

Date . Name: Leigh Burgess
. TAle: Vice President, Office of Research Operations

ExNbli E - Cenirtciiion Resardlng LMdr>n9 vendor iNiliti
S/15/2020
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING OEBARMENT. SUSPENSION

AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

The Vendor identified In Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Executive OfTice of (he President. Executive Orde/'l2549 and 45 CFR Pah 76 regarding Oebarment,'
Suspension, and Other Respor>8ibility Matters, end further ogrees to have the Conirbctor's
rcprcscnialive. as identified in Sections 1.11 orxJ 1.12 of the General.Provislons execute the following • •
Certification:

fNSTRUCTlONS FOR CERTIFICATION

1. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract), the prospective prjmory participant Is providing (he
cenificaiion set out below.

•  ■ . ■ • /

2. The inability of a person to provide the certincalion reguired below will not necessarily result in denial
of participation In (his covered transaction. If necessary, the prospective participant shall submit an
explarvation of why il cannot provide the certification. The certificetion or explanation will be

' considered In connection wilh the NH Oeparlment of Health and Human Services' (OHMS)
determination whether to enter intp.ihis transaction. However, failure of (he prospective primary
participant to fumish'a certification or an explanation shall disqualify such person from participation in

, this transaction..

3. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed
when OHHS determined to enter into this transaction. If it is later determined that the prospective
primary participant knowingly rendered an erroneous certincation, in addition to other rerrtedies
available lo the Federal Governmerit, OHHS may terminate this transaction for cause or default.

A. The prospective primary participant shall provide immediate written notice to the OHHS agency to
whom this proposal (contract) is submitted if at any time.the pros^ctive primary participant learns
.lhat its certification was erroneous when subm'itled or has become erroneous by reason of char^ged
circumslences.

5. The terms 'covered transaction," "debarred," 'suspended.' 'ineligible,' "lower tier covered
iriansection,' 'participarii,* 'person,* "primary covered transaction.' 'principal,' "proposal,* and
'voluntarily excluded," as used in this clause, have the meanings sel out in (he Derinltions and
Coverage sections of the roles implementing Executive Order 12549: 45 CFR Part 76. See the
attached definitions.

6. The prospective primary participant agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that, should the •
proposed covered transaction be entered Into, it shall.not knowingly enter Into any lower tier covered
transaction wilh a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded
from participalion in this covered tronsaclion. unless authorized by OHHS.

7. The prospective primary participant further agrees by submitting (his proposal that it will Include the
clause titled 'Certification Regarding-Debarment, Suspension. Inetigrbllity and Voluntary Exclusion •
Lower Tier Covered Transeclions,* provided by OHHS, without modiricalion, in el) lower tier covered
transactions and in all soliciieticns for lower tier covered transactions.'

6. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upori a certification of a prospective participant in a
lower tier covered transaction lhat il is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or Involuntarily .excluded
fron) the covered transaction, unless II knows that the certification Is,erroneous. A participant may .-
decide the rr^clhod and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals. Each
participanl may, but Is not required to. check the Nonprocurement List (of excluded parties).

9. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records
In order to render in good faith (he certirrcation required by this clause. The knowledge and

E*ntoll F - CenlficeOOft Rfgafding Debflrmcnl, Suspcojion Vendor tnlllah
-And Other RetponttbDiryMBiieft c/ic/9n7n
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informalion of a partidpanl is not required to exceed that which is normally possessed' by a prudenl
person In (he ordinary course of business dealings.

10. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions, if a participant in a
. covered Irensecllon knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who Is
suspended, debarred, ineligible, or votunlarlly excluded from partldpatlon in this irensactioni in
kldition to other remedies available to the Federal government. DHHS may terminate this transaction
for ciause or default.

PRIMARY COVERED TfV^NSACTIONS ■

11. The prospective prirnery pan'iclpani certines to the best of its knowtodge ond belief, that It and Its
principals; -

'  11.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarmoni, declared Inoligibte, or
vbluntarity excluded from covef^ transactions by any Federal department or agency;

11.2. have not within a three-year period preceding this proposal (contract) been convicted of or had
a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offerise in
connection wilh obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal. Slate or locaO
transaction or a conlract ur>der a public transaction; violation of Federal or Slate antitrust
Statutes or corhmission of embeufemeni, (heft, forgery, bribery, (alsincalion or destruction of
records, making false statements, or rece'iving sloten property;

11.3.' are not presently indicted for othenvise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity
(Federal. Stale or local) wIlK commission of any. of (he offenses enunierated in paragraph (l)(b)
of this certincBlion; and

11.4. have not within a three-year period preceding this applicaiiorVproposal had one or more pubiic-
irensections (Federal. Slate or locot) terminated for cause or default.

12. Where the prospective primary participdnt is unable to certify to ony of ihe statements in this
certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to tills proposal (conlrecl).

LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS ,
13. By signing end submitting this lower tier proposal (contract), the prospective tower tier participant, as
.  defined in 43 CFR Part 76. certiries to the best of its knowledge and belief that it and its principals:

■  13.1. are.not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for-debarment. declared ineiigibls, or
voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by any federal departmeni or agency.

13.2. where the prospectivclower tier participant is unabio to certify to any of the above, such
prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (conlract).

14. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) (hat it wll)
include this clause entitled 'Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Inellgibilily, and '
Voluntary Exclusion • Lower Tier Covered Transactions,* without m(^ificalion in all lower tier covered
transactions and in eti solicitations fo.r lower tier covered transaclioris.

Vendor Name:

w-

S/15/2020 I  {jjjL L
Date Naiiiu: ceign Durgess

Title; Vice President, Olfice of Research Operations

Etfvblt F - Ctrtlftcalion Peeardlnp Dcbarmenl. Suspcmldn Vendor infUali >
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CERTIFICATION OP COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS PERTAINING TO

FEDERAL NONDISCRIMINATION. EQUAL TREATMENT OF FAITH^ASEO ORGANIZATIONS AND
WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTIONS

The Vendor identified in Scclion 1.3 ofii^ General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
re^esentalive as Identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to executie.the following
cenificallon:

Vendor will comply, and will'reQuire any subgrenlees or subcontractors ,lo comply, with any applicable
federal nondisciimlnation requirements, which may include;

• the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Aci of 19$6 (42 U.S.C. Sectipn.3789d) which prohibits
recipients of federal funding under this stotute from discriminating, either in employment practices or In
the delivery of services or benefits, on the basis ol race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act-
requires ceilain recipients to produce an Equal Employment Opportunity Plan;

• the JirvanQe Justice Delinquency Prevention Act ol 2002 (42 U.S.C. Seclion 5672(b)) which odopts by
reference, the civil'rights obligations of Iho Sbfe Streets Act. Recipients of federal funding under this
statute are prohibited from discriminating, either in employrrient practices or In the delivsry of services or
benefits; on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act includes*Equal-
Emptoymenr Opportunity Plan requirements:

• the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. Section 2000d, which prohibits recipients of federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of race, color, or national origin In any program or activity);

• the Rehabllitat'ton Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. Seclion 794), which prohibits recipients of Federal financial
assistarice from discriminating on the basis of disebiiity. in regard Jo employment and the delivery of
services or benefits, iri any program or acliviiy;

• the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sect'ions 12131-34), svhich prohibits'
discrimination and ensures equal cpponunlty for persons wilh disabilities in employment/State and local
government services, public accommodations, commercial facilities, and transporiolion;

• the Educellon'Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. Sections I6di. 1683,1665-86). which prohibits
discrimination on the basis of sex in federally ossisled educblion programs;

• the Age Discrimination Act ol 1975 (42 U.S.C. Sections 6106-07). which prohibits discrimination on the
basis of age in progre'ms or activities receiving Federal financial assistance. It-does not include
emptoymenl discrimination;

- 28 C.F.R. pt. 31 (U.S. Deparlmenl of JusUce Regulations - OJJOP Grant Programs); 20 C.F.R. pt. 42 .
(U.S. Oepartmenl of Justice Regulelions - Nondiscrimination; Equal Erriploymenl Opportunity; Policies
and Procedures); Executive Qrde'r No. 13279 (equal protection of the laws for faith-based and community
organizalions); Executive Order No. 13559. which provide fundamental.principles and policy-making
crileria for partnerships with failh-based and neighborhood organizations;

• 28 C.F.R. pt. 38 (U.S. Departn^nl of Justice Regulations - Equal Treatment for Faith-Based
Organizations); arid Whistieblower protections 41 U.S.C. §4712 and The Nationol Defense Authorization
Act (NDAA).for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub.'L. 112-239. enacted January 2. 20.13) the Pilot Program for
Enhancemenl of Contract Employee vyhisileblower Proleclions, which protects employees against
reprisal for certain whistle blo^ng activities in connaclion wilh federal grants and contracts.

The certi^cale sei out below Is b material representation of fact upon which'reliance is placed when the
agency awards the grant. False certincalion or wolation of the certification shall be grounds lor
suspension of payments, suspension or termination of grants, or government wide suspension or
dcbermenl.

vendof inltJel}
pwuMroM M»na'icVTtr<i9»\. TfuMra ef r4(Vv«4M« Or^ti4M
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In the event a Federal or Stale court or Federal or Sioie.admini'slrative agency makes a finding of
discrimination after a due process bearing on the grourxJs of race, color, religion, national origin, or sex
against a recipient of funds, the recipient will forward a copy of the finding to the Office for Civil Rig tits, to
the epplicable contrecting agency or division within the Department of Health ond Humpn Services, and
to the Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Ombudsman.

The VcrKlor identified In Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature ofthe Contractor's
representative as idenlified in Sections 1. it and 1.12 ofthe Gonerai Provisions."to execute the following
certincalion:

1. By signing end submitting this proposal (contract) Iho Vendor agrees to comply with the provisions
indicated above.

Vendor Name:

' 0^ti%K^94¥r-OH«MBW FT

5/15/2020 l
*e!yo»4$3lu#i»4..

Date • Nwi IB. Leign burgess
Title: vice President. Office of Research Operations

EmibiiG \ {tt
Vendor InlHsl),  • vciiwvi .

5/15/2020
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. CERTIFtCATION REGARDING ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACCO SfytOKE

Public Law 103*227. Part C • Environmental Tobacco Smoke, also known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994
(Act), requires that smoking not be permilted In any portion of any Indoor locilily owned or leased or
contracted for by an entliy and used routinely or regularly for ihe provision of health, day cere, education, '
or library services to children under the age of 18, if ihe services are funded by Federal progr^s either
directly or through Stale or local governments, by Federal gram, contracl. loan, or loan guarantee. The
law does not apply lo children's services provided In private residences, focililies furrded solely by
Medicare or Medicoid funds, and portions of facilities used for InpalienI dn^g or alcohol Irealment: Faifure
to comply with the provisions of the low moy result In the imposition of o C'vii monotory penally of up to
$1000 per day ond/or Ihe imposllloo of on administrative compliorvce order on the responsible entliy.

The Vendor Ideniiricd in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees, by signature ol the Contrector'e
rcpfescnlelive as IdenliHed in Section 1.11 8nd i.12 of the General Provisions, lo execute the foilowihg
ceriificalion:

1. By signing and submitting this coniracl. Ihe Vendor agrees lo make reasonable efforts to comply wlih
ell opplicaWe provisions of Public Law 103-227. Part C. known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994.

■ VerKlor Namo:_

VT-

5/15/2020 ■ [
flale Name: Leigh burgess

Title: Vice President. Office of Research Opcrolions

e*waiH-CcrtiriMliOftReiJB'0!no VcndorinhiBli Qlk
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HEALTH INSURANCE PORTABILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY ACT
BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEP^ENT

the Coniractof identified In Section 1.3"of the General Provisions of the Agreement agrees to
comply with the Health-Insurance Portability and Accountability Act. Public Law 104-191 and-
wlth the Standards for Privacy and Security of (ndiyldually identifiable Health Information, 45
CFR Paris 160 ahd-164 applicable to business associ^es. As defined herein,'Business
Associate' shall mean the Contractor and subcontractors and agents of the Contractor that

'  receive, use or have access to protected health information under this Agreement and 'Covered
.Entity" shall mean the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health endlHumen Services.

(1) Definitions.

a. 'Breach' shall have the same meaning as the term 'Breach* In section 164.402 of Tltie'45.
Code of Federal Regulations.

b.' 'Business Associate' has the meaning given such lerrn In secliori 160.103 of Title 45. Code
of Federal Regulations. .

j

c. 'Covered Entity* has .the meaning olven su^ term in section 160.103 of Tilie 45.
' Code of Federal Regulations. - '

d. 'Designated Record Set" shall have the same meaning as the term 'designated record set'
in 45 CFR Section 164.501.

e. 'Data Aooreaation" shall have the'same meaning as the term 'data aggregation" in 45 CFR
Section 164.501.

f. 'Health Care Operations" shall have the same meaning as the term 'health care operations"
in 45 CFR Section 164.501.

Q. "HITECH Acf means the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health
Act. TItleXIII. Subtitle 0. Part 1 & 2 of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of •
2009. ,

h. "HIPAA' means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, Public Law
104-191 and the Standards for Privacy and Security of Individually Identifiable Health

•  Informalion. 45 CFR Parts 160, 162 and 164 and amendments therelo.

i. 'Individual" shall have the same meaning as the term 'individual" In 45,CFR Section 160.103
and shall include a person who qualifies as a personal representative in accordance with 45
CFR Section 164.501(0).

j. "Pfivacv Rule' shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
tnformationat 45 CFR Parts 160 and 164, promulgaledunder HIPAA by the United States •
Department of Health'and Human Services.

k. 'Protected Health Information' shall have the same meaning as the term "protected health
information" In 45 CFR Section 160.103, limited to the Information created or received by
Business Associate from or on behalf of Covered Entity, p-

3/2014 E*hrwil Ccntfadot Inltlnli I
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I. -"Required bv Law' shall have the same meaning as the term "required by lav/ in 45 CFR
Section 164.103.

m. "Secreiarv" shall mean.thc Secretary.of the Department of Health and Human Services or
his/her designee.

n. 'Security Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Proiection of Electronic Protected
Health Information at 45 CFR Part 164. SuDpart C. end amendments thereto.

0. 'Unsecured Protected Health Information' means protected health information that Is not
secured by a technology standard thai renders protected health Information unusable,
unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorised individuals and is developed or endorsed by
a standards developirig organization that is accredited by the American National Standards
Institute.

p. Other Definitions - All terms not otherwise defirted herein shall have the meahing
established under 45 C.F.R. Parts 160.162 and 164. as amended from time to time', and the
HITECH

Act. ■ .

^2) Business Associate Use and Disclosure of Protected Health Information.

a. • Business Associate shall not use. disclose, maintain or transmit Protected Health
Information (PHI) except as reasonably necessary to provide the services outlined under"
Exhibit A of the Agreement.. Further. Business Associate, including but nol limited to all,
its directors, officers, employees and agents, shall not use. disclose, iriaintain or transmit
PHI in any manner that would constitute a violation of Ihe Privacy and Security Rule.'-

b. Business Associate may use or disclose PHI;
I. ■ For Ihe proper management and adminislfallon of the Business Associate; ;
II. • • As required by law. pursuant to thejerms set forth In paragraph d. below; or
III. .For data aggregation purposes for the health care operations of Covered

Entity.

c. • To the extent Business Associate is permitted under the Agreement lo disciose PHI to a
third party. Business Associate must obtain, prior to making any such disclosure, (i)
reasonable assurances from the third party lhat such PHI will be held confidentially and
used or further disclosed only as required by law or for the purpose for w.hich it was
disclosed to the third party; ahd (ii) an agreement from such third party lo notify Business
Associate, in accordance with the HIPAA Privacy, Security, and Breach Notification
Rules of any breaches of the confidentiality of the PHI. lo the extent it has obtained -
knowledge of such-breach.

d. The Business Associate shall not. unless such disclosure is reasonably necessary lo
provide services under Exhibit A of the Agreement, disclose any PHI in response to a
request for disclosure on the basis that It is required by law. vyiihout first notifying

• Covered Entity so that Covered Entity has an opportunity lo object to.Ihe disclosure and
to seek appropriate relief. If Covered Entity objects to such disclosure, the Business

ExhWil ' Cpnl/eciof Initial) __
Health Inwiftce PortaWlty ACI
Buslnets Asiodata^reemenl S/lS/2020
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Associate shall refrain from disclosing (he PHI urtlil Covered Entity has exhausted all
remedies.

e. If the Covered Entity notifies the Business Associate that Covered Entity has agreed to
be bound by additional restrictions over and above those uses or disclosures or security
safeguards of PHI pursuant to the Privacy and Security Rule, the Business Associate
shall be bound by such,additional restrictions and shall not disclose PHI in violation of .
such additional.restrictions and shall abide by any additional security.safeguards.

(3) Obligations and Activities of Business Associate.

a. The Business Associate shall notify the Covered Entity's Privacy Officer immediately
'  after the Business Associate becomes aware of any use or disclosure of protected

health information not provided for by the Agreement including breaches of unsecured
protected health information and/or any security incident that may have an impact on the
protected health information of the Covered Entity.

b. Tf^e Business Associate shall immediately perform a risk assessment whbn it becomes
aware of any of the above situations. The risk assessment shall include, but not be'
limited to:

o The nature and extent of the protected health information involved, including the
. types of identifiers and the likelihood of re-idenlification;

. 0 The unauthorized person used the protected health information or to whom thC''

.disclosure was-made; ' .
0  • Wh'elher the protected health information was actually acquired or viewed'
0 The extent to which the risk to the protected health iriformation has been

mitigated.
.  /

The Business Associate shall complete the risk assessment within five (5)
business days oMhe breach and immediately report the findings of the'risk
assessment in writing to the Covered Entity.

c. The Business Associate shall comply with'all sections of (he Privacy. Security, and
Breach Notification Rule.

d. Business Associate shall make available all of its.internal policies and procedures, books
bnd records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI received from, or created or
received by (he Business Associate on behalf of Covered Entity to (he Secretary for
purposes of determining Covered Entity's compliance with HIPAA and the-Privacy and
Security Rule.

e. Business Associate shall require all of Its business associates thai receive, use or have
access to PHI under the Agreement, to agree in writing to adhere to the same

'  restrictions and conditions on the use and disclosure of PHI contained herein, includirig
the duty, to return or destroy (he PHI as provided under Section 3 (I). The Covered Entity
shall be considered a direct third party beneficiary of the Contractor's business associate
agreements with Contractor's intended business associates, who will be receiving PHI

3/2014 ExhiOliI Coovooof bSltloli , ,
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55^

pursuant to this Agreement, with rights of enforcement and indemnification from such-
business associates who shati be governed by standard Paragraph #13 of the standard
contract provisions (P-37) of this Agreement for the purpose of use and disclosure of
protected health information.

f. Within five (5) business days of receipt of,a written request from Covered Entity.
Business Associate shall make available during.normal business hours at its dffices ail'
records, books, agreements, policies and procedures relating to the use and disclosure
of Pt-il to the Covered Entity, for purposes of enabling Covered Entity to deterrnine
Business Associate's compliance with the terms of the Agreement.

g." .Wlhin ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity.
Business Associate shall provide access to PHI in a Oesignated Record Set to the
Covered Entity, or ps directed by Covered Entity, to an individual in order to meet the
requirements under 45 CFR Section 164.524.

h. ' Wthin ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered En(ity for an
amendment of PHI or a record aboul an individual contained in a Designated Record Set,
the Business Associate shall make-such PHI available to Covered Entity for amendment
and Incorporate any such arnendment to enatile Covered Entity to fulfill its obligations
under 45 CFR Section 164.526.

I. Business Associate shali document such disclosures of PHI and information related to'
such disclosures as would be required for Covered Entity to respond to .a request by an '
individual for an accounting of disclosures of PHI in accordance with 45 CF.R Section

■ 164.528. ^

j. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a wfitten request from Covered Entity for a
■ request for an accounting of disclosures of PHI,* Business Associate shall make available
. to Covered Entity such information as'Covered Entity may require to fulfill its obligations
to provide an accounting of disclosuf.es with respect to PHI.in accordance with 45 CFR
Section 164.528.'

k. In the event any individual requests access to, amendment of, or accounting of PHI'
directly from the Business Associate, the Business Associate shall within five (5)
business days forward such request to Covered Entity. Covered Eniily shall.have the
responsibility of responding to forwarded requests. However, if forwarding the '
individual's request to Covered Entity would cause Covered Entity or the Business
Associate to violate HIPAA and the Privacy and Security Rule, the Business Associate
shall instead respond to the individual's request as required by such law and notify
Covered Entity of such response as soon as practicable.

I. ■ Within ten (10) business days of termination of the Agreement, for any reason, the
Business Associate shall return or destroy, as specified by Covered Entity, all PHI
received from, or created or received by the Business-Associate In connection with the
Agreerneni. and shall not retain any copies or back-up tapes of such PHI. If return or
destruction is not feasible, or the disposilion of the PHI has been otherwise agreed to in
the Agreement. Business Associate shall continue, to extend the protections of the
Agreement, to such PHI and limit further uses and disclosures of such PHI to those
purposes that make the return or destruction infeasible. for so long as Business

ExhWl l ConlJBCtwIftJllxh
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Associate maintains such PHI. If Covered Entity, in lls sole discreiion, requires thai the
Business Associale destroy any or all PHI, (he Business Associate shall certify to
Covered Entity that the PHI has been destroyed.

.(4) Obligations of Covered Entity

.a- Covered Entity shall notify Business Associale of arty changes or lirnitaiion(s) in'lis
Notice, of Privacy Practices provided to individuals irt accordance with 45 CPR Section
164.520. to the exient that such change or limitation may affect Business Associate's
use or disclosure of PHI.

b. Covered Entity shall promptly notify Business Associale of any changes in. or revocation
of-permission prov'Kfed to Covered Entity by individuals whose PHI may be used or
disclosed by Business Associate under this Agreement, pursuant to 45 CFR Section

• 164.506 or 45,CFRSeclion 164.508. "

c. Covered entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any restrictions on the use or
disclosure of PHI lhal Covered Entity has agreed to in accordarSce with 45 CFR 164.522.
to the extent that such restriction may affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of
PHL • • •

(5) Tefminatlon for Cause

-  In addition to.Paragraph 10 of the standard lerms and conditions (P-37) of this
•  Agreement (he Covered Entity may immediately terminate the Agreement updn Covered

. Entity's knowfedge of a breach by Business Associale of the Business Associale
'Agreement set forth herein as Exhibit I. The Covered Entity may either Immediately
lerrriinate the Agreement or provide an opportunity for Business Associale to cure the
alleged breach within a timeframe specified by Covered Entity. If Covered Entity
determines that neither termination nor cure is feasible, Covered Entity shall report the '
violation to the Secretary. '

(6) ■ l^lscellaneous . . '

a. • Deftnilions and Reoulalorv References-. All lerms used, but not otherwise defined herein.
shall have-the same meaning as those terrtis in the Privacy.and Security Rule, amended
frorri time to time. A reference in the Agreement, as amended to Include this Exhibit I. to

■  a Section In the Privacy and Security Rule means the Section as in effect or as
I  amended.

b. Amendment. Covered Entity and Business Associate agree to lake such action as is
necessary to amend the Agreement, from lime to time as is necessary for Covered
Entity to comply with the changes In the requirements of HIPAA. the Privacy and
Security Rule, and applicable federal and slate law.

c. • Data Ownership. The Business Associate acknowledges that it has no ownership rights
with respect to the PHI.provided by or created on behalf of Covered Entity.

d. Inteforetailon. The parties agree that any ambiguity in the Agreement shall be resolved
to permit Covered Entity to comply with HIPAA. the Privacy and Security Rule.

3/2014 EjtfXbill Conuxtfot inlilUa 1
HeaUMnsufcriM PoftabHHy Ac)
BuilnessAt^aioAereafneni S/lS/2020

Paj# 5 of 6 Date ■



DocuSign Envelope ID: E81614D6-5766-4332-B2CE-36A5A1A99A3E

DocuSign Envelope ID: 77F7E361-DF5B-4C1C-A943-F0E956E85636

DocuSlgn Envelope 10:5A907Fl9-FBEd-<SF4-B47S-l4909COD2A88

000)5^ Envefepe 10:06210 tA9-e79F43C8-«ASB^lE7F7SDiid

Now Hompshiro Oeportment of HeeUh ond Humtn Sorvlcoe

Enhlbli I

Sedfoofttion. If dny term or condition of this Exhibit I or the applicalion.therMf to any
pef8on(s) Of circumstance is held invalid, such Invalidily shall noVeffect other terms or
conditions which can be given effect wiiboul the Invalid term or condition; to this end the
terms and conditions of this Exhibit I are declared severable.

Survival. Provisions in this Exhibit 1 regarding (ho use and disctosurd of PHI. return or
destruction of PH I. extensions of the protections of the Agreement in section (3) I. the.
defense end Indemnirication provisions of section (3) e end Paragraph 13 of the
standard terms end conditions (P-37). shot) survive the .termination of the Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto heve duly executed this Exhibit I.

Oeportment of Hesith end Hu'msn Services Mary Hitchcock MBmoiial Hospitat

The State • Name of (he Contractor

i/L I. PuT'/ji.

Sighetdfk'of Authorized Representative Signature of Authorized Representative

Leigh Burgess

Name oT Authorized RepreseRepresentative

Jim : (yyu.
Title of Authorized Representative

.  • ;
Date

Name of Authorized Repreisenielive.

Vice President. Office of Research Operations

Title of Authorized Represenlalive

5/15/2020

Date

a/2014 EvhiMI

Ketlih PwltbCliy Act
Buiineii AstMlilo Ao«o(neni

P«9e0o(S

Con(/sclO( Initliii
[I^

one
S/15/2020
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CERTIFtCATION REGARDING THE FEDERiM FUNDING ACCOUNTASILffY AND TRANSPARENCY
ACT (FFATAi COMPUANCE

The Federel Funding Accounlebility end Transparency Act (FFATA) requires piime ewardees of Individual
Federal grants equal to or greater than $25,000 and awarded on or after October 1,2010, to report on
daia related to executive compensation end associated Arst-tier sub-grants of $25,000 or more. If the
Initial award is below $25,000 but subsequent grant n^odirications result in a total award equal to or over
$25,000. the award is subject to the FFATA ropoding requirerrienls. as of the dale of the award.
In accordance with 2 CFR Perl 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), the
Oepartmeni of Heallh and Human Services (OHHS) must report the following information for any
subaward or contract award subject to the FFATA reporting requirements:
1; Nemo of entity
2. Amount of award

3. Funding agency.
4. NAICS code for conlracls/CFDA program number for grants
5. Program source
6. Award title descriplfva of the purpose of the funding ectioh
7. Location of the entity
6. Phnclpla place of performance
9. Unique identifter of the entity (OUNSP)
to. Total compensation'and names of the lop five executives if:

10.1. More than 60% of annual gross revenues era from the Federal govemmenL end those
revenues are greater than $25M annually and

-10.2. Compensatjon information is not already available through reporting to the SEC.

Prime grant recipients must submit F^ATA required data by the end of the month, plus 30 days, in which •
the award or award amendment is made.

The Contractor Identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees'to comply with the provisions of
The Federal Funding Acwuntabllity and Transparency Act, Public Low 109-262 and Public Low 1 iP-252.
arid 2 CFR Pert 170 (Reporting Subaward end Executive Compensation Information), and further agrees
to have the Contractor's represenlstive, as-Identified In Sections 1.11 and i.l2 'of the General Provisions
execute the following Certircation;
The below named Contractor agree; to provide needed information as outlined above to the NH
Department of Health end Human Services and to comply with all applicable provisions of the Federal
Financial Accouniabiiity and Transparericy Act.

Cdnlraclor Nemo:

5/15/2020
1.

Date NarneiTejg^rt ourgess
Tilla: Vice President, Office of Research Operations

Eidibti J - CoidfluVon Regordtng the Feds's) Fundiftg ContfMior Intilob
(i-

Accounleb'iSly And Trenipaipncy Act (FFATA) ConipS»nc« 5/15/2020
OMWKimoMi PPQ»lof2 Da>a
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FORMA

As (he Cont'rdctor identified In Section 1.3 of the Genera) Provisions. I certify that the responses to the
below listed questions arc tnie end accureie.

1. The DUNS number for vour entity Isl 06-991 >0297

2. In your business ororgsniaetion's preceding completed fiscal year, did your business ororganizelion
receive (1) 60 perceni or more of your annual gross revenue in U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts,
loans, grants, sub-grants, and/or cooperative agreements; and (2) 325.000,000 or more Irt annual
gross revenues from U.S. federal conirecis. subcontracts, loan's, grants, subgrants. and/or
cooperative agreements?

NO • YES

If the answer to 02 above is NO. slop here.

' if the answer to fi[2 above is YES. please answer the following;

3. Does the public have access to information about the compensation of the executives in your
business or organization through periodic reports fJed under section 13(a) or 15{d> of the Securities
Exchange Act of 19M (15 U.S.C.78m(a). 76b(d)) or 5ecliof> 6104 of (he Internal Revenue Code of
1986?

NO YES

If the answer to 03 above is YES. slop here

If (he .ariswer to 03 above is NO. please answer the (oflowing;

4. The names and compensation of tpe five most highly compensated officers In your business or
organization are as follosvs:

Narne:-

Name:

Name;

Nome:

Name:

Amouni:

Amount:

Amouni:

Aniount:

Amount;

cuio»*<yiion>

Exhibll J - CenifiCSllOA RcpsrClne Ihe Fedarsi Funding .
Accounlsbllity And Trantparancy Ad (FFATA) Compdsncd
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A. Definitions

The following terms may be reflected and have the described meaning in this document:

1. . "Breach" means the loss of conlrol, compromise, unouthorized disclosure,
unauthorized ncqulsirion, unauthorized access, or any similor term referring to.
siiuaitons where persons other ihan authorized users and for on other than authorized ;
purpose have access or potential actess to personally identifiable inforniniion.
whether physical or electronic. With regard to Protected Health Information,
"Breach" shall have the same meaning ns the term "Breach" in section 164.402 of

Title 45, Code of FcdcrorRcgulfliions.

2. "Compulcr Security Incident" shall have the some meaning "Computer Security
Incident" in section two (2) of NIST Publication 800-61, Computer Security Incident
Handling Guide, National Institute of Standards and Technology, U.S. Deponmcnt
of .Commerce.

3. "Confidential Information," "Confidcnlial Daia," or "Data" (as defined in E.xhibit K),
means all confidential inl'onnaiion disclosed by one party to the other such os all
medical, health, financial, public ossistonce benefits and personal information
including without limitation. Substance Abuse Trcatmcht Records, Casb Records,

•  Protected Health Information ond Personally Identifiable Information.

Confidemiai Informotion also includes any ond all inrbrmaiion owned or managed by
.  the State of NH - created, fcccivcd from or on bchalfofihc Dcpanmcni of Hcolih and

• Human Stn'ices (DHHS) or occesscd in the course of performing contracted services
• of which colleclion, disclosure, protection, and disposition is governed by state or
fcdcrol law or regulation. This informaiion Includes, but is not limited to Protected
Health Information (PHI). Personal Information (H), Personal 1-inoncial Information
(Pf I), Kederal Ta.\ Information (FT(), Social Security Numbers (SSN), Pnymcni Card
Industry (PC.I), find or other sensitive and confidential infonViarion. "

4. "End User'' means any person or entity (e.g., cpnirocior's employee, business
associate, subcontro.cior, other downstream user, etc.) "that receives DH.HS data or
dcrivoiivc data in accordance with the terms of this Contract.

5. "HIPAA" mcons the Health Insurance Ponabiliiy and Accountability Act ofl996 and
the rcgul.arions promulgated thereunder.

♦  *

6. "Incident" means an act' (hat potenrially violates a security policy, which includes
siicccssrul attempts) to gain unauthorized access to a system or its data, unwanted
disruption or denial ofservice, the unauthorized use ofa system for the processing or

Oclobcr.ZOie DtfilDtlK Coniroaof wualj
OHMSlnJormnion -

Secodty ftoqJrcmcnij. S/15/2D20
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siorogc of data; and changes lo sy$ten> hardware, nrmworc, or software
characieristics without the owner's knowledge, insifuciion, or consent. Incidents
include the loss of data ihrough.lheft or device inisplQcemenl, loss or ntisplacenieni of
hardcopy documents, and misrbuiing ofphysical or electronic documents or moil.

7. • "Open Wireless Network" means nny neiwork of segmcm ofa network thai is
nol designated by the State.of New Hampshire's Ocpartmeni of Inrormaiion

.  Tcchnolog\'or delegate as 0 proiecfed network (designed, tested, and approved,
by means of the State, to transmit] will be considered an open rtetwork and not
adcqiiaicly secure for the imnsmission of unencrypted PI, PFI, PHI or
conHdeniial DHHS data.

8. '•Personal Information" (or "PI"') means information which con be used to distinguish
or trace'on individual's identity, such as their name, social security number, pcrsonnl •
information as defined in New Hampshire RSA 359-C:l9, biornc-tric records, .etc.,
alone, or when combined wiih olher pcrsonnl or identifying information which is •
linked or linkable to a specific individual, such as date and place ofbirth, mother's
maiden name, cic.

. 9. "Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy orindividually Idcntinabic
Health Information.at 45 C.f.R. Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the
United States Dcpailmcni of Health nnd Human Services.

10. "Prolccicd Health Information" (or "PHI") has the same meaning as provided in the
•  dcfrnilion ofProiccied Health Information" in ihc HIPAA Privacy Rule at 45 C.F.R.
§ 160.103..

11. "Security Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protcctionof Electronic
Protected Hcalili Infonnalion at 45 C.P.R. Part 164, Subpart C, and amendments
thereto.

*  r ' '

12. "Unsecured Protccrcd Health InCormation" means Protected Health Information that is

hot secured by a technology standard that renders Prpicctcd Health Information
unusable, unreadable, or indeciphcrobic to unauthorized individuals nnd is developed
or endorsed by-a standards developing organization that is accredited by the American

- National Standards Institute.

I. RESPONSIBILITIES OF.DHHSANDTME CONTRACTOR

A. Business Use and Disclosure of Confidential Information.

.  I. The Contractor must not usc; disclose, maintain or transmit Conftdential Informalion '

Octaber. 2016 ExNWlK Corv/acjaf mntati
OHMS InfonnBUbA
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except 8$ required or pcnnlricd under ihis Cbniraci or required by low. Further,
Contractor, includinfi but not limiied to all its direciors, ofTiccrs, employees and
aecnis. must not use, disclose, maintain or iransmli PHI in any manner thai would •
constitute a violation of the Privncyond Security Rule.

2. The ConlrBCtor n>usi not disclose any Confidential Information in response to a
request for disclosure on the bnsis thoi it is required by 'luNv, ii> response tp n subpoena,
etc., without First notifying OHHS so that DHHS has an opportunity to consent or
object to the disclosure.

3. The Conirneior agrees that DHHS Data or dcriy.aiive there from disclosed to an End
.User must'only be used pursuani lo the- terms of this Contract.

ir. METHODS OF SECURE TRANSMISSION OF DATA

•1. Application Encryption. If ConirnCior is. n'onsinliiing OHHS Data containing
Confidcnlicl balB between applicotions.'lhc Contrac.lpr attests the applications hax'C
been evaluated by-an cxpcit Itnowledgeablc" In cyber security and that said

•  application's crKrj'pllcn capabilities cnsuic secure transmission via the iniernet.

2. Computer Disks and Portable Storage Devices. Contractor may not use computer disks or,
portable storage devices, such as a liiumb drive, as o-mcihod of transmii'ting DHHS Doib.

3. Encrj'pied Email. Contractor may only employ email to ti onsmit Conndenlial Data if
email is encrypted and being sent to and being received by email addresses of persons
authorized to receive such information.

4. Encr)'ptcd.Web Site. If Contractor is employing the Web to transmit Confidential
Data, the secure socket layers (SSL) miisi be used and the web site must be secure.
SSL cncrypti data tionsinittcd via a Web site.

5. File Hosting.Services, also known as File Sharing Sites. Contractor may not use File
hosting services, such as Dropbox or Google Cloud Storage, to transmit Ccnridcnlial
Dam.

6. Ground Mail Service. Contractor may only transmit Confidential Data via certified
ground mail within the continental U.S. and when sent to a named individual.

7. Laptops and PDA. If Contractor is employing portable devices to transmit
Confidential Data said devices must be encrypted and password-protected.

8. Open Wireless Neisvorks. Contractor may not transmit Confidential Data via on open
wireless network."End User must employ a virtual private network (.VPN) when

. remotely transmitting via an open wireless network.

9. Remove User Communication. IfContracior is employing remote commvinicaiion to

Oooetf 2018 exhiWiK ComriclOf lnia«b
OHHS Inlotmalton
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access or iransmii Conndcniiol Daia, a secure method of rrnnsinission op remote
occcss; vvhich complies with the terms and conditions of Exhibit .K, must be used.

10. SSH File Transfer Protocol (SFTP). also known ns Secure Flic Tmnsfcr Proiocol.' If
Gonirflcior is employing en SFTP to transmit Coiindcntial Data. End User will

■ structure the Folder and access privileges to prevent inappropriate disclosure of
infornioiion. SFTP folders and sub-foldcrs used for ironsmiuing Confideniiol Data will
be coded for 24.hour auio-dclction cycle (i.e. Conrtdcniial Data will be deleted every 24
hours).

1 1. Wireless Devices. If Contractor is transmitting Confidential Data via wireless devices, all
data must be encrypted to prevent inappropriate disclosure of informaiion.

]n. RETENTION aND DISPOSITION OF IDENTIFIABLE RECORDS

The Contractor will only retain DHHS Data and any derivative of the data for the duration of-
this Contract. Allcr such time, tht Contractor will have thirty (30) days to. destroy the data
and any derivative, in whatever form it may c.xist. unless, otherwise required by. low or. if it is
infcasiblc to return or destroy DHHS Oaia, protections arc extended to such information, in
accordance with the (cnninalion provisions in this Section, fo this end, the parties ntust:

A. Retention

1. The Conlrocior agrees it will not Store, transfer or process data collected in
cortncciion with the service's rendered under this Coniroci outside of the United
Stoics. This physical location rcquircmcUi shall also apply in the .implementation of
cloud computing, cloud service or cloud storage capabilities, ond includes backup
data and Disaster Recovery locations.

2. The Contrncio'r agrees to ensure proper security monitoring copabililics arc In place
to detect polctuini security events that can impact State of NH systems ond/or
Department confidential inlormoiion for conlrocior provided systems occessed or
utilised for purposes of carrying out this contrnct.

3. fhc Conirociof agrecs.to provide security aworcncss ond education for its End Users
•  in support ofproiecting DHHS Confidential information.

4. The Contractor ogrecs to retain oil clccironic and hard copies of Confidciitinl Data •
in a secure location and idcniiOcd In section IV. A.2

"5. The Contractor agrees Confidential Data stored in a Cloud rimst be in a
FcdRAMP/MITECl l compliant solution and comply with all applicable statutes ond
regulations regarding (he privacy and security. Al) servers and devices must hove
currcnily-supponcd and hordcncd operating systems, ciin ent, updated, and

Octot>cr.?Oie ExfttollK Conifi>ctOfWi-Ql> .(
DHHS inlormatlon
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maintained anli-malware (e.g. Dhti-viral, anti-liackcr, onii«spain, anii-spj'xvsrc)
uiiliiies. Tlie environment, as a'whole, must hove aggressive imrusioo'dcicction and
nrc\vfl|l protection.

6. The (^ontracior pgrces to and ensures its complcie cooperation with ihc Stoic's
Chicrinformalion Officer in the detection of any security vulnerability of ll>e
hosting infraslruclurc.

B. Disposition

If the Contractor maintains any Confidcnliat Information on its systems (or Its sub-'
■ contractor systems) and it has not done so previously, the Coniracior will iinplcmcni
policies and procedures to ensure that any storage media on which such data maybe
recorded will be rendered unreadable and that the dam will be iin-rccovernblc when
the storage media is disposed of. Upon request, ihc Contractor will provide the
Department with copies of these policies and with written docunHcntation
demonstrating compliance wiih the policies. .The written documentation will include .
all details necessary to demonstrate data contained in the storage .media has been
rendered unreadable and-un-rccovcrable. Where applicable, regulatory and
professional standards for retention requirements may be jointly evaluated by the
State nnd Contrncicr prior to destruction.

1. Unless otherwise specified, within llurly (30) days of (he icnninatibn of this
Contract, Contractor agrees to destroy all hard copies of Confidential Data using a / ....
secure method such as shredding.-

2. Unless otherwise specified, within thirt)- (30) days of the icrminailon of this
. Contract, Goniracior agrees toconiplciely destroy all electronic Conndcntial Data
by means ofdaia erasure, also known as secure data wiping."

IV. PROCEDURES FOR SECURITY

A. Contractor agrees to safeguard the OHMS Data received under this Contract, nnd any
derivative data or files, as foilows:

I-. The Conlrnctor will maintain proper security controls lb protect Department
confidential iiirormotion collected, processed, managed, and/or stored in the delivery
of conlracicd services:,

2. The Contractor will maintain policies and procedurcs.to protect Department
confidential information throughout the inrormaiion lifccyclc, where appjicablc, (from
creation, transronnaiion, use, storage and secure destruction) regardless of the media

October. 201B Exhlbil K Conlroclor InMsIs.
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used to store the data (i.e.. tape. disk, paper, etc.).

3. The Contractor will malniDin appropriate auihcnlicnlion and access controls (o
comroctor systems that coilcci, transmii, or store Deporimcni conndeniial InfonMDlion
>v4icrc npplicoblc.

A. ir the Coniracior will be sub-conlrociing any .core functions of the engagement
supporting-the services for Stale of New Hampshire, the Comroctor will ensure End-
User will moihtoin an internal process or processes that defines specific security

• expectations, and monitoring compliance to security requirements that al a tnirtimiim
• match ihosc for the Controctor, including broach noilflcatioii requirements.

5. • The Contractor will work with the Department to sign and comply with ull opplicnbic
State of New Hampshire and Department sysient access and oulhorlzaiion policies and
procedures, systems access forms, and computer use agreements as part of obtaining
and maintaining access to any Department $ysicm(s). Agreements will be corhpleicd
and signed by the Contractor and any Applicable sub-contractors prior lo.sysiem access
bi'ing aulhori^cd.

6.- If the Department determines the Contractor is a Business Associate pursuant lo 45
CPR 160.103, the Contractor will cxcculco HIPAA Business Associate Agreement

• (BAA) with the Dcportmcnl and is responsible for moinroining compliance with the
agreement.

7. The Contractor will not store any Stoic of New Hampshire or Department data
offshore or outside the boundaries of the United Slates unless prior express written

• consent is obtained from the Information Security Office leadership member within
, the Department.

8. Data Security Breach LiDbilily.,ln•|)^c cVcnl ofnny contpuicr security incid^it,
incident, or breach Coniracior sKall make efforts to Investigate the causes oFthc
breach, promptly take measures to prevent future breach and minimize any damage or
loss resulting from the breach. The State shall recover from the Contractor all costs of
response and recovery from the breach, including but not limited to: credit monitoring
services, moiling costs and costs associaied with website and telephone call center
services necessary due to the breach.,

9. Contractor must, comply with all applicable siniulcs mid regulations regarding the •
privacy and security of Confidcniial Inrprmailon, and must in nil other respects
maintain the privacy and security of PI and PHI at a level and scope that is not less
than the level and scope of, HIPAA Privacy and Security Rules (45 C.F.R. Parts 160
and 164) and 42 C.F.R. Pnrt 2 that govern protections for individually tdcnlifiablc
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hcAlih Inronnotion nnd os opplicabic undcr Stmc.law.

10. Coniracior agrees to establish and maintain appropriate administrative, technical, and
physical safeguards to protcci ihc conndcntialiiy of the Confidcmiol Oaia and to
prevent unouthoriacd use or access to it. The safeguards must provide a level and
scope of security that is.noi less than the level and scope of security requirements
established by the State of New Hampshire, Department of Information technology.

•  Refer to Vendor Resourccs/Procurcmeni ai hitps://vv\v\v.nh.gov/dDit/vendor/indcx.hini'
for thc Dcpanmem of Information Technology policies, guidelines, standards, and
procuremcnr information relating to vendors.

11. Contractor agrees to ihaintain a dcciimcnicd breach notification and incident response
process.>Thc Cohtractor musnioiify the OHMS Security Office nnd the Program
Contact via the email addresses provided in Section Vl of this Exhibii, immediately
•upon the Contractor determining that a breach or security incident has occurred end
that DHHS confidential Informaiion/daia may have bccn-cxposed or compromised.
This includ«;s a confidential information breach, computer security incident, or •
suspected breach wliich alTccls or includes any Stare ofNcw Hainpsltirc systems (hot
connect to the State of New Hampshire network.

12. Contractor must restrict access to the Ccnfideoiinl Oala obtained under this
Contract to only those auihori7.cd End Users who need such DHHS Data to perform
their ofnciai-dulics in conncclion with purposes identified in ihis Controci.

13. The Contractor is responsible for End User oversight nnd compliance with the
terms and conditions of the conlract and Exhibit K,.

DHHS reserves ihe right to'conduct onsitc inspections lo.mohitor compliance with this
Conlrncl, including the privacy and security requirements pipvidcd in herein, HIPAA,
and other applicable laws and federal regulations until such time Ihc Confidential Daiii
is disposed of in accordance with this Contract.

V. LOSS REPORTINC

The Contractor must immediately notify Ihc.State's Privacy Officer. Informaiioh
Security Office and Program Manager of any Security Incidents and Dreochcs as .
specified in Section IV, paragraph 1 1 above.

The Coniracior must further handle and report Incidents and Breaches involving PHI in
accordance with DHHS's documented Incident Handling nnd Breach Nolificoiion
procedures nnd in accordance with-the HIPAA, Privacy and Security Rules. In addition •

Oclobtr.2018 exWbllK Conirgtief WUili __J f b
OHHS inlofmaiioo

Rwjilrcmcftli S/15/2020
P*Se 7 ol 8 Oslo



OocuSign Envelope ID; E81614D6-5766-4332-B2CE-36A5A1A99A3E

DocuSign Envelope 10; 77F7E361-OrSMClC-A943-F0E956E85636

OocuSign Envelope ID; SA907F19-F6EO-4SF4'&47&-14909COD2AS<

OocuSign Envelope 10; O82l0iA9476F.43C»eA90^iE7F7SOii6

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

DHHS Security Requirements

Exhibit K

(0, ond notwiihsuindiog, Contractor's compliance with oil oppllcable obligations ond
procedures, Conirsc.ior's procedures must also address how the Contractor will;

1. Ideniir)'Incidents;

2. Oclcnnlne if pcrsonnll)' idcniinabic inromiaiion is involved in Incidents;

3. Report suspected or confirmed Incidents as required in (his Exhibit or (^*37;

4. Identify ond convene a core response group to determine the risk level oflncidenis
ond determine risk-based responses to Incidents; and

S.. Determine whether Broach notificaiion is required, ond, if so, identify Appropriate
Breach noiifiCailon intihods, timing, soiirce, and contents from among difTereiil
options, and bear costs associated with the Breach npiicc as well as any mitigation
measures.

Incidents and/or Breaches that Implicate PI must be addressed and reporied, as
Qpplicflbic, in pccordanfec with NM RSA 359-C:20.

VI. PERSONS TO CONTACT

•  A. DHHS contact for Oato Management or Data Exchange issues:

OHHSlnfonnal ionSccurilyOfrice@dhhs.nh.gov .

B. OHHS coniacis for Privacy issues:

DHH$PrivacyOiriccr@dhhs.nh.gov

C. DHHS contact for Information Security issues:

DMM$lnformniion$ccurilyOfncc@dhhs.nh.gov

D. DHHS contact for Breach noiificaiions:

DHHSlnforn)nllonSccuriiyOlTicc@dhhs.nh.gov

DHHSPrivncvOfncer@dhhs.nh.QOv

£. DHHS Progrnm Area Contact:

Chrisrinc.Bcnn@dhhs.nh.gov
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